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          1  COMMITTEE ON ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

          2                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Good afternoon.

          3  I am Jim Gennaro, Chair of the Council's Committee

          4  on Environmental Protection. To my right is the

          5  Counsel to the Committee, Donna DeCostanzo, and

          6  we're here to talk about energy. I would like to

          7  recognize the presence of some of my former

          8  colleagues here at the Council now with Con Ed, John

          9  Banks, and Michael Lendenan. Thanks for the help

         10  last week. We had a little situation going on in my

         11  neighborhood, and they helped me out greatly on it.

         12                 Today we're going to hear testimony

         13  regarding whether New York City's energy supply will

         14  be sufficient to meet demand and how conservation

         15  measures can help.

         16                 In addition, we'll hear testimony on

         17  article 10 of the New York State Public Service Law.

         18  Although there's no one here from New York State to

         19  give testimony on that, and that certainly is an

         20  interesting development and one that I'm sure my

         21  colleague Council Member Vallone is going to have

         22  something to say about, and I welcome his comments

         23  on that.

         24                 And we're going to hear Intro. 158, a

         25  bill that amends the New York City Charter by
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          2  setting up an energy office within the Department of

          3  Environmental Protection.

          4                 Article 10 of the New York State

          5  Public Service Law sets up the review process for

          6  proposed electric power plants in New York State of

          7  80 megawatts capacity or more, and of the expansion

          8  of current electric generating facilities.

          9                 As such, this law is critically

         10  related to electricity capacity and the supply that

         11  is available for the City.

         12                 Since the law was scheduled to expire

         13  on January 1st, 2003, the State Legislature is

         14  currently in the process of determining the fate of

         15  this law, whether it will be amended, remain in its

         16  current form or it will be replaced with another

         17  process of review.

         18                 The issue of energy supply is a

         19  critical one for the residents of New York City. We

         20  rely on energy and countless waste throughout our

         21  day, from transporting us to work on the City

         22  subways, to keeping us comfortable in hot weather.

         23                 Just Last August, record temperatures

         24  resulted in an incredible stress in the City's

         25  energy supply, which called to mind a crisis that
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          2  resulted in rolling blackouts earlier that year in

          3  California.

          4                 In fact, New York City's power grid

          5  was already greatly taxed this summer when in early

          6  July various neighborhoods throughout the City were

          7  asked to reduce power usage to avoid brownouts.

          8                 Although many believe that new power

          9  plants will be needed to meet our future energy

         10  needs, the conservation measures and programs have

         11  played and continue to play an important role in

         12  meeting energy demand.

         13                 Today we will also hear testimony

         14  about energy capacity and demand. We will learn

         15  about the energy conservation and programs that

         16  already exist and how these programs can help us

         17  maintain an adequate and reliable energy supply. And

         18  appropriate adjunct is an energy policy office for

         19  the City that would focus on conservation measures

         20  and would increase public awareness of these

         21  programs.

         22                 I will now call the first witnesses,

         23  a panel consisting of Richard Miller of the New York

         24  City Economic Development Corporation, and the New

         25  York City Department of Citywide Administrative
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          2  Services, and the counsel indicates that that is

          3  Chet Advani. I hope I'm saying that right.

          4                 So, welcome. And welcome to all of my

          5  friends in the energy community and in the

          6  environmental community. But before I do that, I

          7  would like to recognize the presence of Council

          8  Member Oli Koppell, a member of this Committee, and

          9  Council Member Vallone has a statement he wishes to

         10  make.

         11                 Council Member Vallone.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Thank you,

         13  Mr. Chairman.

         14                 First, let me commend you on having

         15  this hearing, which is so important right now. I've

         16  worked with many of you in this room. Some of you

         17  know that I'm former counsel at the CHOCE, The

         18  Coalition Helping Organize A Cleaner Environment.

         19                 I'd just like to comment on the fact

         20  that our Chairman did invite State agencies to be

         21  here today, the Public Service Commission, the NYPA,

         22  the ISO, NYSERDA, they were all invited and did not

         23  come in. And let me say from my years of dealing

         24  with them, this is par for the course. They do not

         25  want to come and listen to the concerns of either my
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          2  Astoria community, which I've been fighting for, or

          3  now the entire New York City community, because they

          4  know better, they don't need to listen to us. And I

          5  think it is outrageous that they are not here today

          6  for such an important hearing like this, and I

          7  commend you, Mr. Chairman, for having this.

          8                 By looking at ways to conserve, we

          9  can decrease the need for new power plants, and then

         10  neighborhoods like mine, which already produce close

         11  to 60 percent of the power for the entire City,

         12  won't be forced to bear any more of the burden than

         13  they already do.

         14                 So, thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you,

         16  Council Member Vallone.

         17                 Council Member Koppell, do you wish

         18  to make a statement?

         19                 Let me also, if we're talking about

         20  notable absences, this is a piece of legislation

         21  that calls upon an energy office to be set up within

         22  DEP. DEP is not here today, and that is unfortunate.

         23  We were advised of the fact that they were not going

         24  to come last evening. So, we're getting off to --

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Do you want
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          2  me to yell at them too?

          3                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: No, that's okay.

          4  It's okay. I just want to state for the record that

          5  we're a little disappointed that they're not in the

          6  room. But we have Mr. Miller, who I'm sure will give

          7  us everything he has. And I believe we're going to

          8  do a panel with the DCAS representative. Is that

          9  acceptable Mr. Miller?

         10                 MR. MILLER: DCAS was planning to

         11  testify separately as to the issue of the 25 percent

         12  reduction in City energy consumption.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay, just hang

         14  on one second.

         15                 Okay, thank you, Mr. Miller. I will

         16  ask you to identify yourself for the record and

         17  commence with your testimony.

         18                 We would like to point out that I've

         19  just received DEP written testimony from the

         20  Commissioner himself, and this is the next best

         21  thing to him being here, I guess, so I'll look at

         22  this and I thank DEP for their testimony and I thank

         23  the Administration for their presence today, and

         24  we'll lead off with Mr. Miller. So, please state

         25  your name for the record and proceed with your
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          2  testimony.

          3                 MR. MILLER: Richard B. Miller.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Oh, pardon me.

          5  One important thing, I forgot one of our protocols

          6  that we ask all our witnesses to take the oath.

          7                 So, I will ask my counsel, Donna

          8  DeCostanzo, who will administer the oath which we

          9  will give to all witnesses, as has been the practice

         10  since I became Chairman in January. I just

         11  momentarily forgot.

         12                 Thank you, Donna. Please proceed.

         13                 MS. DeCOSTANZO: In the testimony that

         14  you're about to give, to you swear or affirm to tell

         15  the truth, the whole truth and nothing but the

         16  truth?

         17                 MR. MILLER: I do.

         18                 MS. DeCOSTANZO: I do.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you, Mr.

         20  Miller. Now you can finally proceed with your

         21  testimony after all of our interruptions. Please

         22  apologize.

         23                 Please state your name for the record

         24  and proceed with the testimony.

         25                 MR. MILLER: Richard B. Miller.
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          2                 Good afternoon, Chairman Gennaro, and

          3  other members of the Environmental Committee.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: If you could

          5  speak right into the microphone it would be great.

          6  It would work out better.

          7                 MR. MILLER: Sure.

          8                 Good afternoon, Chairman Gennaro and

          9  other members of the Environmental Committee, I am

         10  Richard B. Miller, Senior Vice President in charge

         11  of the Energy Department at the Economic Development

         12  Corporation. Thank you for the opportunity to

         13  testify on Introduction No. 158 and the City's

         14  energy supply situation. My testimony today consists

         15  of three parts:

         16                 The Energy Department's role in City

         17  energy policy.

         18                 Second, the City's energy supply

         19  situation and the role that conservation can play.

         20                 And, third, the Administration's plan

         21  to issue a comprehensive energy policy statement.

         22                 First, the Energy Department role in

         23  City energy policy. As Senior Vice President for

         24  Energy at the Economic Development Corporation, I

         25  act as the City's chief consultant on energy policy
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          2  issues. In that capacity I advise the City on energy

          3  policy issues, including increasing energy supply

          4  and efficiency, advocating for a competitive energy

          5  crisis on behalf of all City energy consumers and

          6  coordinating the City's response to energy

          7  infrastructure projects, including new power plants,

          8  transmission lines and natural gas pipelines.

          9                 To perform this role, the Energy

         10  Department regularly monitors energy crisis and the

         11  numerous regulatory proceedings that affect the

         12  City's energy prices and supply. The Department then

         13  provides advice to the City on positions that it

         14  should take on energy issues.

         15                 EDC's Energy Department has been

         16  performing this role since 1993.

         17                 Second, energy supply. With respect

         18  to electricity, New York City is unique. There is no

         19  other city like New York, in terms of its critical

         20  need for a reliable electric supply.

         21                 First is the world's premiere

         22  business center, the City needs a reliable and

         23  continuous electric supply.

         24                 Second, because New York is a place

         25  where people often move around in electric subways
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          2  and elevators instead of gasoline-powered cars,

          3  electric reliability is essential for human

          4  transport.

          5                 We would also like to note that this

          6  dependence on electricity contributes to the City's

          7  status as one of the most energy-efficient cities in

          8  the United States, because a large number of New

          9  Yorkers move using electricity instead of more

         10  energy inefficient and polluting automobiles.

         11                 The City must have enough power plant

         12  capacity to satisfy its stringent reliability rules.

         13  To prevent the possibility of a blackout due to

         14  transmission line failures, like the one that

         15  occurred in 1977, the City is required by the New

         16  York Independent System Operator to have 80 percent

         17  of the forecasted New York City summer peak demand

         18  of electricity capable of being supplied by in-City

         19  power plants.

         20                 The 80 percent rule is accordingly

         21  the best measure for determining whether the City

         22  will have a reliable generation supply this summer.

         23                 For this summer, the New York ISO has

         24  forecasted a summer peak demand of 10,665 megawatts.

         25  Applying the 80 percent rule, the City needs at
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          2  least 8,532 megawatts of in-City generating

          3  capacity, and it has approximately 8,700 megawatts

          4  in place.

          5                 Accordingly, the City's generation

          6  supply for this summer is sufficient. Contrary to

          7  the implications to the July 2nd, 2002 New York

          8  Times article, the City is not currently facing an

          9  electricity crisis. However, the City will need new

         10  power plants in the years to come to maintain

         11  reliability and accommodate growth.

         12                 The Administration understands that

         13  power plants are not the only solution to the City's

         14  need for reliable electric supply. Energy

         15  efficiency, which improves our overall environment,

         16  can also reduce the need for new in-City power

         17  plants. Energy efficiencies are therefore extremely

         18  important, especially the reduction and electricity

         19  demand on hot summer days.

         20                 This demand reduction, however, will

         21  be slower to develop in the City, because first it

         22  has a 24-hour service economy, with an absence of

         23  large manufacturing facilities that can more easily

         24  cut electric consumption, and secondly is densely

         25  populated, making it more difficult to site
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          2  distributed generation for air quality and safety

          3  reasons.

          4                 Notwithstanding these difficulties,

          5  the City government and the private sector have

          6  already made significant progress in achieving

          7  energy conservation, and the Department of Citywide

          8  Administrative Services is here to testify to the

          9  City government's efforts in that regard, especially

         10  of those undertaken by DCAS' Office of Energy

         11  Conservation.

         12                 EDC itself is implementing a hot

         13  weather electricity reduction plan for this summer

         14  that involves, among other things, turning off

         15  non-critical appliances that the State has declared

         16  that we are in a potential electric shortage

         17  situation.

         18                 More can always be done, however, to

         19  achieve cost-effective energy efficiency, and the

         20  Administration will soon announce its plans in this

         21  regard.

         22                 In particular the Administration

         23  plans to do more to promote the purchase of energy

         24  efficient lighting and appliances by consumer, and

         25  encourage participation in more innovative programs,

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            16

          1  COMMITTEE ON ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

          2  such as real-time pricing and Con Edison's Air

          3  Conditioning Control Program.

          4                 I would note that on WINS last night

          5  they interviewed someone who said that because of

          6  Con Edison's warning, this person said that, unlike

          7  usual, the person was not going to leave their air

          8  conditioning on all day while they went to their

          9  office, and obviously that's the kind of thing we

         10  want people to be doing as a regular practice, as

         11  opposed to when Con Edison just issues a specific

         12  warning.

         13                 Finally, with respect to this

         14  specific proposal in the law, the Administration

         15  believes that the Council has made a good first step

         16  here, and that the City should have a more

         17  formalized process for announcing energy policy and

         18  making energy policy decisions, encouraging energy

         19  efficiency and the upgrading of energy

         20  infrastructure and protecting consumers during the

         21  transition from a regulated to a deregulated

         22  electricity market.

         23                 These issues cover the concerns of

         24  numerous City agencies, including the Department of

         25  Business Services, Citywide Administrative Services,
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          2  Environmental Protection, Finance, Human Resources

          3  Administration, Office of Emergency Management

          4  Planning and Transportation.

          5                 For this reason, the Administration

          6  has decided to issue a comprehensive energy policy

          7  statement that will cover all of these interrelated

          8  issues.

          9                 This legislation will need to be

         10  reevaluated after the Administration issues its

         11  statement.

         12                 Thank you very much.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you very

         14  much, Mr. Miller.

         15                 I would like to recognize the

         16  presence of Margarita Lopez, a member of this

         17  Committee from Manhattan.

         18                 Let me just take a little stroll

         19  through your statement here.

         20                 Let me just kind of peace together

         21  what we got.

         22                 You are the head of the Energy

         23  Department at EDC?

         24                 MR. MILLER: That is correct.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: And then we also
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          2  have, DCAS has an office of Energy Conservation, and

          3  EDC itself is doing an energy reduction plan for

          4  this summer, and the Administration is going to

          5  announce its plan for soon. But you would agree

          6  that, the Administration believes that the City

          7  should have a more formalized process for making

          8  energy policy. And, so, it looks like we're sort of

          9  on the same page here. I think what we're looking at

         10  in Intro. 158, it would just be to put all these

         11  various, these interests into one office so that we

         12  could, you know, do this in a more structured and

         13  formalized way, just as you have stated in your

         14  statement. You've indicated that we need a more

         15  formalized process for doing this.

         16                 And would you care to speak on Intro.

         17  158, as long as we're here?

         18                 MR. MILLER: No. I think it would be

         19  better to reevaluate Intro. 158 after the

         20  Administration comes out with its energy policy

         21  statement.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: When is that

         23  going to happen?

         24                 MR. MILLER: We're expecting it to

         25  come out I'd say within the next two to three weeks.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: I feel compelled

          3  to at least get your thoughts on the placement of

          4  the Office of Energy Policy within the Department of

          5  Environmental Protection. This is what this hearing

          6  is supposed to be all about, we're supposed to get

          7  feedback on that, and, so, to the extent that you

          8  being the representative of the Administration on

          9  this issue, and this being like the topic of the

         10  day, to the extent that you could articulate

         11  anything specific on your view or your agency's view

         12  or the Administration's view on the topic before us

         13  today would be most welcome.

         14                 MR. MILLER: The only thing I could

         15  say at this time is that it appears that I think the

         16  Administration believes that because energy policy

         17  spans the issues of so many different agencies, that

         18  it doesn't appear to us that placing it in DEP is

         19  necessarily the appropriate spot.

         20                 This issue is still under review, but

         21  at this time I think it is fair to say that that is

         22  the position and that is what is stated in the DEP

         23  letter.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Right. And had

         25  we gotten the DEP letter in advance, I would have
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          2  taken a look at it, knowing they were coming or not.

          3                 Could you tell us anything about the

          4  elements that this soon-to-come energy policy is

          5  going to speak to? Anything?

          6                 MR. MILLER: I think just general, the

          7  elements are going to be speaking to the City's need

          8  to upgrade its energy infrastructure, which includes

          9  energy efficiency, when we talk about energy

         10  infrastructure. We believe that energy efficiency is

         11  a crucial part of providing energy.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Right.

         13                 MR. MILLER: Can be a crucial part of

         14  providing energy supply to the City. So, we're just

         15  going to have a third discussion of the need for new

         16  power plants, transmission lines, and energy

         17  efficiency.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Would such

         19  energy efficiency measures include more energy

         20  conscious procurement of appliances and things that

         21  the City purchased that use electricity?

         22                 I'm sort of setting you up a little

         23  bit because earlier today there was a hearing at

         24  which the other intro that came out of the Council's

         25  energy plan, I didn't get the sense that it was
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          2  wrongly received, that would require this Energy

          3  Star purchases wherever appropriate, and that didn't

          4  seem to go over too well. Did you participate in

          5  that hearing?

          6                 MR. MILLER: No, I did not. It was

          7  DCAS that testified on behalf of the Administration

          8  at that hearing.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Right. Does it

         10  surprise you that the Administration seemed to be,

         11  or at least DCAS was taking a dim view of making

         12  purchases that sought to conserve energy or

         13  whatever?

         14                 MR. MILLER: With all do respect, I

         15  think DCAS' position, and they can state it more, in

         16  more detail --

         17                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Right.

         18                 MR. MILLER: -- Is that this is

         19  something that they believe in strongly, and that

         20  they try and follow it as often and as practical and

         21  as feasible as it is for them, and the issue is

         22  really more about the necessity for the legislation

         23  and the specific wording of the legislation.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: In a sense it's

         25  almost like our point is being made here that it
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          2  would be important to kind of, you know, crystalize

          3  a lot of these functions into one office, so you

          4  didn't have a situation where one part of the

          5  Administration had a certain view or one person, or

          6  one agency had another view, and, you know, they

          7  could tend to work to cross purposes. I think this

          8  is the whole reason for Intro. 158, to sort of build

          9  one house and have that one house be sort of like

         10  the point entity for all these types of decisions.

         11                 And your office was created back in

         12  1993; is that right?

         13                 MR. MILLER: That is correct.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Just for two

         15  minutes or so, why don't you tell us some of your

         16  accomplishments since 1993, things that you've been

         17  able to do, or most significant accomplishments of

         18  this energy office, and if we're going to make a

         19  case for sort of keeping it there rather than bring

         20  it over to DEP. You know, you've had nine years,

         21  what have we got?

         22                 MR. MILLER: Well, I've been at the

         23  office for the last four years. I have not been

         24  there for the full nine years, but I will tell you

         25  what I think some of the major issues that we've
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          2  worked on over the last four years that I think

          3  we've had a fair amount of success on.

          4                 Number one, I think it's clear that

          5  deregulation has not worked out exactly as it was

          6  planned by its sponsors. I think myself, like many

          7  others, believe that in the longrun it is probably

          8  the best way to manage the electricity sector for

          9  New York City, but there have been some significant

         10  short-term issues.

         11                 Number one I would say is the price

         12  spikes, the extreme price spikes that have occurred.

         13  Especially in the summer, July 1999, and we, my

         14  office, has devoted a substantial amount of time at

         15  the New York ISO, the Independent System Operator,

         16  which is the real entity in charge of electricity

         17  prices for New York City. And we've put a lot of

         18  effort and a lot of time in at the ISO.

         19                 I would like to note that Con Edison

         20  as the number one provider of electricity still to

         21  people in New York City has also devoted a

         22  substantial amount of time at the ISO to making sure

         23  that there are reasonable price controls in place

         24  during the transition from regulation to a

         25  competitive market, and I feel like that has been a
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          2  real success of our office.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Let me just try

          4  to get my hands around it a little bit, because when

          5  you start to describe it, you had almost like a

          6  think tank operation going on there.

          7                 But it's your contention or your

          8  statement that you've been playing sort of like an

          9  advocacy role with the ISO to make sure that they

         10  don't pick a pocket or do things that they should

         11  know to do?

         12                 MR. MILLER: Yes, right.

         13                 EDC supervises an employee of the

         14  Department of Business Services who sits on the New

         15  York ISO's Management Committee, supervises and

         16  provides advice, consulting advice to that person

         17  who is the chief representative at the ISO

         18  articulating the City's position, and we also

         19  sometimes attend meeting ourselves, to let the ISO

         20  know what the City's position is.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: If we didn't

         22  have your office for the last nine years, what would

         23  be different now? Would the ISO have done things

         24  that they should know what to do or --

         25                 MR. MILLER: Yes, my view would be
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          2  that, I mean we're one of many players, so I would

          3  say that we have played a very significant advocacy

          4  role at the ISO, that you would not see summertime

          5  price controls in effect for New York City in the

          6  wholesale market that have the degree of

          7  effectiveness that they have right now, and you

          8  would be seeing extreme price spikes the way that

          9  was seen in the summer of 2000 actually. I misspoke

         10  earlier, I said Summer of '99, it was Summer of

         11  2000.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay, it seems

         13  like it's a good idea to have people watching the

         14  ISO. We've got you watching them, we've got Peter

         15  Vallone, Jr. watching them, and maybe that's one of

         16  the reasons why they didn't come today. Rumor has it

         17  that they got their feelings hurt at my last hearing

         18  and I asked some simple questions, I didn't think I

         19  was being out of line, but the rumor is they got

         20  their feelings hurt, so, you know, I don't know,

         21  maybe that's why they're not here. Thank you for

         22  watching them for us.

         23                 Let me just ask one or two more

         24  questions. You know what? You know what, I may

         25  formulate some more questions for you, but for now I
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          2  want to open it to --

          3                 MR. MILLER: Can I just mention one

          4  other accomplishment --

          5                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Sure. Go for it.

          6                 MR. MILLER:-- That I think the

          7  Council should also be interested in as an issue.

          8                 But one issue that I've spent a

          9  significant amount of time on, I can talk about

         10  energy efficiency more, but I feel like in the

         11  short-term pricing it's been a more significant

         12  issue, is the fact that the generation plants in New

         13  York City cost more. The price for generation in New

         14  York City is higher than the price in Westchester.

         15  Westchester has been beating the drum now for a

         16  couple of years, that there should be a large shift

         17  in electricity prices from Westchester to New York

         18  City solely because of the fact that this generation

         19   --

         20                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: What do you mean

         21  "large shift"? I don't understand "large shift."

         22                 MR. MILLER: Anywhere from $60 million

         23  to $100 million annually in electricity costs that

         24  the County of Westchester has been arguing should be

         25  shifted from Westchester to New York City, for a

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            27

          1  COMMITTEE ON ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

          2  number of different reasons and I'd be happy to, you

          3  know, give the details to anybody.  The City thinks

          4  it is inappropriate to do this at this time, and we

          5  have been very successful in preventing this 60 to

          6  -- you know because of variations in prices it can

          7  vary, this 60 to 100 million dollars shift in

          8  electricity prices that, electricity prices that

          9  Westchester has been arguing for for about the last,

         10  I would say, maybe even three to four years.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: And who would be

         12  the ultimate entity that would decide whether or not

         13  this shift happens or not? Would that be the ISO?

         14                 MR. MILLER: No. I know these issues

         15  are complicated, but that is a retail electricity

         16  price issue and not a wholesale electricity price

         17  issue, and, so, it is the New York State Public

         18  Service Commission that would decide that issue.

         19  And, you know, I think we've been very successful to

         20  date in preventing this from happening, but the

         21  Public Service Commission has been hearing a lot

         22  from the County of Westchester Executive and the

         23  County of Westchester Legislature, and I think it

         24  wouldn't be a bad idea for the Council to think

         25  about opining on that issue.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            28

          1  COMMITTEE ON ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

          2                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Well, one thing

          3  the Council has on its mind is to try to, you know,

          4  crystalize an overall energy policy for the City. I

          5  don't think we have one now. I guess Westchester

          6  does, and have people that are yelling and screaming

          7  about that. So, we're certainly on the energy issue,

          8  that's the whole purpose behind Intro. 158 to try

          9  to, you know, get our house in order so that we

         10  could speak with one loud all-encompassing voice,

         11  you know, one end of City Hall, the other side of

         12  City Hall, through this energy policy office. So, it

         13  looks like we all want to get to the same goal, or

         14  whatever, but --

         15                 MR. MILLER: That's definitely true,

         16  Mr. Chairman.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: So, our hearts

         18  are certainly in the right place, and we'd be happy

         19  to work with you on that. Okay, you got my

         20  commitment on that.

         21                 So, I recognize Council Member

         22  Vallone.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Thank you,

         24  Mr. Chair.

         25                 Thank you for coming today, as other
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          2  people did not come, which is, as I said, par for

          3  the course.

          4                 You mentioned the 80 percent rule and

          5  said that's why we needed to build in-city power,

          6  and most of us are aware what that is, that's a rule

          7  promulgated by the ISO.

          8                 In your opinion, what is the ISO?

          9                 MR. MILLER: It is a non-profit

         10  corporation that was formed as a successor to the

         11  New York Power Pool, which used to run the

         12  transmission system for New York State.

         13                 The ISO took on additional

         14  responsibilities because the market was deregulated.

         15  So, it's responsible not only for managing the

         16  reliability of the transmission system, but also for

         17  running the new wholesale market, deregulated

         18  wholesale market in generation.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: And it

         20  functions basically as a state agency then?

         21                 MR. MILLER: No, I think it's more

         22  appropriate to call it a non-profit corporation that

         23  is really subject to the -- its decision to, really

         24  subject to review by the Federal Energy Regulatory

         25  Commission, not by the State.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Because when

          3  we discuss this 80 percent rule, it's as if the king

          4  has spoken, there's nothing anybody can do about it.

          5  If that 80 percent rule needed to be safely changed,

          6  could that be done?

          7                 MR. MILLER: It could be done. I mean,

          8  I would note that the ISO has a Board of Directors

          9  and a staff, and it also has a management committee

         10  of what are called, you know, the market

         11  participants, the entities that participate in the

         12  electricity market, including generators, marketers,

         13  transmission-owning companies like Con Edison and

         14  also consumer and environmental reps. And this 80

         15  percent rule is also subject to review by these

         16  committees of the ISO and I'm pretty sure it has

         17  been voted on in each of the last couple of years,

         18  and that the people who participate in the market

         19  have affirmed the validity of the 80 percent rule.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Let me also

         21  say that I agree with your analysis of the failures

         22  of deregulation. While in the end that may be a

         23  noble goal, an industry which literally can sicken

         24  and kill people, it's not something that should be

         25  left to supply and demand on its own, and it has not
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          2  worked out. And let me also note that the ISO is

          3  anything but independent and they should not have

          4  the name "independent" in its moniker there because

          5  I've been dealing with them for a long time and they

          6  basically do act as a State agency and do whatever

          7  Governor Pataki tells them.

          8                 You testified that part of what you

          9  do is make sure that -- we discussed how difficult

         10  it is to site power generation for air quality and

         11  safety reasons in New York City. I'd like to know

         12  what your actual role is in that? Let me just

         13  briefly sum up Article 10. I think most of us know

         14  what it is, but there's a siting board made up of

         15  seven people, five state agency heads, two people

         16  appointed by Governor Pataki. It holds public

         17  hearings for which it doesn't alert the public to,

         18  then it ignores completely what the public has to

         19  say and puts the power plants wherever they want.

         20                 So, what is New York City's role in

         21  that process?

         22                 MR. MILLER: You're speaking to the

         23  Article 10 process now for the large power plants.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Yes. That

         25  process and your role in seeing where these new
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          2  plants are sited, as our representative in the City.

          3                 MR. MILLER: This policy is under

          4  review by the current Administration, so I can tell

          5  you what has happened in the past. I just want to be

          6  clear --

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: When you say

          8  "Administration," city or state?

          9                 MR. MILLER: In terms of what the City

         10  has done. But I just want to make clear, before I go

         11  ahead, that the policy of what has taken place to

         12  date is under review by the current Administration.

         13                 To date we have participated in the

         14  Article 10 process, and as kind of a representative

         15  of the City and working with the various groups that

         16  have been involved in the different Article 10

         17  cases, and helping to facilitate agreement among the

         18  various groups involved.

         19                 The City policy, the prior City

         20  policy was that we would endorse power plants that,

         21  number one, passed DEP's cumulative air impact

         22  analysis, which we view to be the toughest air

         23  quality impact analysis in the State --

         24                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: I didn't hear

         25  that. Pardon me, could you just repeat that part
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          2  again.

          3                 MR. MILLER: DEP's cumulative air

          4  impact analysis, which we view to be the toughest

          5  air quality analysis in the State. It goes a degree

          6  further than what the State actually requires. And

          7  secondly, we have asked that each power plant

          8  developer make a contribution to a kind of community

          9  impact fund to alleviate the impact of the power

         10  plant on the local community. And then letting the

         11  local community playing a role in deciding how that

         12  money should be spent, depending upon whether you

         13  view the primary impacts to be air or land use

         14  impacts.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: When you

         16  review these, what is your input into the siting

         17  board, which makes the final decision?

         18                 MR. MILLER: My input into the siting

         19  board has, to date has been working with the City's,

         20  the Environmental Division of the City Law

         21  Department -- once again, just making clear that I

         22  am the consultant to the City and I work directly

         23  with the Environmental Law Division of the City's

         24  Law Department on this -- has been to support plants

         25  that meet all applicable federal and state
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          2  environmental requirements, and in addition have

          3  completed to DEP's satisfaction its cumulative air

          4  impact analysis, and, finally, may have created a

          5  community impact fund that can be used by the local

          6  community to alleviate impacts.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Let me

          8  suggest a few things. And I thank you for that, but

          9  when you are dealing with these people, who have

         10  been completely ignoring the communities, perhaps

         11  you may have more say than we have. And, number one,

         12  one community cannot bear the burden of these power

         13  plants, there needs to be some recognition of that.

         14  I know Article 10 is being reviewed on a State

         15  level, Assemblyman Genaris is being very helpful on

         16  that, and that's one of the things they're looking

         17  at. But in the Western Queens area, provides close

         18  to 60 percent of the power for the entire City right

         19  now, the Siting Board has five plans before it. It

         20  has approved two. It has approved the KeySpan

         21  expansion, the 250 megawatts, and the Astoria site,

         22  which is another 1,000 megawatts. There are three

         23  more before it, Polleti, NRG and Orion, which is now

         24  reliant all in my three-mile square area, and

         25  nobody, on a City or State level, is recognizing the
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          2  fact that community is overburdened.

          3                 Secondly, we need to tie these new

          4  plans into a program of eliminating the older plans.

          5  Again, nobody is speaking about that. I know there

          6  is a repowering bill, which was put in by

          7  Assemblyman Genaris, which Governor Pataki is

          8  finally speaking about. These are things that I hope

          9  the City would come on-board with.

         10                 I'm sorry for digressing for a moment

         11  there, Mr. Chairman. Let me get back to what our

         12  Chairman's hearing is about,  this hearing is about.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Could I just

         14  jump in for a second to follow up on that point?

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Sure. You're

         16  the chair.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: And just a

         18  little bit of latitude.

         19                 Peter just asked about your role in

         20  the Article 10 process and you like to support plans

         21  that pass all the DEP rigors and so on in the air

         22  quality all this other; let's just say

         23  hypothetically the City thinks the plan stinks,

         24  didn't like it at all, and wants it to go away,

         25  wants it not to happen, what happens as far as the

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            36

          1  COMMITTEE ON ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

          2  siting process? How much clout do we at the local

          3  level, the City really have in this Article 10

          4  process?

          5                 Doesn't this cry out for the need for

          6  why there has to be a much different Article 10

          7  process than what we have now?

          8                 Because I think what you're probably

          9  going to say is that if we don't like it, we think

         10  it stinks, it's like it's tough. I don't want to put

         11  words in your mouth, but go ahead.

         12                 You don't like the initiative, you

         13  don't want the proposal, it doesn't pass a thing,

         14  the City thinks it's a bad idea, bad plan, wants the

         15  thing to go away, how much juice do we have?

         16                 MR. MILLER: It's difficult to speak

         17  hypothetically, since we haven't come out vigorously

         18  against any powerplant proposal yet.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Maybe one of the

         20  reasons why that hasn't happened, because if you

         21  did, it wouldn't matter to anybody, right? So, you

         22  know, you want to get the best outcome you possibly

         23  can, and rather, you know, better to light a candle

         24  than curse the darkness, and, you know, so on.

         25                 MR. MILLER: If I could just generally
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          2  take one step back on this.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: You see where

          4  I'm going on this?

          5                 MR. MILLER: Right. I see where you're

          6  going --

          7                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: All right, go

          8  ahead.

          9                 MR. MILLER: And if I could just take

         10  generally one step back, and while we certainly

         11  understand the concerns of local communities about

         12  power plants being proposed for their communities,

         13  you know, I have to state which I know you've heard

         14  before, but I think it's important to reemphasize

         15  that what is being built in the City and proposed --

         16  I shouldn't say built. There's a little bit being

         17  built, but what's being proposed for the City are

         18  modern, new, efficient, clean power plants, which

         19  should in the long run result in lower prices and

         20  cleaner air for the City. And, so, I will say that

         21  the decision about whether we're going to oppose a

         22  power plant project or not has to be made very

         23  carefully. Given the longrun, I think desire of

         24  everyone in this City, to have a cleaner and more

         25  efficient energy supply. You know, our power plant
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          2  fleet in the City is old and having it upgraded to

          3  modern, new, efficient, clean plants I think is a

          4  goal that we all share.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Well, the

          6  longrun is not good enough, that could be 50 to 100

          7  years before these old plants are retired, we need

          8  to make a much quicker run at cleaner power.

          9                 While we agree that these new plants

         10  obviously are better than the old plants, if you put

         11  the newer plants with the older plants, it does

         12  increase the pollution to the neighborhood they go

         13  in and everyone seems to miss that argument.

         14                 The newer plants, fine. If you are

         15  going to put them in, disperse them fairly. Tie them

         16  to a program of getting rid of these older plants

         17  and not just based on the market, because that could

         18  be 50 to 100 years of more kids in my neighborhood

         19  suffering from asthma.

         20                 MR. MILLER: I understand your

         21  concern.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you,

         23  Council Member Vallone. I recognize Council Member

         24  Koppell.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: I just would
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          2  like a little further clarification on this 80

          3  percent rule, because I think that's obviously very

          4  important in terms of limitations on what we can and

          5  cannot do or must do.

          6                 This is a rule promulgated by the ISO

          7  under which legislation?

          8                 MR. MILLER: The ISO is not a

          9  legislative body. It is a non-profit corporation

         10  that operates in accordance with bylaws, as any

         11  corporation has bylaws, for operating the

         12  electricity market in New York State. It was formed

         13  as a result of an agreement and the agreement has

         14  bylaws.

         15                 Those bylaws provide that the ISO, in

         16  consultation with another non-profit group called

         17  the New York State Reliability Council, will develop

         18  the local reliability rules. So, there's no specific

         19  piece of legislation that I can point you to, just

         20  bylaws in the corporation, and then there are

         21  decisions by the Federal Energy Regulatory

         22  Commission that approved the agreement and the

         23  formation of the ISO.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: And companies

         25  like Con Edison are members of this; is that it?
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          2                 MR. MILLER: That is correct.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: So they would

          4  be violating their bylaws if they decided to

          5  important more than 20 percent of the power supply,

          6  if Con Ed decided to do that?

          7                 MR. MILLER: I know, Mr. Councilman,

          8  that this is a complicated rule. The 80 percent rule

          9  is there as a safety measure, in case things go

         10  wrong so we always have to have 80 percent there.

         11  But we can import more than 20 percent of our

         12  electricity supply, and we do on a fairly regular

         13  basis.

         14                 The reason the 80 percent rule is

         15  there is to make sure that the lights stay on if

         16  something major goes wrong, like in 1977 when we had

         17  lightning strikes on transmission lines and the

         18  transmission lines from Westchester went out.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: And, so, you

         20  as a City regulator or administrator support the 80

         21  percent rule?

         22                 MR. MILLER: Yes, we support the

         23  continuation. We voted in favor of continuing the 80

         24  percent rule.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: When you say
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          2  "we," who is "we?"

          3                 MR. MILLER: I would say the

          4  Administration's rep on the ISO Committees.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: If Con Ed,

          6  for instance, proposes, or another company proposes

          7  to build a plant, so that the City can remain within

          8  the 80 percent rule, there's no way at present that

          9  the plan could be disapproved unless that rule was

         10  waived, right?

         11                 MR. MILLER: I think there would be a

         12  very strong compelling reason for approving that

         13  plant, if we were actually short of the 80 percent

         14  rule. And obviously, when looking forward two or

         15  three years, and looking at the possibility that we

         16  may fall short of the 80 percent rule, it is a

         17  compelling reason for approving some of those plants

         18  in the pipeline and hoping that they will be able to

         19  obtain financing and get constructed.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Has there

         21  been any advance in transmission technology that

         22  would suggest that perhaps we need not be as

         23  concerned about transmission failure as we were 25

         24  years ago?

         25                 MR. MILLER: Nothing specific that I
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          2  am aware of.

          3                 I will also let you know, that as the

          4  City's demand grows and our transmission

          5  deliverability remains the same, the need for the 80

          6  percent rule only increases. And there is, you know,

          7  continuing debate about whether it maybe should be

          8  even adjusted upward because of the fact that the

          9  City's summertime demand is increasing while our

         10  transmission deliverability is static.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Okay, that

         12  helps. Thank you.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you.

         14                 Council Member Lopez.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Thank you.

         16                 I'm the Council Member that love Con

         17  Edison, and Con Edison loves me too.

         18                 The Administration is against this

         19  bill?

         20                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: To the best that

         21  we can determine.

         22                 MR. MILLER: Yes, the best -- I mean,

         23  what I stated in the testimony is that we think that

         24  it needs to be reevaluated and I think I would say

         25  at this point in time that we do not think the bill
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          2  should be approved until we show exactly how we're

          3  going to formalize things, and it doesn't appear at

          4  this time as if we will formalize it using DEP.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Okay. If you

          6  are against this bill, then my question is in regard

          7  to my community. My community had an explosion, an

          8  explosion that my community predicted. Contrary to

          9  the statements of the Mayor, I appreciate very much

         10  that he came to my community at the moment of need.

         11  He makes a statement there that nobody could have

         12  perceived as happening.

         13                 I have news. My community predicted

         14  this during last year, during the year before, and

         15  we continue to predict that we are going to confront

         16  serious problems in our community, specifically in

         17  the plant on 14th Street.

         18                 Then due to that situation, that is

         19  very clear what happened in there during this

         20  weekend, I want to ask the Administration, when is

         21  it that you are planning to come with a policy, a

         22  policy that is going to take care of this thing not

         23  happening again.

         24                 This is the second time during this

         25  summer that we have a serious problem. The one that

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            44

          1  COMMITTEE ON ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

          2  happened this weekend could have been of major

          3  catastrophe. It was bad enough for my community, for

          4  those people who don't understand what happened in

          5  there, I want to illustrate for you one thing: Every

          6  resident that lives in Haven Plaza had to be

          7  evacuated. Every resident that lived in Jacob Place

          8  (phonetic) and Lilian Row (phonetic) was taken care

          9  in the same fashion. And every resident that was on

         10  Campus Plaza, and in Stuyvesant Town, had to be

         11  removed from their home surrounding the plant. The

         12  smoke that came inside of the homes of the people of

         13  Haven Plaza don't have no description to it.

         14                 Then in the absence of a policy, the

         15  Council has proposed the creation of a body that is

         16  going to take care of that, and we cannot, in my

         17  community, wait until the Administration is ready to

         18  tell us when you are ready to create a resolution to

         19  this problem, particularly that the electricity that

         20  is produced from 14th Street is not even the

         21  electricity that we're using, because the

         22  electricity the we lost on the weekend was lost

         23  everywhere else except our area.

         24                 The same thing that happened the

         25  summer before that. The same story. Then you are
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          2  going to tell me right now when, where and how is

          3  going to come the policy from the Administration to

          4  deal with the problems in a way that again next

          5  week, the following week after that, my community is

          6  now going to go through the same story that we went

          7  last weekend.

          8                 Because being opposed to this

          9  particular piece of legislation, it doesn't cut it.

         10  Then tell me where the Administration is on this,

         11  particularly when we're talking about my community

         12  at least, particularly we're talking about that?

         13  When are we going to have some release from the

         14  Administration speaking about a particular policy, a

         15  policy that is going to talk about sufficient

         16  electricity, because it's not sufficient electricity

         17  that's clear by what happened over the weekend, and

         18  by what happened when they requested the reduction

         19  of use of electricity in the areas of the other part

         20  of New York City.

         21                 Then answer my question in regard to

         22  that, when is it that you're going to deal with

         23  this?

         24                 MR. MILLER: Your question,

         25  Councilperson, is when the policy will be issued?
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Yes. The policy

          3  before another incident like the one that happened

          4  in the weekend is going to occur, because you're

          5  saying that this is not good. You're saying that we

          6  are jumping the gun. You're saying that we are too

          7  fast in what we're doing, and we need to wait for

          8  you. Then my community is telling you we cannot wait

          9  for you. We're telling you that we need this issue

         10  resolved now. And if the Council is proposing a

         11  piece of legislation to begin dealing with policy,

         12  then you tell me what is the answer to what our

         13  proposal. You don't want our proposal, then tell me

         14  what is your proposal to deal with the problem in my

         15  community?

         16                 MR. MILLER: I can say a couple of

         17  things right now.

         18                 You know, one, I think we've already

         19  stated we agree with you that we should be

         20  formalizing energy policy and clearly the

         21  reliability of Con Edison's distribution system is

         22  an issue that is extremely important for the City,

         23  and it's something that we have monitored in the

         24  past, and that we will continue to monitor in the

         25  future.
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          2                 I would like to note at the same time

          3  that while we all wish that things could be perfect,

          4  you know, it's very hard to achieve perfection. And

          5  the one thing I can tell you from my general review

          6  of electric utility reliability, Con Edison is one

          7  of the reliable, if not the most reliable, electric

          8  systems in the United States, and if not the world,

          9  and that there is a substantial amount of redundancy

         10  that they're required to build into that system that

         11  enabled them to bring up the power fairly quickly

         12  after this unfortunate incident occurred.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: This is not an

         14  unfortunate incident. Don't tell that to my

         15  community, particularly when they are expanding in

         16  there, when we had to sue them to stop what they

         17  were doing, when the court system had to defend us

         18  because we didn't have no other choice. They're

         19  closing one plant on 38th Street, expanding to us,

         20  we're carrying the bulk to all this. You are going

         21  to tell me that this is an unfortunate incident?

         22  This is not the first one.

         23                 Two years ago, same story, same

         24  place. You're telling me that the policy that we

         25  need to put in place, you're telling me right now

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            48

          1  COMMITTEE ON ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

          2  that this Council is proposing to begin dealing with

          3  this in a manner that is of the most urgency, and

          4  you're telling me that this is an unfortunate

          5  incident?

          6                 This is not an unfortunate incident.

          7  This is an incident that is going to continue to

          8  happen because we are not dealing with this problem.

          9                 I was in this Council four years

         10  before, I have seen this story going through, and

         11  it's unfortunate that you choose your position as a

         12  government official to defend in your position there

         13  the performance of Con Edison. It is unfortunate for

         14  me to hear you doing that, because I don't expect

         15  that function from you. I expect the function to be

         16  a government official presenting here the position

         17  of government.

         18                 Now, I'm telling you very clear, what

         19  you're saying here to us right now is ludicrous.

         20  You're telling us we don't have no policy. We are

         21  not ready for the policy, therefore, what the

         22  Council is proposing to us, you should put it aside,

         23  although, we cannot tell you when, where and how

         24  we're going to deal with this problem, because

         25  you're jumping the gun.
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          2                 Meanwhile, communities like mine had

          3  to go through what happened on Saturday.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you,

          5  Council Member Lopez.

          6                 I would like to point out that Con Ed

          7  will be testifying later.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: They want me to

          9  stay?

         10                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: What's that?

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: You think they

         12  want me to stay?

         13                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: You said that

         14  they loved you, I'm sure they're going to. I don't

         15  think they'll let you leave.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Good.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Mr. Miller, I

         18  just have one follow-up question I think.

         19                 You mentioned the Department of

         20  Business Services plays a key role or something or

         21  whatever; could you expand upon what the Department

         22  of Business Services does with regard to energy

         23  policy for the City?

         24                 I don't think that was part of your

         25  statement, but pursuant to the City Charter I'm
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          2  informed the Department of Business Services does

          3  have a Charter-mandated role in energy policy for

          4  the City. Are they doing that? Do you know if

          5  they're active on this? You seem to be like the

          6  energy guy; what do they do with you?

          7                 MR. MILLER: We work together with

          8  DBS. In particular, DBS runs some very successful

          9  energy discount programs for small businesses, but

         10  with respect to the energy policy function, most of

         11  that work is performed in-house at EDC with the

         12  additional DBS employee who is the City's energy

         13  policy advocate for representing us at the PSC, or

         14  at the ISO.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay, DEP also

         16  has a Charter-mandated energy role; to what extent?

         17  Does DEP currently play a role? How are they

         18  exercising their Charter-mandated responsibility

         19  with regard to energy policy-making?

         20                 I'm sorry to stick this on you. I

         21  mean, I would have asked them have they come, but

         22  they're not here, so you're stuck.

         23                 MR. MILLER: We've worked very closely

         24  with DEP on Article 10 issues, in terms of their

         25  environmental review function, and I think it's fair
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          2  to say that with generally on energy policy issues

          3  they rely on EDC providing the expertise, advising

          4  City Hall and then DEP will also provide advice to

          5  City Hall when, you know, when it feels it's

          6  appropriate.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: In the context

          8  of their environmental review of the various

          9  proposals that are made, and four various plants

         10  that are proposed, right? I mean, is that what

         11  you're saying, that DEP does the environmental

         12  analysis role? That's their function?

         13                 MR. MILLER: Right. I'd say they've

         14  played an active and vigorous role in the review of

         15  Article 10 projects.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you. Thank

         17  you.

         18                 MR. MILLER: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: I appreciate

         20  your testimony here today. I'm sure you found it

         21  enlightening.

         22                 MR. MILLER: I did.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you very

         24  much, Mr. Miller.

         25                 MR. MILLER: Thank you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: I call upon the

          3  next witness, the representative of the Department

          4  of Citywide Administrative Services, Mr. Chet

          5  Advani.

          6                 Am I saying that right?

          7                 DR. ADVANI: Yes.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay. Do you and

          9  your associates wish to take a seat? Thank you very

         10  much. I appreciate it. I'm going to put you through

         11  the same drill that Mr. Miller went through. Donna

         12  will administer the oath and then I'll ask you to

         13  identify yourself and proceed with your testimony.

         14                 MS. DeCOSTANZO: Can you raise your

         15  right hand, please?

         16                 In the testimony that you're about to

         17  give do you swear or affirm to tell the truth, the

         18  whole truth and nothing but the truth?

         19                 DR. ADVANI: I do.

         20                 MS. DeCOSTANZO: Thank you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Will the other

         22  gentleman with you be providing testimony as well?

         23                 DR. ADVANTI: Yes.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: We're going to

         25  do you, too, okay?
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          2                 MR. FINKELMAN: (Not identified for

          3  the record.) Yes.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Are you ready?

          5                 MR. FINKELMAN: Sure.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Here it comes.

          7                 MS. DeCOSTANZO: In the testimony that

          8  you're about to give, do you swear or affirm to tell

          9  the truth, the whole truth and nothing but the

         10  truth?

         11                 MR. FINKELMAN: I do.

         12                 MS. DeCOSTANZO: Thank you.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you very

         14  much. Please state your name for the record and

         15  proceed with your testimony.

         16                 DR. ADVANI: My name is Chet Advani.

         17  Good afternoon, Chairman Gennaro and other members

         18  of the Committee on Environmental Protection. I am

         19  Dr. Chet Advani, Director of the Office of Energy

         20  Conservation in the Department of the Citywide

         21  Administrative Services.

         22                 I am joined here by my DCAS

         23  colleagues, General Counsel Lew Finkelman. I have

         24  Richard Appelbaum and Stuart Barth, from my staff.

         25  Raise your hand, Richard. Raise your hand, Stuart.
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          2  And the Director of Special Projects, Jennifer Blum.

          3                 Thank you for the opportunity to

          4  testify about Intro. 158 and issues which concern

          5  City government's energy usage. My testimony today

          6  will address DCAS's role in the City's energy

          7  operations and in the development and coordination

          8  of energy conservation for City agencies.

          9                 In accordance with subdivision (b) of

         10  section 825 of the City Charter, the Office of

         11  Energy Conservation (OEC) is responsible for

         12  furnishing energy to City agencies, as well as to

         13  HHC, CUNY and the Board of Education. In addition,

         14  Mayoral Directive No. 89-1 directs OEC to coordinate

         15  energy conservation policies for City agencies.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: You know what

         17  I'm going to do, if I could be so rude as to

         18  interrupt. It was my understanding that you were

         19  going to speak to the 25 percent energy reduction.

         20                 DR. ADVANI: Sure.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: That we want to

         22  see if we can get done as part of the Council's

         23  initiative to have City agencies reduce --

         24                 DR. ADVANI: Sure.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: If we could just
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          2  sort of jump right to that, and that's kind of the

          3  meat of what I understand you folks were going to

          4  speak about.

          5                 DR. ADVANI: Right.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: And we'll just

          7  sort of like have the other stuff for the record,

          8  and, you know, you can draw on that as you need.

          9                 DR. ADVANI: Right.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: But I really

         11  want to see your thoughts on our ability to get to

         12  the 25 percent energy reduction.

         13                 DR. ADVANI: Yes. Can I just briefly

         14  make two points before I go there, all right?

         15                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Quite all right.

         16                 DR. ADVANI: On page three, of the

         17  last ten years OEC has accomplished a lot of energy

         18  conservation through a program called the High

         19  Efficiency Lighting Program, and this we

         20  accomplished in 122 government facilities at a cost

         21  of $55 million, and we've reduced the energy bill by

         22  $11 million annually.

         23                 This was followed by ENCORE. HELP did

         24  so well that we had to do ENCORE, which is Energy

         25  Cost Reduction, and that's a program we are
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          2  presently implementing, and as it says, we've

          3  accomplished a lot of work there, too. And as a

          4  result of HELP and ENCORE together, we have reduced

          5  the lighting load by 10 percent roughly, from 400

          6  megawatts by 42 megawatts, at a cost of $200

          7  million. We spent $200 million the last ten years.

          8                 With that I'll jump to the 25 percent

          9  energy reduction on page five.

         10                 It doesn't say, it comes later, but

         11  the 25 percent reduction is equivalent to $120

         12  million reduction in energy costs, which has to be

         13  accomplished over the next four years. This mandate

         14  is supposed to fall more stringent than the State's

         15  Executive Order, which sets forth a goal of 35

         16  percent over a 20-year period beginning 1990.

         17                 The City would be required to invest

         18  substantial capital and undertake a much larger

         19  number of energy efficiency projects than

         20  anticipated to meet this fiscal year 2006 energy

         21  reduction mandate.

         22                 Our experience in implementing energy

         23  efficiency project shows that an $8 investment

         24  yields a 41 energy savings. So, to save 120 million

         25  cost reduction, would require an expenditure of
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          2  approximately 1 billion in energy efficiency

          3  projects. It's going on 25 percent.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: One-billion

          5  dollars right now?

          6                 DR. ADVANI: Right now.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: We have to plunk

          8  down a billion dollars in order to get the 25

          9  percent energy reduction?

         10                 DR. ADVANI: A billion over four

         11  years. So, you could give me $250 million a year.

         12  But a billion dollars.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay. Keep

         14  going. I just wanted to make sure and I just wanted

         15  to emphasize that.

         16                 DR. ADVANI: The City Council should

         17  also consider the likely increase in load that will

         18  result from City's government growth over the next

         19  four years.

         20                 In the last decade, the number of

         21  electrical accounts grew from 4,000 to 5,200, and

         22  the City government's energy cost increases from

         23  $320 million to $480 million. Approximately four

         24  percent per year.

         25                 Primarily due to new facilities, such

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            58

          1  COMMITTEE ON ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

          2  as DEP plants, hospitals, DOC facilities,

          3  courthouses and Board of Education schools.

          4  Additional electric office equipment. At a four

          5  percent annual growth rate, the City's energy

          6  consumption could grow by 16 percent in the next

          7  four years.

          8                 So, in other words, the anticipated

          9  growth of 16 percent would render Intro. 158's

         10  mandate to reach 25 percent reduction to, in effect,

         11  be a 40 percent reduction, that would be impossible

         12  to attain, even with the expenditure of the

         13  aforementioned capital funds.

         14                 So, the point I am trying to make is

         15  the anticipated growth must be considered in

         16  formulating energy efficiency goals for the City.

         17                 City agencies have come a long way

         18  towards improving energy efficiency. Again, since

         19  1990, we have invested approximately 200 million in

         20  energy conservation projects. And we look forward to

         21  working with the City Council to achieve further

         22  efficiencies and cost reductions.

         23                 However, for all the aforementioned

         24  reasons, we oppose Intro. 158.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Yes, I see that.
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          2                 I was not aware that we could even

          3  conceive of a billion dollars worth of energy

          4  conservation measures.

          5                 If I give you a billion dollars right

          6  now, could you spend it on energy conservation

          7  measures? Don't you think it's just a little bit of

          8  hyperbole going into that billion dollar number?

          9  Don't you think?

         10                 I'm giving you a chance here. I'm

         11  giving you a chance to sort of back up a little bit

         12  on that.

         13                 DR. ADVANI: We spend right now with

         14  the staff that the New York Power Authority has and

         15  the staff we have, together we are working as a

         16  team, we spend about $15 million a year

         17  realistically. So, over the next four years if we

         18  have the same amount of staff, same number of people

         19  working towards energy efficiency, it's 15 million

         20  times four, that is 60 million. But that won't take

         21  us to the 25 percent reduction.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: What would it

         23  take you to?

         24                 DR. ADVANI: Over the whole ENCORE and

         25  HELP, over the ten years, we've reduced the load by
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          2  I think five or six percent. Twenty-five percent is

          3  an ambitious goal, very ambitious.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Did you

          5  participate in the hearing earlier today in the

          6  other Committee, in the Contracts Committee with

          7  regard to the purchasing of energy conserving

          8  compliances?

          9                 MR. FINKELMAN: I believe DCAS

         10  testified at the prior hearing before today.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: I see. I see.

         12                 And what's your view on the purchase

         13  of buying more energy efficiency products? It is

         14  something that DCAS does, does it not? Right?

         15                 MR. FINKELMAN: I think the

         16  Commissioner previously testified that DCAS

         17  purchases around $90 million in Energy Star

         18  compliant products over the course of the year,

         19  included computers, monitors.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Right.

         21                 MR. FINKELMAN: And with the

         22  advancement of other manufacturers that develop the

         23  products, if they're sufficient competition, we will

         24  consider doing it with many other products.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Does your office
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          2  have anything to do with procuring anything having

          3  to do with alternative energy sources, renewable

          4  energy sources? To what extent do you folks --

          5                 DR. ADVANI: Well, we get all our

          6  electricity from the New York Power Authority. So,

          7  as a result, we do not go and purchase electricity

          8  elsewhere in the market.

          9                 We have a program for alternative

         10  energy sources, which is focused right now on fuel

         11  cells. We are installing, already installed a fuel

         12  cell in the Central Park Precinct, North Central

         13  Bronx Hospital, and in the New York Aquarium. We

         14  have eight fuel cells on design for various DEP

         15  plans that will use the waste gas that is generated

         16  in the plants.

         17                 But our exposure to alternate fuel

         18  cells are considered to be alternate fuel cells,

         19  supply has been limited to fuel cells, and a little

         20  bit of faldewall (phonetic) cells.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Are there plans

         22  to make the fuel cell program bigger?

         23                 What's the future for fuel cells in

         24  New York City?

         25                 DR. ADVANI: Fuel cells are, right now
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          2  we are committed to buying our electricity NYPA, but

          3  fuel cells work when either electricity supply is

          4  not available, we have to dig a lot of cabling to

          5  bring electricity as we had to at the Central Bronx

          6  Precinct, or we had a large amount of waste and

          7  aerobic gas, to replace the natural gas.

          8                 So, I believe it's an evolving

          9  technology. It's still an expensive technology, and

         10  it doesn't compete with the electricity that we get

         11  at market prices.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: I see. Because

         13  we had these commitments with the Power Authority to

         14  purchase that power, it's more economic, in your

         15  view, just to purchase that power.

         16                 So, in other words, the transition

         17  would only be made to fuel cells only in those

         18  areas, it would take up just like a very specific

         19  niche so-to-speak?

         20                 DR. ADVANI: Exactly.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: That would be

         22  the only use for it.

         23                 Oh, yes, the contract that the City

         24  has, I guess, with NYPA for the purchase of power is

         25  of what duration? How frequently is that
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          2  renegotiated or --

          3                 DR. ADVANI: Right now we are in the

          4  evergreen mode.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Pardon?

          6                 DR. ADVANI: It's an evergreen mode.

          7  Until one of us decides to cancel the contract, it

          8  will continue for ever and ever.

          9                 However, the rates have to be

         10  decided. We know what we will be paying for it til

         11  the end of 2004. After that somebody has to sit down

         12  on (sic) the table and decide what the rates will be

         13  beyond 2004, December.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay, thank you.

         15                 Are there any questions for this

         16  witness?

         17                 Council Member Lopez.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Thank you.

         19                 In your testimony you give us a

         20  number, a reduction.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Pardon me,

         22  Margarita.

         23                 I just want to recognize the presence

         24  of Allan Jennings from Queens. I apologize. Sorry

         25  for the interruption.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: In page five

          3  you said that in order for us to save 120 million in

          4  energy cost reduction, we have to spend a billion.

          5                 That number that you provide to us is

          6  in regard of a particular year, or overall

          7  reduction?

          8                 DR. ADVANI: That would be the annual

          9  reduction. If you want to reduce your energy bill by

         10  $120 million per year, the City's energy bill right

         11  now is about $480 million per year.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Then at the end

         13  of ten years.

         14                 DR. ADVANI: Yes.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: We will save

         16  how much money, according to your formula?

         17                 DR. ADVANI: Our bill would have gone

         18  down from 420 to 120. If you do that all in four

         19  years, it would step down from 420 to down, down to

         20  100, by 120, from 420 to 300, and then it would

         21  remain 300 million for the rest of the time.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: No matter how

         23  many years pass?

         24                 DR. ADVANI: No. Then depending on the

         25  growth. If there was no growth, then we would have
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          2  reduced the bill from 420 million to 300 million, 25

          3  percent, and then there's no growth, it would remain

          4  320 million forever.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: According to

          6  your statement, what you're saying is that we will

          7  not recover the $1 million investment in reducing

          8  the cost of electricity; that's what you're saying?

          9                 DR. ADVANI: Yes. We would have to

         10  spend a billion dollars, and then every year we

         11  would be recovering -- $120 million would be the

         12  savings which we would recover over ten years.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: And we will

         14  recover the billion?

         15                 DR. ADVANI: Yes. The billion would

         16  pay for itself in ten years. After ten years the

         17  cost would be gravy. The reduction would be a gravy

         18  for us.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: The reason I

         20  ask you that is that I appreciate you giving me the

         21  number that we had to spend in order to save. But

         22  you didn't give me the final number of the overall

         23  reduction, and if we will be able to recover the $1

         24  billion. Then we will be able and we will maintain

         25  this saving of 120 million per year.
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          2                 DR. ADVANI: Yes, exactly.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Then that's an

          4  important aspect of understanding this process.

          5                 There is particular information you

          6  have in here about reductions on expenditure of

          7  energy being used by government; from where you got

          8  this (sic)?

          9                 DR. ADVANI: We pay all the energy

         10  bills for the City government agencies. And we also

         11  administer the two major programs, the Energy Cost

         12  Reduction program. So, we have the data. We know

         13  exactly how much we spend on the two programs, how

         14  much reduction we achieved, and from experience of

         15  those two programs, we know it cost $8 to see the

         16  bill go down by $1.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Then we have

         18  the mechanism right now to figure out the

         19  statistical information, nonetheless.

         20                 DR. ADVANI: Yes.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: I was in a

         22  hearing of the Contracts Committee where I requested

         23  this information precisely, and I was told that we

         24  don't accumulate this information. And when I asked

         25  about this information on that hearing, I asked and
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          2  I was absolutely surprised to learn that we are not

          3  accumulating this data. And now you come here and

          4  you give us this, which is fascinating for us. I

          5  think that we should share this information with the

          6  Contracts Committee, because the one hand doesn't

          7  talk to the other. And it's very fascinating for me

          8  to see the numbers that you are producing in here.

          9  Perhaps in that other meeting I misunderstood what

         10  happened, and the information that I've requested is

         11  not the same.

         12                 MR. FINKELMAN: If I could interject?

         13  I was at the prior hearing before the Contracts

         14  Committee. The question that was posed to the

         15  Commissioner related to whether in a particular

         16  building that the City leases, and there are

         17  numerous City agencies, whether one can conceivably

         18  break down the energy consumption by agencies that

         19  are --

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: That wasn't my

         21  recollection.

         22                 MR. FINKELMAN: That was my

         23  recollection, and I believe that's what the

         24  Commissioner answered.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: My questions at
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          2  the time were related to knowing if you accumulate

          3  information in regard of how we economize money, how

          4  to economize the money is reflected in the

          5  initiative that we have, if they were connected to

          6  the initiative, I wanted to know if human behavior

          7  was connected to that or not, or it was connected to

          8  energy efficiency equipment.

          9                 I remember very clear, my questions.

         10  And I know that my questions weren't up and down in

         11  regard of all of the possible data that is

         12  accumulated about saving dollars related to saving

         13  programs on energy programs that we have.

         14                 Then this indicates to me that we do

         15  have access to this information and I think that we

         16  should seek further this information for our

         17  Committee.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Absolutely.

         19  Thank you, Council Member Lopez.

         20                 Any other questions for these

         21  witnesses?

         22                 Council Member Vallone.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: I just will

         24  ask a math question, because I was never good at

         25  math.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            69

          1  COMMITTEE ON ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

          2                 You said on the load growth, that a

          3  four percent annual growth rate, the City's energy

          4  consumption could grow by 16 percent in the next

          5  four years. That's even if the City invested $1

          6  billion necessary to reduce the current load by 25

          7  percent it may not result in an actual reduction.

          8                 Do you want to explain that? I don't

          9  understand that. We're cutting it 25 percent, even

         10  if it goes up 16 percent we've got a reduction?

         11                 DR. ADVANI: Yes, but then what we're

         12  trying to say, to achieve a 25 percent real

         13  reduction, you would have to go down 25 percent plus

         14  the 16 percent, because the load is going to go up

         15  16 percent. So, if you want to see a 25 percent

         16  reduction, you would have to take that into

         17  consideration.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: But we don't

         19  know it's really going to go up 16 percent.

         20                 DR. ADVANI: No, we just -- assuming

         21  that --

         22                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Some people just

         23  like to project, and, okay, it's gone. This is what

         24  it's done in the past, that's what it's going to do

         25  in the future, and $1 for $8, I just don't these
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          2  assumptions that you really put anything really --

          3                 DR. ADVANI: Councilman, each dollars

          4  per dollar investment is right now true for the most

          5  efficient way of reducing energy through doing

          6  lighting. Lighting reduction. If you have four

          7  bulbs, you'll want to replace them with two. It

          8  costs $8 to save $1 under the present rates and

          9  construction costs.

         10                 If you want to do more, like chillers

         11  and boilers, it costs even more money.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: However, even

         13  if it does go up whatever amount, it's still going

         14  to be 25 percent less than it would have been

         15  without these savings.

         16                 Let me just very quickly thank you

         17  for coming and testifying.

         18                 DR. ADVANI: Thank you.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Because as

         20  I've mentioned before, other people don't want to

         21  hear what we have to say, and we thank you for being

         22  here.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you very

         24  much.

         25                 I'd also like to recognize the
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          2  presence of Council Member Serrano, from the Bronx.

          3                 The next witness is Mr. Gupta, from

          4  the National Resources Defense Counsel, and they'll

          5  be followed by representative of KeySpan, Mr. David

          6  Manning.

          7                 Ashok is ready to be sworn.

          8                 Donna, would you please do the

          9  honors?

         10                 MS. DeCOSTANZO: In the testimony that

         11  you're about to give, do you swear or affirm to tell

         12  the truth, the whole truth and nothing but the

         13  truth?

         14                 MR. GUPTA: Yes, I do.

         15                 MS. DeCOSTANZO: Thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Ashok, it's a

         17  pleasure to have you here. Thank you for your wise

         18  counsel throughout the years on matters of energy.

         19  So, we appreciate your being here, and we look

         20  forward -- we thank you for your years of service

         21  and for helping us through this process in the many

         22  years to come, and we appreciate it. And we would

         23  like to ask you to formally state your name for the

         24  record and proceed with your testimony.

         25                 MR. GUPTA: Sure. My name is Ashok
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          2  Gupta, which is spelled A-s-h-o-k, G-u-p-t-a. I am

          3  the Director of the Air and Energy Program at NRDC,

          4  Natural Resources Defense Council. We've been

          5  headquartered here in New York City for over 30

          6  years now, and we have over half a million members

          7  around the country and we've been working on energy

          8  policy issues for many years.

          9                 It's a pleasure to be here, Chairman

         10  Gennaro and Council Members, and I will quickly go

         11  through my key points and make myself available for

         12  your questions.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: If I could, I

         14  would just like to ask the members of the Committee

         15  to focus on Mr. GUPTA, and I appreciate whatever

         16  attention we could give him.

         17                 MR. GUPTA: Thank you. The importance

         18  of electricity and energy, of course, to the City's

         19  economy, the City's environment, public health and

         20  safety, we all understand and appreciate. I think

         21  there's a lot of agreement about the importance of

         22  and need for an energy policy that really speaks to

         23  all of these issues in a comprehensive way.

         24                 I think having an energy office and

         25  an energy policy, is essential and necessary, and
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          2  should be done immediately. Where exactly to house

          3  it is something that should be discussed.

          4                 Before I arrived at NRDC I actually

          5  worked at the City's energy office. At that point it

          6  was housed in the Mayor's -- basically it was an

          7  office of the Mayor, and, therefore, because it

          8  involved so many different agencies, I think that

          9  might be the model to go to, and we can speak about

         10  that more later because it does involve economic

         11  development issues and environmental issues, and

         12  various issues, as you've heard today, in terms of

         13  energy conservation and so on. So you need to

         14  coordinate across a lot of different agencies, so

         15  rather than housing it in one agency, it's better to

         16  create a very small office that would actually

         17  coordinate and develop the energy policy. That is

         18  what was done in the Koch and Dinkins'

         19  Administration before it became even a Department of

         20  Telecommunications and Energy, that rather than

         21  going to a Department, having a small office of the

         22  Mayor to coordinate this is what I would suggest and

         23  recommend.

         24                 Quickly on some of the key supply and

         25  demand issues that have been raised and discussed;

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            74

          1  COMMITTEE ON ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

          2  the key thing to focus on, in terms of supply going

          3  forward, is not even Article 10, because what we

          4  have now is a situation where power plants are

          5  getting approved, but aren't getting built. And I

          6  think it's important from a policy perspective for

          7  the City and the State to ask the question how is

          8  competition and restructuring working, and why are

          9  power plants not getting built even if they're

         10  approved, and some plants that are not yet approved

         11  but have a lot of support from the community, like

         12  the repowering of the Orion plant, have been pulled

         13  back because of lack of financing.

         14                 So, I do think that one of the first

         15  questions in terms of the policy to be dealt with by

         16  this new office of the Mayor's Energy Policy

         17  Division would be this issue of how to solve the

         18  problem of financing of power plants.

         19                 Related to that, of course, is the

         20  issue of location of power plants, and the

         21  repowering of older plants. What Council Member

         22  Vallone, Jr., was asking, if we're going to build

         23  new plants which are very, very clean, how can we be

         24  assured the older plants will shut down?

         25                 One of the ways --

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            75

          1  COMMITTEE ON ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

          2                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Why don't you

          3  just walk us through the concept of repowering so

          4  everybody in the room understands. Because the term

          5  has been used a couple of times and I'm sure 90

          6  percent of the people in the room know it, but just

          7  give us one minute on that.

          8                 MR. GUPTA: Sure. Repowering is a

          9  broad concept. It really means to refurbish or

         10  rebuild an existing plant. It can be at the same

         11  site, it can be shutting down the existing plant

         12  entirely and building a new one, it can be taking an

         13  old one and just refurbishing it and keeping as much

         14  of it as you can, but makes economic sense.

         15                 It really means using an existing

         16  site, and it means the net reduction in emissions,

         17  increase in generation, while taking an existing

         18  facility and basically making it perform at a much

         19  higher level of efficiency, cleaner and more

         20  capacity.

         21                 So, you can basically get more

         22  efficient, cleaner generation while lowering

         23  emissions, and not have to go to new sites, which is

         24  always an issue in terms of power plant development.

         25                 You have also a bill before you,
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          2  Intro. 30, that's been sponsored by Council Member

          3  Vallone, Jr., which I would also recommend that you

          4  consider and take up quickly, because it also tries

          5  to deal with this issue of how to reduce emissions

          6  at existing plants, while allowing new plants to get

          7  built.

          8                 So, this issue of new supply and old

          9  supply and how you deal with that problem is partly

         10  addressed by that bill, but I think there are

         11  important issues in terms of policy, financing, as

         12  well as location and repowering issues that all need

         13  to be dealt with if we want to move forward in a

         14  thoughtful measured and expedited way, in terms of

         15  getting new plants built.

         16                 There are a lot of new plants that we

         17  have supported. We're not opposed to new plants,

         18  it's a matter of how you do it, and I think that's

         19  the key.

         20                 On the demand side, again, we need a

         21  broad policy on energy efficiency Citywide, not just

         22  for governmental usage. Obviously, governmental

         23  usage is a very important piece of the puzzle. The

         24  potential for energy efficiency is huge. If the

         25  City's demand is a little over 10,000 growing to
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          2  11,000, conservatively ten percent of that demand

          3  could be saved over the next five years,

          4  cost-effectively, lowering energy costs, basically

          5  using off-the-shelf technologies, and it's a matter

          6  of having the right policies and incentives in place

          7  to do that.

          8                 So, yes, increase supply, also do as

          9  much energy efficiency as makes sense.

         10                 I do think the Mayoral policy that is

         11  being developed is going to try to embrace both the

         12  supply side and demand side, and we'll have to

         13  evaluate that.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: What do you know

         15  of the Mayor's policies?

         16                 MR. GUPTA: We've been advising and

         17  recommending to them a lot of different solutions,

         18  what we have recommended to you. So, I think what

         19  we've been advising is that they have a policy --

         20                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: They've been

         21  reaching out to you, have they?

         22                 MR. GUPTA: We've reached out to them.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: I see.

         24                 MR. GUPTA: We talk to them regularly

         25  --
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: How long has

          3  that been going on, if I can --

          4                 MR. GUPTA: A couple of months.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay.

          6                 MR. GUPTA: So, yes, we think it's

          7  very important --

          8                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: So, relatively

          9  early on in their administration they were asking

         10  questions on this? Smart people like you.

         11                 MR. GUPTA: Yes. I think both Rich

         12  Miller and Chet Advani are excellent at what they do

         13  and have done a great job over the years on these

         14  issues, and now it's really a matter of having the

         15  Mayor embrace those policies and recommendations

         16  that are being developed, but, again, until they're

         17  developed we don't know what the policy is going to

         18  be.

         19                 On the issue of the 25 percent

         20  reduction for governmental facilities, I'm more

         21  optimistic than Chet was in terms of doability, and

         22  think the costs are really going to be much, much

         23  lower. There's also, you know, the New York Power

         24  Authority provides a lot of the funding and loans

         25  for that, in terms of the up-front investment that's
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          2  going to be required for those energy efficiency

          3  savings.

          4                 Normally we estimate to save a

          5  megawatt costs about a million dollars; if you're

          6  trying to save 200 megawatts, it should be closer to

          7  $200 million, in terms of investments and the

          8  savings, of course, accrued through the life of the

          9  measures, and they are quite cost effective.

         10                 And even if there's a growth

         11  occurring to slow down the growth is worth doing as

         12  well. So, even if we can't get the full 25 percent

         13  reduction from current levels, we can get 25 percent

         14  reduction from the level that it's going to grow to,

         15  whatever it grows to, and we can have a different

         16  baseline.

         17                 But I think the idea that, you know,

         18  the energy policy really has to have as its

         19  component, not only new power plants, but cleaning

         20  up the older power plants and energy efficiency. And

         21  if you combine those things, and do it in a timely

         22  fashion, you can address all of the City energy

         23  needs.

         24                 The problem has been we have not

         25  really thought about all these issues in a
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          2  comprehensive way, and really by proposing new plan

          3  after new plan, it has created this problem of, you

          4  know, basically the only way to get an energy policy

          5  in place is to come in and say we don't want this

          6  new plant, because what people are really saying is,

          7  we want an energy policy, and that's what we haven't

          8  had.

          9                 And I think I could speak to Article

         10  10, and legislation issues and question and answer

         11  period, if you want me to, but I will stop there.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you. Thank

         13  you very much, Ashook. I have a couple of questions

         14  myself.

         15                 You spoke a little bit about the

         16  Power Authority paying for, or at least loaning

         17  money for some of these programs or whatever, and

         18  that's probably not the only program, I'm sure that

         19  there are, you know, federal and state programs,

         20  because I know the federal government, as well as

         21  the state government is interested in getting people

         22  to use less energy.

         23                 Do you think that the City is doing

         24  all that it can do in taking proper advantage of

         25  these programs that would offer it loans or
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          2  incentives or other inducements to reduce energy

          3  demand? Do you think that we're taking proper

          4  advantage of all the programs that are available to

          5  us? Or is that something that the new energy policy

          6  should speak to?

          7                 MR. GUPTA: Mr. Chairman, I look at

          8  the issue more broadly than the City government's

          9  own consumption. The question is really whether the

         10  City of New York, in terms of the private sector,

         11  you know, as well as its own usage, is really doing

         12  as much as it could be to encourage energy

         13  efficiency and take advantage of dollars, especially

         14  state dollars that are available for energy

         15  efficiency in the private sector. I think in that

         16  area there's a lot more. The City actually

         17  contributes a lot more to the energy efficiency

         18  funding than it probably takes advantage of from the

         19  state. So, this is not the governmental side, this

         20  is really everybody could take advantage of programs

         21  that we're not taking advantage of, and I think the

         22  City and all of us could do a better job of

         23  marketing those programs to make sure we're taking

         24  advantage of funds that do currently exist at the

         25  State level.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: But that could

          3  also be a role of this energy office, to make sure

          4  that the education gets out there to various

          5  entities that could benefit from it, and then

          6  everybody wins.

          7                 MR. GUPTA: Absolutely. And then I

          8  think in terms of the governmental side, it's

          9  mostly, again, the question is if you're going to

         10  stay a customer of the New York Power Authority, how

         11  do you make sure that you get as much as you can

         12  from the New York Power Authority in terms of energy

         13  efficiency investment funding.

         14                 And this is something that should be

         15  coordinated in terms of renewing the contract. So

         16  when contract renewal time comes or price is being

         17  negotiated, it's important that the City not just

         18  ask how much am I going to pay for my electricity,

         19  in terms of the rates, but also ask for a package

         20  that gets dollars for investments. This so-called

         21  billion dollars may be a lot less, could be

         22  something that could be obtained from the New York

         23  Power Authority as part of an overall contract for

         24  electricity from the Power Authority. So, I think

         25  that would be one -- or whoever you buy the
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          2  electricity from. The City doesn't have to buy it

          3  from a Power Authority, but if it chose to do so, it

          4  should negotiate a package of the lowest rate

          5  possible, and investment dollars for energy

          6  efficiency so you can have the lowest bills

          7  possible.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: I see. I also

          9  just want to backtrack for a second on one of the

         10  items you brought up in your remarks with regard to

         11  plants that have been approved but are not being

         12  built. And you indicated that the problem was

         13  obtaining financing for these plants, has that been

         14  the major impediment?

         15                 MR. GUPTA: Correct.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: I guess I want

         17  to find out what the major impediment has been, and

         18  how many situations has this happened?

         19                 MR. GUPTA: Basically in New York City

         20  right now, KeySpan's plant and Con Ed's East River

         21  plant are the two that have been approved during the

         22  process of being built.

         23                 The SCS plant in Astoria has been

         24  approved, the thousand megawatt plant over six

         25  months ago, but it still has not proceeded to be
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          2  built because of financing issues.

          3                 Then there was the Orion which was

          4  doing the repowering and had put forward an

          5  application that it has slowed down and because of

          6  financing reasons, they're not going forward as

          7  quickly as they were before. So, you have a thousand

          8  megawatt and 600 plus megawatts that would have been

          9  added that are now not happening because of

         10  financing reasons, and that some people say we need

         11  to approve plants quickly, we need to build new

         12  plants. People need to ask the question post Enron

         13  collapse and post stock market bubble bursting,

         14  there basically isn't the same financing out there

         15  that people thought there would be to build merchant

         16  plants, and the solution is similar to what we talk

         17  about on the real estate section, it's hard to build

         18  a building without anchor tenants. It's going to be

         19  hard to get financing for power plants without some

         20  long-term contracts for power from these new

         21  generators, and that means Con Edison, which buys a

         22  lot of power for its customers, City of New York,

         23  large developers who could get together and agree to

         24  buy a few hundred megawatts from some of these new

         25  generators, basically we need to figure out how to
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          2  structure contracts to buy power from new

          3  generators, if new generation is going to get

          4  financing.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: I see. I see.

          6                 Council Member Vallone has a question

          7  on that point.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Regarding the

          9  financing aspect.

         10                 Other than what you just mentioned,

         11  what are the reasons you think exist for this? What

         12  I've surmised is that many of these private

         13  companies thought they'd be competing in a private

         14  market, and now NYPA has decided, in one instance,

         15  to declare a fake emergency and build 11 mini

         16  turbines, and now to try to expand the Polletti

         17  plant in my district, NYPA has indicated that

         18  they're going to keep reducing energy.

         19                 These private companies will in

         20  effect be competing against publicly subsidized

         21  companies, and that's what I've heard. Did you have

         22  any opinion on that?

         23                 MR. GUPTA: That's also a factor. It

         24  may not be the controlling factor, but it certainly

         25  also affects the financing when you basically have a
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          2  competitor out there that is a state agency, and is

          3  also basically going to be providing power during

          4  peak times. But the private companies we're hoping

          5  for, you know, they make their money at peak, and

          6  for consumers it may be a good thing in terms of the

          7  fact that the turbines are out there, but from an

          8  investment point of view, what you are hoping to do

          9  is, you know, during most of the year you're not

         10  going to really make a lot of money, you make your

         11  money selling when the price of electricity is

         12  highest, which would be at peak times, and ability

         13  to charge as much as you thought you would at peak

         14  is no longer there because of the NYPA turbines, and

         15  so that doesn't affect the investment financing

         16  decision as well.

         17                 So, it's a factor. I'm not sure it's

         18  the controlling factor. I do think basically the

         19  idea that you could build merchant plants and you

         20  build it and people will buy your power, and I think

         21  the Enron situation and the stock market crash has

         22  really played a bigger role. But the NYPO turbine

         23  issue can't be ignored.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: I agree with

         25  you. And once something is approved and there's no
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          2  financing -- I would ask this of the Power

          3  Authority, I'm asking of you because I know -- and

          4  they're not here, and I know you're an expert and I

          5  thank you for all the help you've given CHOCE and

          6  this Committee in the past, and thank you for being

          7  here.

          8                 But once it's approved and there's no

          9  financing, is there an expiration date on these

         10  approvals? What happens under the Article 10 law?

         11                 MR. GUPTA: I think the Article 10

         12  certificate does not have an expiration, but the air

         13  and water permits do, is my understanding.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Do you know

         15  how long that would be?

         16                 MR. GUPTA: I don't know, but I can

         17  get back to you on that.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Thank you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: So, they can go

         20  stale, theoretically, I guess, just like any permit?

         21                 MR. GUPTA: Yes. They can be renewed

         22  quite easily, too.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay.

         24                 So, what I think I'm hearing, it's

         25  almost like, what if the market were to fluctuate or

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            88

          1  COMMITTEE ON ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

          2  change such that it did not support building of new

          3  power plants in New York City? Like, you know, we've

          4  got a couple that are going up and others can't

          5  really get financing or whatever, and if

          6  marketplace, and financing schemes and so on don't

          7  really permit these new plants to go forward, I

          8  guess what's your view of that, in general? And what

          9  happens to the 80 percent rule in that case?

         10                 MR. GUPTA: Well, I think quickly the

         11  Public Service Commission and others are going to

         12  have to reevaluate this idea that, you know,

         13  merchant plants would be built and financed by the

         14  marketplace.

         15                 If it's not happening, then we would

         16  need to develop other policies to make sure that

         17  investment is there to build power plants.

         18                 I think this goes back to this issue

         19  of we need to have a policy, in terms of building

         20  new plants, cleaning up old plants and energy

         21  efficiency, and the policy solution is a fairly

         22  simple one, in terms of give the right incentives

         23  for Con Edison to sign some long-term contracts with

         24  new generators.

         25                 So, it's just a matter of when the
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          2  PSC decides that that is the way to go --

          3                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: That could

          4  change the marketplace.

          5                 MR. GUPTA: Yes. Getting some

          6  long-term contracts allows you to get the financing.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: What are the

          8  prospects for more transmission capacity into New

          9  York City; is that something way, way down the road?

         10                 MR. GUPTA: There are proposals.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: What's your view

         12  of that.

         13                 MR. GUPTA: There are proposals that

         14  are before the state on transmission. The question

         15  is, again, on financing, you know, is it something

         16  that is financeable at which partly dependent on

         17  what rates can you charge for your transmission,

         18  and, so, I think it's an investment decision.

         19                 I think it will be hard to get

         20  financing for transmission lines, but there are some

         21  proposals that are now being considered for

         22  approval, so there are --

         23                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: I see. So,

         24  people do want to do this. You don't hear as much

         25  about that as you do new plants.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            90

          1  COMMITTEE ON ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

          2                 MR. GUPTA: We can get you more

          3  information on that, too.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay, I'd

          5  appreciate that.

          6                 And my final question is, with regard

          7  to Article 10 itself, of course it's coming up for

          8  review, it's due to expire and so on. If you could

          9  change Article 10 in any significant way or ways,

         10  what would they be?

         11                 MR. GUPTA: I think the major issues

         12  in Article 10 that we're looking for is that there

         13  should be a requirement to look at the environmental

         14  justice impacts, in terms of, you know, the impact

         15  on certain communities and overburdened communities.

         16  Particulate, fine particulates, PM 2.5 as it's

         17  called, that impact analysis should be required as

         18  part of Article 10. Cumulative impacts with the

         19  City.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: They don't have

         21  that now? They don't do PM 2.5 as part of the impact

         22  analysis?

         23                 MR. GUPTA: No. And I think cumulative

         24  impact analysis of the City's DEP does require it.

         25  It's not a requirement under Article 10. We'd want
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          2  to make that be part of the article 10 requirements.

          3                 I think the issue of repowering, as

          4  was done by Assemblyman Ginaris, has to be redone

          5  again because it is being altered in the Governor's

          6  bill, and we prefer the version that Assemblyman

          7  Ginaris has had.

          8                 And, lastly, this idea of financing

          9  that I've been talking about, we think should be

         10  addressed as part of the Article 10 bill also, in

         11  order to not talk about just getting plants approved

         12  but to also deal with the financing issue, and we

         13  have proposed, and the Assembly bill has a section

         14  that basically moves the PSC in the right direction,

         15  in terms of providing the right incentives for Con

         16  Edison to actually start buying power from new

         17  generators.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Do you think, as

         19  currently configured, that local governments have

         20  enough say in the Article 10 process? Or are we

         21  bystanders? Do you think that local governments

         22  should have more of a say in the siting of power

         23  plants. We're asking you all kinds of things that

         24  are way out here, but, you know, I'm just used to

         25  asking you all kinds of things.
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          2                 MR. GUPTA: Yes. I'd generally agree

          3  that the process doesn't give you a lot of, you

          4  know, ability to change the outcome --

          5                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Right.

          6                 MR. GUPTA: -- Or influence the

          7  outcome. And I think, I guess one could spend a lot

          8  of time trying to change that. That's not been an

          9  area we've, you know, spent a lot of time on because

         10  I didn't think it would really probably result in

         11  very much even if they changed that process.

         12                 So, I think trying to make the

         13  process a little bit better, but then focusing on

         14  the broader policy issues is what we've done, so I

         15  think in the end the issue of large new power plants

         16  and where they're sited is more complicated than

         17  trying to look at a single plant --

         18                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Right.

         19                 MR. GUPTA: -- And look at its

         20  environmental impacts. Because if you can't have a

         21  broader discussion about other new plants and the

         22  older plants at the same time, it leads to only one

         23  outcome, that these new plants are actually very,

         24  very clean, and how do you stop a new clean plant

         25  from going in?
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          2                 And, so, what we again need is an

          3  energy policy that's put that new plant in a context

          4  of all the other things that are going on, and as

          5  long as you stay focused on, you know, should we or

          6  shouldn't we build this new plant, you're not going

          7  to get the right answer.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Certainly. But

          9  then, in looking at certain sections of the City,

         10  like, you know, Peter's district, I mean to see that

         11  kind of situation play itself out, it's a little --

         12                 MR. GUPTA: And we've always said, the

         13  key issue of air is the really, really old plants

         14  that have been there for a long time, and you could

         15  even get more capacity, and much, much lower

         16  pollution if there was an overall strategy. And I

         17  think, you know, CHOCE and other groups have totally

         18  understood that. The problem they know is not new

         19  plants, it's the fact that even if you build a new

         20  plant, you don't know what's going to happen to the

         21  old ones, and you could double the capacity and have

         22  half the pollution if there was an overall strategy,

         23  but there is no overall plan for the area and that's

         24  what causes the opposition of the new plants.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you.
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          2                 I'd also like to recognize the

          3  presence of Council Member Bill DeBlasio, from

          4  Brooklyn.

          5                 Welcome. Nice to have you.

          6                 And my last question, although other

          7  people may have questions for you, has to do with

          8  the amount of power that conservation programs can

          9  realistically save over the next five years.

         10                 I think you touched on it briefly. I

         11  think something on the order of at least ten

         12  percent, without really breaking a sweat. Cost

         13  effect, off-the-shelf.

         14                 MR. GUPTA: Exactly. I think a

         15  thousand megawatts should be a goal, and I think the

         16  City's energy policy should do everything to try to

         17  achieve that goal through a variety of measures.

         18  It's combination, you know, a lot of policies and

         19  strategies that need to go into that, but I think a

         20  ten percent 1,000 megawatts from efficiency is a

         21  realistic goal for the next five years.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: And your major

         23  comment, if I could just summarize, with regard to

         24  Intro. 158, that you don't think necessarily this

         25  energy policy office should be housed in any
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          2  particular agency, stand alone office, similar to

          3  like the Mayor's Office of Contracts used to be or

          4  whatever, that kind of thing, or the way it used to

          5  exist back when you were there.

          6                 MR. GUPTA: Right. It can be kept very

          7  small, but since it plays the role of coordination,

          8  because it is so many different issues that

          9  implicate energy policy, I think having it as a

         10  Mayor's office would be my recommendation, having

         11  worked in one many years ago, I do that was the

         12  model that worked. So, I think that would be my

         13  recommendation.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you.

         15                 MR. GUPTA: Absolutely necessary to

         16  have one though.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you. Thank

         18  you, Mr. Gupta.

         19                 Other questions for this witness?

         20                 Ashok, thanks very much. Appreciate

         21  it.

         22                 MR. GUPTA: Thank you very much.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you.

         24                 Okay, we have the next in line, it

         25  will be the KeySpan representatives. Looks like
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          2  David Manning and Pamela Adamo. Am I saying that

          3  right? Pamela Adamo?

          4                 MS. ADAMO: Yes.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Welcome. I just

          6  want to give a heads up that the next witness after

          7  this will be the folks from 1st Rochdale

          8  Cooperative, to be followed by Con Ed.

          9                 Thank you very much. I appreciate

         10  your being here today, and we're going to put you

         11  through the same ritual as the other witnesses, and,

         12  so, I'll call upon Donna to do the oath thing.

         13                 MS. DeCOSTANZO: Can you please raise

         14  your right hand.

         15                 In the testimony that you're about to

         16  give, do you swear or affirm to tell the truth, the

         17  whole truth and nothing but the truth?

         18                 MR. MANNING: I do.

         19                 MS. ADAMO: I do.

         20                 MS. DeCOSTANZO: Thank you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you very

         22  much. Appreciate it. Thank you very much for being

         23  here. Thanks for your patience. Thanks for

         24  everybody's patience. The hearing is running a

         25  little long, we going to try to move it along as
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          2  best we can. I'd just like to ask you to identify

          3  yourself for the record, and proceed with your

          4  testimony. Thank you for being here.

          5                 MR. MANNING: Thank you. My name is

          6  David Manning thank you., from KeySpan.

          7                 MS. ADAMO: Pam Adamo, from KeySpan.

          8                 MR. MANNING: I'm from Corporate

          9  Affairs in KeySpan and Pam is from Community, which,

         10  of course, is critical to any siting or development

         11  of power generation.

         12                 Thank you, Mr. Chairman, and members

         13  of Council. We very much appreciate your interest in

         14  taking your time and hearing us.

         15                 For those of you who do not know,

         16  KeySpan is a relatively new name for a very old

         17  company. Our origins are the Brooklyn Union Gas

         18  Company, which has now grown to be the largest, one

         19  of the largest energy companies in the north east,

         20  and our primary businesses are the distribution of

         21  gas, the provision, the generation of electric power

         22  and energy services. On any given day, and of course

         23  our head office base is right across the river in

         24  Brooklyn, where it shall remain, and we're very

         25  proud of that.
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          2                 Just a quick snapshot. Our role here

          3  today, KeySpan provides on any given day about 25

          4  percent of the electric power used in New York City.

          5  We are the largest investor-owned power generator in

          6  New York State.

          7                 NYPA generates more power than we do.

          8  We are number two behind NYPA in total generation.

          9                 Just about all of the power that's

         10  used on Long Island is generated by KeySpan plants,

         11  and as I indicated, about 2,200 megawatts is our

         12  capacity within the City of New York.

         13                 So, as such, we are probably one of

         14  the largest within the City of what I would call the

         15  merchant providers. So, we provide our power to New

         16  Yorkers through the system of Con Ed. We do not

         17  maintain an electric distribution service in the

         18  City. We are, however, the operators under contract

         19  at the Long Island Power Authority system on Long

         20  Island.

         21                 And I'm not anxious to take issue

         22  with my friend, Mr. Miller, but I would like to --

         23                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: That's okay. Go

         24  ahead. Go ahead.

         25                 MR. MANNING: I would like to address
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          2  the urgency of this hearing, and I want to commend

          3  you for the hearing, because we do believe it is

          4  urgent. I would not use the word "crisis," but as he

          5  pointed out, there's 8,532 megawatts required under

          6  the 80 percent rule in New York City, we have

          7  available today 8,700.

          8                 The reason that is fairly lean is

          9  because these are all mechanical devices. Just one

         10  quick anecdote. I was talking to two individuals who

         11  have been in this business a long time, 25 and 30

         12  years respectively, although not in New York. Both

         13  had a career goal of building a major transmission

         14  line. One in California, one in the midwest.

         15                 Both were still working for their

         16  employers, neither had been able to achieve that

         17  goal. They've been working for over two decades to

         18  site a transmission line.

         19                 That's one of the issues. We're not

         20  in the transmission business ourselves, other than

         21  maintaining those lines owned by others, so this is

         22  not something that I can address thoroughly. But

         23  that is a real issue for 80 percent in the City.

         24                 The other issue, of course, is that

         25  July 6th of last year we had a very hot week, and by
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          2  the 10th of July, the entire east coast, north, east

          3  coastal are was on something called voltage

          4  reduction. Your last step before a blackout is you

          5  actually reduce the voltage within your system.

          6                 It's not visible to those in terms of

          7  lightning and whatnot, but for mechanical customers,

          8  for those operating machinery, it can cause damage.

          9  That's the last step you make before you actually

         10  have to start shutting down your load. And that was

         11  taking place all the way from the area right down to

         12  Washington, D.C., to North of Boston. The entire

         13  region went down. We had, the Long Island Power

         14  Authority had fixed contracts from Connecticut,

         15  there was space on their cable, the power was simply

         16  not available in what Connecticut produces to follow

         17  through on that contract. So, it was very tight.

         18                 This year we've had significant

         19  failures of undersea pipelines, power lines or

         20  cables.

         21                 The Long Island Power Authority lost

         22  two of its three cables to Fire Island just two

         23  weeks ago. And some of you may know that that's a

         24  fairly noisy clientele, and heading into a summer

         25  weekend with only one cable of three, and we had to
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          2  build in three days an eight megawatt power plant

          3  with temporary units on the backs of trucks. We had

          4  to build it in the Robert Moses State Park parking

          5  lot in a period of three days to power up for the

          6  weekend.

          7                 So, that's the kind of work we're

          8  doing this summer, is quite urgent.

          9                 The loss of the Y49 and Y50 cables is

         10  very significant, including for the City, and when

         11  one of those cables tripped, it tripped just after

         12  the heat wave of the 4th of July.

         13                 So, had that cable gone out on the

         14  4th of July or the day prior, it may have had more

         15  significant consequences, in part because our own

         16  Ravenswood plant was damaged by the loss of that

         17  cable. There was impact to the system. We were able

         18  to get it repaired, once again, it was an issue of

         19  timing.

         20                 So, that raises the issue of what's

         21  the response.

         22                 I just want to set the context that

         23  this is, in fact, a very real issue for this Council

         24  and for this City, because you do not want the

         25  message going out of New York City that there is any
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          2  lack or reliability.

          3                 And I appreciate the efforts that

          4  you're taking, the efforts of Con Ed, the efforts of

          5  the City, but it is difficult to build a plant, and

          6  I will not go back over the ground that Ashok

          7  covered. Mr. Gupta was quite accurate. There are a

          8  number of plants that are in fact approved or close

          9  to approval, but as I understand it today, and

         10  again, I recognize that I'm under oath, but within

         11  my knowledge, I believe our Ravenswood expansion is

         12  the only merchant plant which is presently under

         13  construction in New York City.

         14                 Con Ed, as you heard, are building a

         15  plant, it's more of a steam plant, and I believe it

         16  has other financial arrangements, but ours is being

         17  built into the merchant marketplace. And the way

         18  we've achieved that, and it's required a lot of

         19  cooperation from the community, as Pam can attest,

         20  in fact, the Ravenswood plant was acquired by us a

         21  couple of years ago. It was running about a 65

         22  percent reliability faction. It was on about 65

         23  percent of the time, it was available about 65

         24  percent of the time. We have increased that to 95

         25  percent availability, and in order to make room for
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          2  a new 250 megawatt plant, we, in fact, spent $16

          3  million on the old plant, making room within the

          4  emissions equip.

          5                 But let me just talk very quickly

          6  about why we need to do this, and I know the time is

          7  tight.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Please.

          9                 MR. MANNING: Part of it is the choice

         10  of technology. We need new technologies in terms of

         11  distributed generation --

         12                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: You just said

         13  that you wanted to talk about like you need to do

         14  this; and what do you mean by "this"?

         15                 MR. MANNING: What's important is to

         16  provide new generation to the City. So, first leg of

         17  your stool was conservation clearly, which is why

         18  we're here, we'd like to speak to that for two

         19  minutes.

         20                 Number two is new technologies such

         21  as fuel cells. We are the largest servicer of fuel

         22  cells in the United States. We installed the first

         23  fuel cells in Staten Island in the early seventies.

         24                 Number three, new power generation.

         25                 There is a plant, and there are
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          2  plants like this in the US, there is a new plant

          3  that has gone up in Washington State. The natural

          4  gas supply goes in the front end, it runs a gas fire

          5  turbine that makes electricity for Spokane.

          6                 Then the heat from the back end heats

          7  a boiler. That boiler produces steam which goes and

          8  runs a second turbine. So, there you have combined

          9  cycle. You have two sources of power, and that, of

         10  course, is how you get repowering. You want to

         11  create those two sources of power.

         12                 Then the steam goes out the back end

         13  of the plant to a McDonald's frenchfry factory. It

         14  blows the skin off the potatoes, it runs the

         15  slicers, it runs the fryer, it runs the freezer, it

         16  cycles back into the power plant. That's combined

         17  cycle. So, that's maximizing the energy in the fuel

         18  source.

         19                 That's the kind of technology that

         20  New York should not lose out on, because there is a

         21  large steam system within New York City.

         22                 It's not just building new plants,

         23  it's building the right choice of plants, not

         24  necessarily just simple cycle peaking plants, but we

         25  need new baseload plants.
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          2                 Turning to conservation. Conservation

          3  is not just a matter of slowing down elevators,

          4  eliminating some escalators, turning down the

          5  lights, those are not sustainable answers. Those are

          6  not long-term solutions. What New Yorkers will

          7  expect is new technologies, such as combined heat

          8  and power, where power is generated on site.

          9                 Lower Manhattan is an ideal

         10  opportunity to showcase new technologies, where the

         11  power generated could not only come from the grid

         12  from also new buildings, new construction, can

         13  integrate power generation where the heat from that

         14  power generation is captured, and your efficiency

         15  rates, can go from 30 to 35 percent, in existing

         16  older plants, into the 60s and 70 percent efficiency

         17  rates.

         18                 So, that's what you need to do. New

         19  technology. Zero emission technologies, like fuel

         20  cells, but they need to be encouraged, and number

         21  three, of course, new generation. It's going to

         22  include repowering, but you cannot take power

         23  off-line to repower, to gut a plant and to repower

         24  it, unless you have a surplus. Of course right now

         25  my argument is New York is very tight, you can't
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          2  realistically enter into a repowering scenario until

          3  we have a surplus.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: So, the fact

          5  that we're so close to that 80 percent margin, we

          6  really have no power that we're able to sort of take

          7  off line in order to do repowering?

          8                 MR. MANNING: The plants that really

          9  need to be repowered are critical to the power needs

         10  during the summer.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Right.

         12                 MR. MANNING: And one of the

         13  challenges for us that we're looking at now is a way

         14  to repower during the winter cycle, and at this

         15  point in time I don't believe it's possible to fully

         16  repower a plant within the eight-month period when

         17  the plant may not be critical --

         18                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Right.

         19                 MR. MANNING: Because the summer load

         20  is the criminal time.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Sure.

         22                 Even if it was just like one unit of

         23  a plant at a time, or whatever, I guess it would

         24  take too long ultimately to do that?

         25                 MR. MANNING: Yes. What you basically
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          2  do is you install a generator in the front end of an

          3  existing plant.

          4                 An old simple cycle plant now is

          5  basically a tea kettle. The water makes steam, runs

          6  a generator. You want to replace the front end of

          7  that plant, and, of course, it depends on the

          8  configuration of the plant whether you can do that.

          9                 But, you're right. The Ravenswood

         10  plant, for instance, has three separate major

         11  turbines, the largest one is Big Alice, that alone

         12  is 900 megawatts. So, that's the vulnerability. So,

         13  Ashok talked about trying to save 1,000 megawatts

         14  over a period of five years, if we have a mechanical

         15  failure and lose one generator of that scale, you

         16  can imagine the impact on the City.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay, thank you

         18  very much.

         19                 MS. MANNING: If I could just have Pam

         20  briefly address that middle chunk, which is new

         21  technologies in conservation.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Yes. We're going

         23  to wait for the testimony and then we're going to

         24  have questions from myself and some members.

         25                 Go ahead.
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          2                 MS. ADAMO: Okay. I'd just like to add

          3  to the conservation point.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: And then we'll

          5  ask questions of both of you.

          6                 MS. ADAMO: Great.

          7                 MR. MANNING: Thank you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: As I said

          9  before, I'm Pam Adamo, the new Director of Community

         10  Relations at KeySpan, and I also speak as a new

         11  resident of New York City.

         12                 I, too, applaud the efforts of

         13  Council to address solutions around energy

         14  conservation.

         15                 I just want to make you aware of one

         16  thing that my team is doing and hoping to take a

         17  leadership role here in conservation.

         18                 We have a 30-year-old program which

         19  some of you may be aware of, which is called the

         20  Cinderella Program at KeySpan, which was established

         21  30 years ago to refurbish some of the brownstones in

         22  Brooklyn.

         23                 We are looking to take that program

         24  and spin it to promote green building. Especially,

         25  for those of you who don't know the definition for
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          2  "green building," which is the design and

          3  construction of practices that reduce or eliminate

          4  the negative impact of buildings on the environment,

          5  and at the same time address energy efficiency using

          6  technology like fuel cells.

          7                 We are looking to build partnerships

          8  with builders in the communities that we serve,

          9  especially around affordable housing to build green

         10  buildings, by providing grants to these builders to

         11  promote green building.

         12                 So, I just wanted to make you aware

         13  of that, and I would be more than happy to work with

         14  the Council and if there is a committee created to

         15  help to promote this piece.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you. Thank

         17  you very much. I appreciate it.

         18                 Council Member Vallone.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Thank you,

         20  Mr. Chair. Thank you both for coming down and

         21  sharing your expertise. Unfortunately, I was part of

         22  the group that did not support your extension in my

         23  neighborhood with your "Big Alice" plant and the new

         24  250 megawatt extension.

         25                 Be that as it may, I'd like to pick
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          2  your brain for a second. You said in your testimony,

          3  at least in the written testimony, that two of the

          4  power transmission cables which bring power here

          5  from "Mainland New York," is what you call it,

          6  failed this summer. I was not aware of that. When

          7  did that happen?

          8                 MR. MANNING: There have actually been

          9  two incidents. There are two cables; one cable is

         10  owned by the New York Power Authority, one cable is

         11  owned by Con Ed and the Long Island Power Authority,

         12  and we, of course, maintain the LIPA portion of that

         13  cable.

         14                 One supplies exclusively Long Island,

         15  the other supplies both New York City and Long

         16  Island.

         17                 It's very tricky, because these are

         18  under-sea power cables that are encased in concrete

         19  and steel. Con Ed did a tremendous job doing the

         20  repairs, but the challenge, of course, is that those

         21  are long stretches of cable. That cable is very

         22  sophisticated, and they had to replace a very

         23  substantial piece of cable which I'm sure they could

         24  speak to.

         25                 Our point is that those cables are
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          2  not new.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: What's that?

          4                 MR. MANNING: The cables are not new.

          5  Much of the infrastructure has been, you know,

          6  within our plants and whatnot has been maintained

          7  and upgraded, but I think I mention that because the

          8  importance of the 80 percent rule is in fact the

          9  limiting transmission capability, and the fact that

         10  you have to protect the City from failures in

         11  transmission. Because it is a very complex system to

         12  maintain.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: That's why

         14  that rule exists, because of the uncertainty of this

         15  mainland power.

         16                 You said that the cables are old, and

         17  I think if we could get to the bottom of this

         18  transmission problem we might be able to work

         19  ourself out from under this 80 percent rule a little

         20  bit.

         21                 You're responsible for maintaining

         22  the New York Power Authority cable, is that what you

         23  said?

         24                 MR. MANNING: We maintain the Long

         25  Island Power Authority portion, yes. The power
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          2  coming off one of those two cables is shared between

          3  the Con Ed system and the Long Island Power

          4  Authority system. So, as a result, when that

          5  particular cable went down, it was power from the

          6  Long Island Power Authority on Long Island and for

          7  Con Ed, within the City of New York.

          8                 It actually answers Long Island but

          9  then backfeeds through Jamaica to feed their system,

         10  and it's an effective and diverse source of power

         11  generation, but it just exemplifies why it's

         12  necessary to, in fact, address these new plants.

         13                 And one of the ways that we were able

         14  to do Ravenswood, as you well know with our work

         15  with CHOCE and with the NRDC, was that we had to

         16  make room within the emissions of the older plant,

         17  we had to make room to an equivalent of 350

         18  megawatts of emissions to make room for a 250

         19  megawatt plant. And I'm confident that had we not

         20  done that, there would have been significantly more

         21  opposition within the Article 10 process to that

         22  expansion.

         23                 The Ravenswood plant that is going

         24  forward is being built in a footprint of less than

         25  three acres. We're building this plant literally in
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          2  the parking lot of the existing plant. We are

          3  lifting 76,000 tons of cooling equipment onto the

          4  roof of the plant because we cannot do once-through

          5  cooling.

          6                 So, I'm not complaining, I'm just

          7  saying new generation within the City of New York,

          8  as I'm sure you're aware, is very complex, not just

          9  from a community standpoint but also from a cost and

         10  technical standpoint.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: And I have to

         12  applaud those actions. Again, our position always

         13  was that old plant could be cleaned up, regardless

         14  of whether you put the new plant in or not, and the

         15  new plant has no business in my district. And the

         16  larger picture, the newer, cleaner plants are

         17  needed, just not all in the same location.

         18                 Back to those cables. How old are

         19  those cables?

         20                 MR. MANNING: They vary in age, much

         21  of the cable which supplies New York City now has

         22  been reconstructed. So, Con Ed, and they can speak

         23  to this, Con Ed did about a 3,000 foot replacement

         24  where they actually pulled the cable and replaced

         25  it.
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          2                 The Long Island portion, the Long

          3  Island Power Authority portion of that cable had

          4  been replaced last year. So, much of that cable now,

          5  it is a long cable that goes point to point and it

          6  literally goes from island to island or rock to rock

          7  within the Long Island Sound. So much of that cable

          8  now has been replaced, but that cable, I believe,

          9  probably would have been something in the order of

         10  20 or 30 years of age.

         11                 Some of the --

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: How long is

         13  the cable?

         14                 MR. MANNING: Con Ed, I'm sure, could

         15  answer that question.

         16                 But I do know that the section that

         17  was replaced, because you can only replace it

         18  between two points where you can access it by

         19  manholes, that that piece I believe was 2,600 feet

         20  or something in that range.

         21                 The entire cable runs all the way

         22  from Westchester to Long Island, so it's much longer

         23  than that.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: And they've

         25  only replaced a half mile is what you're telling me.
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          2                 MR. MANNING: Yes.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: That concerns

          4  me, considering the fact it's already failed. I

          5  guess I'll direct my questions at them, though.

          6                 MR. MANNING: Yes, I would prefer it.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: You would

          8  prefer it.

          9                 It's getting late, so I'll let the

         10  other Council members ask questions. Thank you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you,

         12  Council Member Vallone.

         13                 I will recognize Council Member

         14  Jennings.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER JENNINGS: Could you

         16  tell me what alternative research are you doing in

         17  alternative energy?

         18                 MR. MANNING: Well, alternative

         19  energy, by our definition, takes in a number of

         20  approaches.

         21                 We have funded and co-funded up to 15

         22  natural gas fuel vehicles. I notice that the Council

         23  is considering reducing all fuel use, not just

         24  electric power. It's an ambitious goal, but

         25  certainly our company, we believe, has taken a

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            116

          1  COMMITTEE ON ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

          2  leadership in this area, and alternative fuel

          3  vehicles with natural gas. Particularly natural gas

          4  buses. We operate one of the largest natural gas

          5  vehicle fleets in the United States ourselves, and

          6  we have, as I indicated, we have natural gas fueling

          7  depots throughout Brooklyn. So, that's step number

          8  one.

          9                 Number two would be fuel cells. Fuel

         10  cells are not cheap. The NASDAQ sign, I don't know

         11  if you've taken the time to look at the NASDAQ sign

         12  in Times Square, the curving sign on the CondeNaste

         13  building. That sign is 38 million pixels, it's the

         14  most advanced sign of its type in the world. They

         15  insisted that that sign be a green sign. So it's

         16  powered by two fuel cells which were installed in

         17  our service by KeySpan. So there was a cheaper

         18  alternative, but the developer and the owner of the

         19  building insisted on fuel cell technology.

         20                 So, fuel cells, of course, do not

         21  emission. It's not combustion. The natural gas fuel

         22  source is converted to energy through a chemical

         23  process, and that would be another key opportunity.

         24                 But we also, of course, have been

         25  installing and working with others to install
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          2  microturbines. Those are still hydrocarbon based,

          3  they're much more efficient.

          4                 Pam.

          5                 MS. ADAMO: And this is exactly the

          6  type of technology that I'm talking about that

          7  developers should use a sense of social

          8  responsibility to adapt to green building.

          9                 MR. MANNING: Our best example

         10  actually is the Montefiore Medical Center in the

         11  Bronx. That's a total of five megawatts there, and

         12  the trick is, while it is not alternative fuel, it's

         13  in fact fuel by natural gas. It has been taken off

         14  the grid, and the purpose, of course, in that kind

         15  of -- that's more distributed generation than

         16  alternative fuel. But all of the heat which is

         17  captured by the power generation within that

         18  building, goes into maintaining its hot water supply

         19  and heating the building itself, and, of course,

         20  also steam powered air conditioning.

         21                 So, natural gas-powered air

         22  conditioning, and distributed generation such as

         23  those turbines at Montefiore, those are examples of

         24  where you can take pressure off the grid, which

         25  reduces the need for new power plants in Queens,
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          2  reduces the need for grid upgrades. It certainly

          3  wouldn't displace the entire system as we see it, of

          4  course not, but these are opportunities for

          5  innovation that New York should not miss.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER JENNINGS: What's the

          7  difference between the cost, when you mentioned

          8  fueling the buses, for example, versus petroleum and

          9  your natural gas, what's the cost savings? Is it

         10  more expensive than natural gas, and how much more

         11  expensive is it?

         12                 MR. MANNING: Well, the price of gas

         13  and oil move largely together, because there is a

         14  lot of fuel switchability in industrial load in the

         15  United States. So, if you have a large spike in the

         16  price of oil, because of OPEC (phonetic), for

         17  instance, a lot of companies will switch over to

         18  natural gas, and, of course, that creates a load,

         19  and the price of gas goes up. It's supply and

         20  demand.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER JENNINGS: On a given

         22  day, which fuel source costs the less?

         23                 MR. MANNING: It really does vary. On

         24  occasion, gas will be more expensive than oil, but,

         25  of course, the reason why we have promoted natural
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          2  gas vehicle buses, is because of the emissions

          3  question. The emissions of particularly particulate

          4  matter, nitric oxide, smog-forming chemicals are

          5  much, much lower than natural gas. So, it's really

          6  more of an emissions play, but the price, natural

          7  gas could be cheaper in any given year, and I

          8  believe it is currently.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER JENNINGS: Cheaper than

         10  petroleum currently?

         11                 MR. MANNING: I believe it is. But I

         12  could be wrong. As I indicated, there's a back and

         13  forth in terms of which is the more cost effective

         14  fuel. So, it's a marginal difference.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER JENNINGS: One last

         16  question in regards to, you have never discussed

         17  solar energy. Are you doing any research regarding

         18  solar energy for powering homes?

         19                 MR. MANNING: Yes. We do have a

         20  relationship with SUNY Farmingdale, which is on Long

         21  Island. They are acquired the NYSERDA solar farm. We

         22  are in discussions with a couple of wind power

         23  companies now, we're working with -- wind power and

         24  solar is very difficult for the City of New York,

         25  just because of the space component.
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          2                 We're working with the Chinacogation

          3  (phonetic) on Long Island to try and place some wind

          4  power for them. So, yes, we are very interested in

          5  those technologies. That's particularly challenging

          6  to the City of New York just because of space.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: We're going to

          8  have to move it along.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER JENNINGS: One more

         10  question.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Give us the last

         12  question.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER JENNINGS: I don't know

         14  if you're the right person to ask this question, but

         15  regarding solar energy, for example, if you wanted

         16  to convert a home to solar energy, what would the

         17  cost be in doing that?

         18                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Just let me

         19  point out, please give a brief question. This is not

         20  like a general oversight hearing on people or how

         21  people can retrofit their homes, and, so, just the

         22  basics.

         23                 MR. MANNING: At the moment solar

         24  power homes would not be cost effective to a

         25  consumer without some sort of subsidy or incentive.
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          2  And my argument would be that subsidies and

          3  incentives are good ideas. The Long Island Power

          4  Authority is using state funds to do just that. A

          5  number of people are actually installing solar

          6  panels. They get the right to do so in a lottery

          7  system.

          8                 I do know that there has been some

          9  private application solar panels, but it's been very

         10  expensive and of course it varies by the application

         11  and the size of the home.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER JENNINGS: Thank you.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you very

         14  much. I appreciate it very much. And we had a little

         15  bit of a change. The next witness is the

         16  representatives of Con Ed, Joseph Oates. To be

         17  followed by the folks from 1st Rochdale.

         18                 Okay, thanks very much.

         19                 Mr. Oates, we will have Donna place

         20  you under oath.

         21                 MS. DeCOSTANZO: Thank you. In the

         22  testimony that you're about to give, do you swear or

         23  affirm to tell the truth, the whole truth and

         24  nothing but the truth?

         25                 MR. OATES: I do.
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          2                 MS. DeCOSTANZO: Thank you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you, Mr.

          4  Oates. It's a pleasure to have you here.

          5                 Welcome. State your name for the

          6  record and proceed with your testimony.

          7                 MR. OATES: Okay. My name is Joseph P.

          8  Oates.

          9                 Good afternoon, Chairman Gennaro, and

         10  members of the Environmental Protection Committee.

         11                 I'm the Vice President for Energy

         12  Management at Con Edison. Thank you for providing us

         13  with this opportunity to share our comments on the

         14  City's energy supply situation.

         15                 My Department is responsible for

         16  forecasting our customers' energy needs and then

         17  procuring both electricity and gas for those

         18  customers who have chosen to use Con Edison as their

         19  energy supplier.

         20                 I'm not going to read my entire

         21  testimony, I'm going to summarize briefly some of

         22  the major points on demand and supply issues.

         23                 Last year New York City consumers did

         24  a new record for electricity demand of 12,207

         25  megawatts on August 9th during an extended heat
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          2  wave. This demand exceeded our forecast of 12,025

          3  megawatts. Before this summer we had forecasted the

          4  peak demand to be -- excuse me. For this summer we

          5  had forecasted a demand for electricity to be 12,225

          6  megawatts, which is about the same as last year's

          7  record demand.

          8                 Basically, we thought that the

          9  economic slowdown and the after effects of September

         10  11th would offset growth.

         11                 Despite our early predictions, there

         12  were reports in the media earlier this year that the

         13  demand for electricity would decline this summer,

         14  due to the combined impacts of slower economy, and

         15  destroyed buildings in Lower Manhattan. Our

         16  experience this year demonstrates the exact

         17  opposite. The demand for electricity has been just

         18  as strong.

         19                 Four of our top ten highest demand

         20  days have occurred this summer. Our peak to date

         21  this summer occurred on July 3rd, and had it not

         22  been the day before the holiday, Con Edison would

         23  have established a new all-time record for

         24  electricity demand significantly above our forecast

         25  for this summer.
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          2                 So, for us it is clear that the

          3  demand for electricity continues to grow and the

          4  City needs additional energy supply to meet the

          5  ever-increasing needs of New Yorkers.

          6                 Fortunately, this year's supply

          7  situation is slightly better than last year, since

          8  all supplies were available at the start of the

          9  summer season, as opposed to last year when nearly

         10  500 megawatts of additional supplies were not

         11  available at the beginning of the summer.

         12                 However, an extended heat wave is

         13  always a challenge to our system. Over the next five

         14  years we forecast peak demands grow about 1.3

         15  percent a year on average, resulting in additional

         16  demand of 700 megawatts by 2006. One megawatt

         17  supplies approximately 1,000 average homes.

         18                 We also believe that there is a total

         19  need for 2,000 to 3,000 megawatts of new generating

         20  capacity to meet projected increases in demand, to

         21  allow for the retirement of older, less efficiency

         22  power plants, something which some previous speakers

         23  have spent some time talking about. And finally, to

         24  protect consumers from pricing volatility that can

         25  result when the demand for electricity gets close to

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            125

          1  COMMITTEE ON ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

          2  or exceeds available supply.

          3                 Just to remind you, Con Edison has

          4  sold most of our power plants as part of the

          5  restructuring process, but we continue to work with

          6  all parties to help ensure that we have adequate

          7  supplies of power in the City for the long term.

          8                 Con Edison also needs to, and is

          9  committed to, continuing our investment in the

         10  energy infrastructure to ensure the adequacy of this

         11  infrastructure to New York City and to meet our goal

         12  of continuing to improve the most reliable energy

         13  distribution system in the country. The City needs a

         14  robust and reliable electric system and our

         15  customers demand it.

         16                 That's all the comments I had. I will

         17  be happy to take any questions you have.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you. Thank

         19  you very much. I appreciate your being here. And

         20  although the question I'm going to ask right now is

         21  not so much the topic of the hearing, I'm going to

         22  give myself just a little bit of latitude, but I

         23  guess in the next one minute or 90 seconds or two

         24  minutes or whatever, just run over what happened the

         25  last couple of days on the Lower East Side, and how
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          2  you're able to fix it, and how this type of thing is

          3  -- the steps that are going to be taken to try to

          4  make sure this doesn't happen again.

          5                 Again, it's not really the subject of

          6  today's hearing, but it certainly is in everyone's

          7  mind, and I just thought I'd dedicate a minute or

          8  two to it just to give you the chance to speak on

          9  that.

         10                 MR. OATES: Okay, I can briefly

         11  describe for you what happened. I'll keep it high

         12  level.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Sure.

         14                 MR. OATES: That's not usually my area

         15  of responsibility.

         16                 What happened was we had the failure

         17  we think of a transformer, step-up transformer at

         18  East River substation, which then caused a fire.

         19                 As part of that fire, it knocked out

         20  some other wiring that controls some of the cable

         21  that then supply some substations in Lower

         22  Manhattan, knocking those cables out of service.

         23                 We have a corporate emergency

         24  response group, and they fully mobilized once the

         25  problem was identified and responded to the
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          2  situation. At the direction of the Fire Department

          3  we actually did have to evacuate both the site and

          4  the plant itself. But once we were allowed to get

          5  access in there, we were able to, once the fire was

          6  over, we were able to reassess what the situation

          7  was, and make some temporary repairs to be able to

          8  restore service to those networks downtown.

          9                 So, just like an automobile, our

         10  system is very complex, has many parts. This

         11  happened to be a small part of it that did fail.

         12  These things do happen. And, again, we're not happy

         13  with these things happening. We certainly weren't

         14  happy that customers were out of service for a

         15  number of hours, but we do think that the men and

         16  women of Con Ed really did rise to the occasion once

         17  and again and made the repairs as soon as possible

         18  to get the lights back on.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you. Thank

         20  you for your efforts there.

         21                 MR. OATES: If you're interested in

         22  hearing some more details right now, there's

         23  somebody else here that's intimately aware of that.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: No, I just

         25  wanted to give you the ability to kind of make that
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          2  statement.

          3                 I have some prepared questions, but I

          4  just want to speak to something that Mr. Gupta had

          5  brought up with regard about the need to create

          6  some, you know, long-term contracts and could you

          7  sort of speak to that a little bit, about how if we

          8  were to have a comprehensive energy policy in the

          9  City that would allow for more incentive for folks

         10  to engage in these long-time contracts, it might

         11  help the financial viability of plants that want to

         12  get financed and so on. If you could just help me

         13  out a little bit to understand that a little better.

         14                 MR. OATES: Sure. I'll probably just

         15  give you a little bit of background. Five years ago

         16  when the state restructured the electricity industry

         17  in New York, you know the vision was that it would

         18  be competitive retailer suppliers who would step up

         19  and become the supplier of choice for retail

         20  customers in the City, in the rest of New York

         21  State.

         22                 The goal for utilities like Con

         23  Edison was that we would be the deliverers. We would

         24  deliver the energy produced by power plants to these

         25  customers, using our system, these retailer
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          2  suppliers, we call them Energy Services Companies or

          3  ESCOs would then make the arrangements for pricing

          4  with consumers.

          5                 One of the reasons that really drove

          6  New York State into a restructuring of the business

          7  was the fact that one of the policies that the state

          8  had, in fact, there were state laws, required

          9  utilities in the eighties to sign long-term

         10  contracts with independent power producers. And at

         11  the time there were estimates of what was a

         12  reasonable price, and that became the benchmark for

         13  these contracts.

         14                 It turned out after the fact that

         15  these contracts were very expensive relative to the

         16  other alternatives and did tend to increase consumer

         17  cost in the interim.

         18                 So, as part of restructuring the

         19  industry, the goal was for eventually companies like

         20  mine to get out of providing retail energy supply to

         21  consumers, let ESCOs do it.

         22                 We have a number of long-term

         23  contracts still in place, we have a number of power

         24  plants that are still located in the City that

         25  primarily serve our steam system but also produce
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          2  electricity. And we continue to, on an annual basis,

          3  enter into contracts and other instruments to manage

          4  the price of energy that consumers who we're serving

          5  will pay.

          6                 So, we'll continue to look for those

          7  opportunities, but I think, you know, this vision of

          8  the utilities getting back in into signing long-term

          9  contracts, were not too far removed from the last

         10  experiment of doing that, costing consumers a lot of

         11  money, and it comes down to in this case who is

         12  going to bear the burden of the risk of these

         13  decisions, it's going to be the investors of these

         14  power plants who are looking to make money in a

         15  deregulated market, or are we going to impose these

         16  obligations on consumers.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: So, what you're

         18  pointing out is really the down side of some of

         19  these long term contracts because they've become

         20  commitments, which is what a contract is.

         21                 MR. OATES: Right. California is a

         22  perfect example of what can happen when you make a

         23  decision like that.

         24                 You know, California had a similar

         25  approach to New York, getting utilities out of the
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          2  supply business by selling their power plants,

          3  trying to restructure contracts and buy from the

          4  market. California had some more perverse rules that

          5  fortunately didn't have, but one of the things that

          6  they did in reaction to their crisis a number of

          7  months ago, was they encouraged people to go out and

          8  sign contracts, multiple-year contracts. Well, it

          9  turns out those contracts right now look very

         10  expensive compared to prevailing market prices. And,

         11  so, whose paying for those? It's consumers.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: But I guess in

         13  the absence of those long-term contracts, it

         14  becomes, the financing of some of these plants

         15  becomes more tenuous, right? This is the balance

         16  that's kind of going on here? Am I getting a good

         17  sense of it?

         18                 MR. OATES: I think you probably will

         19  get consensus from a lot of folks that the finance

         20  ability of power plants today is very different than

         21  it was two years ago.

         22                 A lot of the folks that maybe would

         23  have been interested in building merchant plants, a

         24  lot of banks, investors who are willing to loan

         25  money to developers, they're not there, their
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          2  comfort level isn't there.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: And part of the

          4  absence of this comfort level is that, you know, the

          5  market is volatile, they don't know if the

          6  investments are going to be able to recoup, there

          7  are no long-term contracts, things are unsure,

          8  uncertain, unsettled, it's kind of like a changing,

          9  you know, regulatory scheme perhaps, people may take

         10  shots or try to revamp in large measure the

         11  deregulation, which has proceeded to date in New

         12  York State, and they want to change it; these are

         13  the things that are going through the financial

         14  markets' minds when they back away from financing

         15  this kind of project, versus something else?

         16                 MR. OATES: I think investors and

         17  bankers are no different than anybody else. They

         18  tend to be -- want to limit their risks, and a way

         19  for them to limit risk is to get the developer to

         20  have somebody sign a long-term power purchase

         21  agreement, because then it allows them to clearly

         22  know what the revenues are going to be, somebody is

         23  going to be buying the operator of a facility (sic).

         24                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Right.

         25                 MR. OATES: Is that something that is
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          2  going to happen? I think eventually lenders will

          3  step up. I think, you know, you look at the demand

          4  for electricity in New York City. We represent

          5  one-third of the state's total demand for

          6  electricity. It's a vibrant market. There's still

          7  going to be a demand here. As I mentioned before, we

          8  continue to see demand to grow. So, sooner or later,

          9  somebody is going to be willing to take a chance and

         10  make an investment in this market.

         11                 The other thing is, you know,

         12  clearly, we would like to have a surplus, and we

         13  talked a lot about the 80 percent rule before. In

         14  the old environment, the other thing that's sort of

         15  raised costs to consumers is that there was a

         16  surplus of generation both in the State and Con

         17  Edison had a surplus really as a result of signing

         18  these long-term power agreements and maybe a decline

         19  in demand during the eighties.

         20                 I don't know whether a surplus is

         21  going to be sustainable down the road. That remains

         22  to be seen.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: What's your view

         24  about the long-term prospect for more transmission

         25  lines into New York City from parts elsewhere?
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          2                 I mean, I guess you're in the

          3  transmission business, you should be able to speak

          4  to this with some level of perspective.

          5                 MR. OATES: Yes. We do see a number of

          6  projects out there, not proposed by us, proposed by

          7  others, that want to create a similar model for

          8  merchant generation in the merchant transmission

          9  business.

         10                 I think they are also facing some of

         11  the same hurdles that merchant generation developers

         12  are facing, some uncomfort or discomfort from

         13  lenders about lending them some money to build these

         14  transmission projects without some assurance that

         15  somebody is going to pay for them.

         16                 There are some other projects where

         17  people are willing to build generation over in New

         18  Jersey and they're trying to interconnect into New

         19  York City under the Hudson River. That project looks

         20  --

         21                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Yes, what about

         22  that? Talk about that a little bit, because that

         23  sounds somewhat intriguing.

         24                 MR. OATES: There is a project that

         25  the Public Service Electric and Gas, a subsidiary,
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          2  is building over in New Jersey where they were

          3  proposing to build two plants, one is actually being

          4  built this summer to sell into the Pennsylvania,

          5  Jersey, Maryland independent system operator market.

          6  They're proposing to build another unit and then run

          7  cables under the Hudson River, interconnect into our

          8  system in Manhattan, and provide an additional

          9  source of supply into the City.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: How much supply?

         11                 MR. OATES: The total supply from the

         12  two plants is 1,200 megawatts.

         13                 It's going through what's called the

         14  Article 7 process.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: And that would

         16  be 1,200 megawatts that would come into New York

         17  City or go to Maryland, Pennsylvania and to us or --

         18                 MR. OATES: As I said now, their

         19  proposal right now is to sell that power into PJM

         20  this summer, and once they're able to build the two

         21  cables into the City, if they are able to build

         22  those two cables into the City, then that power

         23  would be available to the City. But as I said, it's

         24  going through the Article 7 process, which is the

         25  process you go through to get the transmission lines
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          2  permitted.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: I see. I see.

          4                 Now, one of the things we've heard

          5  today with regard to the 80 percent rule and the

          6  whole notion of repowering and how it would be

          7  difficult to take generation capacity off line in

          8  order to make repowering happen, because it would

          9  dip us below the 80 percent requirement and so on

         10  and leave us with shortfalls; do you think some way

         11  around that might be to develop a cushion of power

         12  in New York City that would permit repowering? And

         13  if such a cushion were made to exist, would that

         14  expedite or somehow facilitate the repowering

         15  process here in New York City?

         16                 I mean, if they had the opportunity

         17  to do large scale repowering, in other words, is the

         18  lack of this cushion the only real major impediment

         19  to repowering, or is it other factors beyond that?

         20                 MR. OATES: I think there are other

         21  factors that affect repowering. I think, you know,

         22  sort of the generation developers' view of the

         23  market and financing is one issue. But I agree with

         24  Mr. Manning that, you know, right now we don't

         25  really have much of a cushion above the 80 percent
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          2  amount that's required in this City. And if, you

          3  know, demand continues to bounce back, I don't think

          4  we'll have any cushion next time and we'll be right

          5  on the edge, we'll have just the minimum amount that

          6  we need.

          7                 So, I agree with him that until we do

          8  develop some surplus, it is going to be difficult to

          9  repower, take a unit out of service and repower it

         10  with new and more efficient technology.

         11                 As far as how do you get a surplus,

         12  you know, you can get it one of two ways; you can

         13  change the 80 percent rule, which right now the 80

         14  percent rule is not supposed to get into market

         15  issues, it's supposed to be the minimum amount

         16  that's required for reliability.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Right.

         18                 MR. OATES: The other option is you

         19  can --

         20                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Conservation.

         21                 MR. OATES: Conservation or you can

         22  change a rule and say, okay, we're going to try and

         23  change this rule, but then consumers, somebody is

         24  going to have to pay for those plants.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Right.
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          2                 MR. OATES: Somebody is going to have

          3  to pay for the capacity to insurance there. And that

          4  also has an effect on energy prices.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Right.

          6                 MR. OATES: The more capacity you

          7  have, it tends to dampen prices.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Let's just back

          9  up for a second and talk about the source of the 80

         10  percent rule, the ISO. And Mr. Miller from the EDC

         11  was sort of touting his ability to sort of advocate

         12  surely on behalf of the interest of New York City

         13  with regard to the operations of the independent

         14  system operator and, you know, felt the need to make

         15  sure that the independent system operator didn't,

         16  you know, do things that would ultimately harm New

         17  York City or the prices we pay or New York City

         18  consumers; has this been your experience with the

         19  independent system operator, that they have to be

         20  monitored or watched so that their interest of New

         21  York City consumers are protected? Shouldn't that be

         22  part and parcel of who they are and what they do?

         23                 MR. OATES: Let --

         24                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Tough question

         25  for you, but sorry.
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          2                 MR. OATES: I think I can answer it.

          3                 You know, their primary role is to

          4  operate the transmission system, and that was

          5  something that the New York Power Pool did when it

          6  was owned by utilities.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Right.

          8                 MR. OATES: The thing that's sort of

          9  been added is to run this market, and, you know,

         10  believe it or not, for a competitor market, there's

         11  a book of rules, it's called "The Tariff," that

         12  actually specifies how they run the market, and that

         13  tariff is approved by the Federal Energy Regulatory

         14  Commission. And there is a constant struggle, not

         15  the ISO, between the different interests, you know,

         16  be it transmission owners like ourselves, consumer

         17  entities, generators, marketers, and generators and

         18  marketers want higher prices, utilities consumers

         19  generally want lower prices because we're still

         20  serving customers. So, there is a lot of debate

         21  going on.

         22                 I think one of the things that

         23  happened is that at the start of the ISO, some of

         24  the systems, some of their rules, hadn't been fully

         25  tested, weren't fully refined, and what's happened,
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          2  there's been a lot of back and forth at the ISO

          3  itself, and also at Ferc (phonetic) by a lot of

          4  companies, myself and the generators and others,

          5  trying to get Ferc to approve changes to the ISO's

          6  rules. You know, from our perspective it was trying

          7  to improve some of the consumer protections and the

          8  mitigation measures that are in place, other people

          9  with different views are trying to relax rules or

         10  make rules that, you know, fit their needs.

         11                 So, as I said, I think it's a very

         12  complicated market. It had some growing pains, it

         13  continues to have growing pains. Con Edison is very

         14  active at the ISO and at Ferc, trying to ensure that

         15  we think that the rules are set up in the fairest

         16  way possible for both the market and for the

         17  consumer.

         18                 People who are sellers generally

         19  don't tend to agree with us, but we don't tend to

         20  usually agree with them on their perspectives

         21  either. That's part of the battle.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay. Fair

         23  enough, Mr. Oates.

         24                 I recognize Council Member Vallone.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Thank you,
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          2  Mr. Chair.

          3                 Thank you, for coming down and

          4  testifying today.

          5                 MR. OATES: You're welcome.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Margarita

          7  Lopez says hello.

          8                 MR. OATES: Okay.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: I would say I

         10  would miss having a chance to have a dialogue with

         11  her but --

         12                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: She actually

         13  gave me something to give you. I'll give it to you

         14  later.

         15                 MR. OATES: Okay.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Let me ask

         17  you a question she may have asked, although in a

         18  completely different manner.

         19                 MR. OATES: Sure.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: A little off

         21  topic, but I've been asked a few times just today,

         22  regarding the unfortunate incident this weekend; is

         23  there a relationship between what happened and our

         24  power supply?

         25                 MR. OATES: No. The incident over the
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          2  weekend had nothing to do with the supply of energy.

          3  It was really a problem on our transmission and

          4  distribution system, what we call the "energy

          5  delivery system." So, it was not a supply-related

          6  problem.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: So, it had

          8  nothing to do with the system being taxed because of

          9  a demand or anything like that?

         10                 MR. OATES: At the time this happened

         11  it was on a Saturday when our loads are down. You

         12  know, on a Saturday, compared to a summer peak day,

         13  loads could be 20 to 30 percent below that summer

         14  peak day.

         15                 So, you know, the system wasn't being

         16  stressed.

         17                 We are investigating what exactly

         18  caused the equipment to fail. We don't yet know.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: That was my

         20  next question.

         21                 MR. OATES: Once we do, we will

         22  communicate what happened. Because we don't like

         23  when these things happen and we try to learn from

         24  these things. When we have failures we try to look

         25  at the equipment and understand what happened, and
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          2  hopefully will be able to prevent it from happening

          3  elsewhere in our system.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: I sure we

          5  would have some more questions about that, but I'll

          6  move on because it's getting late.

          7                 You're in charge of the transmission

          8  cables, obviously, and it was pointed at you by the

          9  last witness.

         10                 MR. OATES: Right.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: First, let's

         12  start with the failures I just learned about in

         13  cables Y49 and Y50 over the summer.

         14                 MR. OATES: Right. Y49 is the cable

         15  that's 100 percent owned by the New York Power

         16  Authority. It and Y50, which is jointly owned by Con

         17  Edison and LIPA, each provide about 600 megawatts

         18  capacity from Westchester County to Long Island. And

         19  for the cable that we own, the Y50 cable, out of

         20  that 600, 230 megawatts comes into our system in

         21  Queens, in the Jamaica portion of Queens.

         22                 The cable, the Y50 cable, is about 25

         23  years old, and as I said, it travels from a

         24  substation in the Yonkers area over to a substation

         25  in Long Island. So, we did replace a section out in
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          2  the Long Island Sound between two islands where a

          3  failure to develop.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Was that

          5  failure due to the age of the cable?

          6                 MR. OATES: Again, we have a

          7  speculation about what caused the failure. We are

          8  sending it out and having it tested, again, to try

          9  and understand what exactly was the mode of failure.

         10  We do think it has something to do with the loading

         11  and unloading of the cable, you know, the heating

         12  and cooling of the cable, and we haven't pinpointed

         13  exactly what the problem is.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: And I'm sure

         15  our Chairman would want you to send that information

         16  to us as soon as you get it, because we would like

         17  to be kept informed in that regard.

         18                 The Chairman asked you a question

         19  about the 80 percent rule and what's being done

         20  regarding increasing transmission, and you said

         21  there was a project that was not proposed by you

         22  from New Jersey; what is being proposed by you?

         23                 MR. OATES: Right now we have one

         24  project in our capital budget to expand the

         25  transmission system from the City up into
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          2  Westchester.

          3                 One of the concerns that we have is

          4  that on a hot summer day, I think as Mr. Manning

          5  mentioned before, everybody else around us is

          6  usually experiencing peak demand for electricity.

          7                 So, you've gotten some materials from

          8  us today that show that a transmission into the City

          9  is, you know, some would think a little bit above

         10  5,000 megawatts.

         11                 On a hot summer day, for instance,

         12  during that heat spell last August, we were not able

         13  to bring in 5,000 megawatts into our system. It was

         14  more like 3,500. So, sometimes the supply isn't

         15  there. Just like building a highway, sometimes you

         16  can load it up with cars, and sometimes during the

         17  offpeak hours --

         18                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: I'm sorry to

         19  jump in here.

         20                 If New York City has an import

         21  capability of, looks like 5,130 --

         22                 MR. OATES: Right.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: -- According to

         24  your -- that's all of the transmission lines from

         25  all sources being loaded to capacity, any
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          2  transmission line that has its origins outside the

          3  City and terminates inside the City --

          4                 MR. OATES: Right.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: -- You crank

          6  them to the full extent you'd have 5,130.

          7                 MR. OATES: Right. And, again, we do

          8  not control how those transmission lines get loaded

          9  anymore. That's really the function of the ISO

         10  running this market, taking bids from generators and

         11  then dispatching the most economic generators, and

         12  that determines how much actually flows over those

         13  lines.

         14                 Some of those lines come from the

         15  north, from Westchester, some come from New Jersey,

         16  and then we have a small interconnection with Long

         17  Island.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: So, 5,130

         19  doesn't mean 5,130.

         20                 MR. OATES: That's the max. Just like

         21  the generation in-city, it's 8,700 megawatts, that's

         22  the max. Is it always there? Is it always available?

         23  No, because sometimes our plants breakdown,

         24  sometimes the transmission lines aren't available.

         25  That's why you have a reserve in the system. You
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          2  know, we've been talking about the 80 percent rule

          3  for the City.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Right.

          5                 MR. OATES: That's really a subset of

          6  a larger rule where there's an 18 percent

          7  requirement, so anybody who is serving load has to

          8  have a reserve above the load that they're serving

          9  of 18 percent.

         10                 If I'm serving 100 megawatts of load,

         11  I have to go out and sign up and make sure I have

         12  capacity equal to 118 megawatts. And it's been a

         13  rule that's been around for years.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Right.

         15                 MR. OATES: It's really to provide for

         16  the ability for power plants and equipment to break

         17  down on a hot summer day or for a load to come in

         18  higher than forecast.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: So, what we're

         20  looking at is the 80 percent rule, by no means is

         21  any overkill? It's just not?

         22                 MR. OATES: I don't think it's an

         23  overkill. I think, you know, we are very concerned

         24  that, you know, as we get closer of just having 80

         25  percent, there's no cushion in the system, and, so,

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            148

          1  COMMITTEE ON ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

          2  if you do have hotter than normal weather, or you do

          3  have unexpected breakdowns in the system, you know,

          4  we're that much closer to having a supply problem.

          5                 Last summer we were very lucky, you

          6  know, demand exceeded our forecast by a lot, but the

          7  system performed well, the transmission lines

          8  performed well, and all the generating facilities in

          9  the City performed very well. So, we were able to

         10  get through that problem.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Still sort of

         12  going, right?

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: I have a few

         14  more, because I need to get to another meeting.

         15                 Again, these transmission lines, the

         16  reason it's not overkill, the 80 percent, is because

         17  we don't have any capacity to transmit more power

         18  in. You're saying there may not be enough power on

         19  peak days, but that's because possibly there are not

         20  enough plants elsewhere, outside of New York City,

         21  as opposed to them being built inside in a major

         22  populated area. I don't know what comes first,

         23  though, the chicken or the egg; do you build the

         24  transmission lines or the power plant?

         25                 MR. OATES: All right, I think if you
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          2  look back in the old days when we were a vertically

          3  integrated company and had to plan and design the

          4  full system from generation to transmission, you

          5  know, the first thing we would always like to do is

          6  have a generating plant close to the load, because

          7  it's the most efficient way of serving load. You

          8  know, you're only relying on the plant to operate.

          9  You're not relying on a plant plus a transmission

         10  line. It increases, you know, the chances of things

         11  breaking down, not being able to provide. Sometimes

         12  you can't get plants built, or sometimes there are

         13  opportunities to build plants elsewhere.

         14                 We built a number of plants upstate

         15  and jointly with other utilities and we're able to

         16  bring that power into our system through the

         17  transmission lines.

         18                 If we were to build transmission

         19  lines, there would have to be adequate supplies on

         20  the other side, and as I said, just based upon our

         21  experience on those hot summer days, is just there's

         22  not other supplies elsewhere, those areas are

         23  experiencing their peak demands, they're relying on

         24  that generation to meet their needs as opposed to

         25  selling it into the City.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: So, if

          3  someone wanted to build a plant outside of New York

          4  City, and since you're not in charge of all the

          5  phases like you used to be, what is the procedure?

          6  They have to come to you to get the transmission

          7  cables built, and at what point does that happen?

          8                 MR. OATES: Well, again, there's

          9  another process through the ISO where the developer

         10  will go to the ISO and the ISO performs studies for

         11  them to bother interconnect the facility to the

         12  transmission system where it's being built and also

         13  what steps need to be taken to reinforce the system,

         14  to be able to deliver that energy to where it's

         15  needed.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: These lines

         17  that are being built, the ones that exist and the

         18  ones that are being built, can they transmit energy

         19  in both directions?

         20                 MR. OATES: They could.

         21                 Typically New York City is an

         22  importer of electricity because the power here tends

         23  to be more expensive than the power produced by

         24  other sources. And, so, that's why, you know, for

         25  many hours of the year we are importing a lot of
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          2  power. We're not just relying on 80 percent from

          3  in-city sources, we are importing from more

          4  economical plants outside of the City. It was

          5  happening before we went to deregulation. That was a

          6  choice we always made, operate the plants in-city

          7  that need to be running for reliability reasons, and

          8  then find the next most economical source. Be it

          9  from an in-city plant that we owned at the time, or

         10  by importing power from upstate facilities.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: So, these

         12  power plants being built in western Queens could

         13  conceivably export their energy to areas outside of

         14  New York City?

         15                 MR. OATES: I guess in theory, yes.

         16  But I think, I would go back to our call, you know,

         17  the thing we're saying, we do need new power plants.

         18                 One of the things that will happen,

         19  and I think you heard this from other speakers, is

         20  that, at least from our perspective, you know the

         21  market forces are going to make some of the existing

         22  power plants uneconomic.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Fifty years

         24  from now.

         25                 MR. OATES: In-city power plants need
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          2  a capacity payment, and that's something that hasn't

          3  been talked about here. I mean, there's a capacity

          4  payment that a generator gets, an energy payment

          5  that they get. They get a capacity payment whether

          6  they run or not. And last year we spent $750 for

          7  capacity for the customers that we were serving.

          8  And, so, that's money that went to a generator,

          9  whether he generated a megawatt hour or not, and

         10  then the energy, and any margin they can make on

         11  energy is then an additional revenues to them. So,

         12  new, more efficiency technology, is going to

         13  displace some of these older technologies, either

         14  because they're not going to be able to compete, or

         15  they may not be able to get a capacity payment and

         16  afford to keep the plant open.

         17                 So, it's division of how the market

         18  is going to work, from our perspective.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay?

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: I have some

         21  more, but I'll yield. Thank you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you,

         23  Council Member Vallone.

         24                 I just have two quick items and then

         25  that will be it.
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          2                 We've talked in recent minutes about

          3  transmission lines and from outer-city, inter-city

          4  and so on, but it makes me wonder about the, you

          5  know, current robustness of your in-city

          6  infrastructure. When we talk about bringing new

          7  plants on line, and new capacity, perhaps, you know,

          8  sprouting up here or there, you know, how well are

          9  we prepared to sort of handle this over the existing

         10  transmission lines that current exist within New

         11  York City, if we're going to start up new plants

         12  here in the City? It just comes to mind.

         13                 MR. OATES: Yes. Depending on where

         14  the plants are actually constructed, there's an

         15  expense to actually interconnect the facility to our

         16  system, and then there may be some additional cost

         17  to reinforce elements of our system to be able to

         18  deliver the power from where it's produced to where

         19  it's needed. But it is a concern for us, the whole

         20  issue of the infrastructure, the transmission and

         21  distribution infrastructure. As I said, the demand

         22  has increased rapidly over the last few years, and,

         23  so, it is something where we're concerned that the

         24  transmission system, the distribution system, we

         25  continue to need to make investments to improve and
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          2  replace aging equipment, and it's something that we

          3  don't see going away, because we do see demand

          4  continuing to increase.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: And, I guess, as

          6  part of rebuilding our system, and make sure that it

          7  can meet all this demand, would that mean that

          8  people might see new powerlines going up where there

          9  currently are not powerlines now?

         10                 MR. OATES: Well, the in-city system

         11  is primarily an underground system, and, so, to the

         12  extent we need it to enhance any of that, it's

         13  likely going to be underground. There are portions

         14  of our distribution system in Westchester County and

         15  some of the outer boroughs that are overhead, but a

         16  lot of the distribution system tends to be

         17  customer-specific. If there are new customers or

         18  customers upgraded, we may need to make some

         19  improvement.

         20                 A lot of it has to do with some of

         21  the other elements of our system that allow us to

         22  take power at high voltages and step it down

         23  gradually to get it to the point where supplies are

         24  needed. Additional substations are another example.

         25  I mean, that's the way we get high voltage power
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          2  from where, off of our transmission systems step

          3  down and supply to local networks. And networks

          4  don't always grow that nice, you know, normal

          5  number. The growth tends to be depending on what's

          6  going on in that particular network, and, so, what

          7  will happen is the load will get to a certain point

          8  where a substation can handle it, and then we'll

          9  need to subdivide a network, put a new substation in

         10  so that we continue to maintain supply.

         11                 That's the kind of stuff that we see

         12  happening on the distribution system.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Got it.

         14                 Last item. I'm reading it from a

         15  prepared question. A New York Times article on July

         16  12th stated that "Con Edison officials believe that

         17  brownouts are likely for the summer," that "New York

         18  City can be in for a major blackout if there is any

         19  significant failure of equipment," and the first

         20  question will be, why do you believe that brownouts

         21  are likely for this summer? I didn't read the

         22  article.

         23                 MR. OATES: Okay, I was interviewed

         24  for that article. I'm quoted several times. When I

         25  was talking about the potential for brownouts and
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          2  blackouts, I said we always have the potential for

          3  brownouts if the load exceeds demand and we have

          4  problems with our equipment.

          5                 When I was talking about blackouts, I

          6  was talking about down the road, if we don't get

          7  some additional supplies built, demand continues to

          8  increase, we have a greater likelihood of having a

          9  problem.

         10                 So, when I was interviewed I did not

         11  say that we expect to have blackouts this summer.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Oh, I see.

         13  Right. Brownout threats, where are we on brownouts?

         14                 MR. OATES: Brownouts are really

         15  voltage reduction.

         16                 MR. OATES: Right.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: I mean, it can

         18  happen on the bulk level, it can happen at the local

         19  level. It's really a response that we make to try

         20  and keep the system functioning when we're having

         21  either higher than expected demand, or we're having

         22  equipment problems.

         23                 So, as I said, most people don't see

         24  it. People with some sensitive equipment who have

         25  been provided some sort of back up, they'll tend to
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          2  see that.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Right. And these

          4  voltage reductions. Do they kind of, like, rotate

          5  around the City, or are there one area that might

          6  get hit more than others? Because, you know, my

          7  local luncheonette, there's a gentleman who I see

          8  there a lot, he owns a house that he lives in, it's

          9  like -- he owns two-, three-family houses there a

         10  couple blocks away, and he's indicated that, he

         11  can't use an air conditioner, he can't run his

         12  refrigerator, he has like real problems, and he's

         13  like, I want to do my part, and I thought it would

         14  just last for a couple of days but it's been going

         15  on a long time.

         16                 I said, look, you know, call my

         17  office and I'll take care of it, whatever, and he

         18  said in his two homes, several blocks apart, you

         19  know, have the same phenomena, of, you know, not

         20  being able to run major appliances, compressors and

         21  so on.

         22                 MR. OATES: Right.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Would this be

         24  par for the course? That people could express,

         25  expect that compressors might not be able to operate
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          2  for like, you know, two, three weeks at a time and

          3  at certain times a day? That's not really regular,

          4  ordinary --

          5                 MR. OATES: No. Typically we do not

          6  have voltage reduction for weeks at a time. Usually

          7  it's something for a short duration until we can

          8  effect some repairs.

          9                 Sometimes there are problems with,

         10  you know, on the customer side of the meter where

         11  his service maybe isn't large enough to accommodate

         12  a lot of additional things, electric things that

         13  have come into his house.

         14                 I mean, I think everybody knows every

         15  year you get much more things. Probably within the

         16  last year I got more things at my house that I've

         17  got to plug into the wall. So, sometimes it could be

         18  a problem --

         19                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: So, it could

         20  just be peculiar to his own properties? He doesn't

         21  have enough coming in from the street.

         22                 MR. OATES: Until you actually look at

         23  it, you know, the actual site, you can't determine

         24  whether it's a customer problem, it's a problem on

         25  our system, on the low-voltage portion of our
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          2  system, or is it a temporary problem in our

          3  distribution system where we've done voltage

          4  reduction.

          5                 We've been doing voltage reductions

          6  for years.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Yes, because I

          8  was just a little bit curious, because I don't

          9  really get a lot of complaints in my district office

         10  with regard to people not being able to run air

         11  conditioners or things that have compressors

         12  attached to them.

         13                 So, thank you. Thank you very much,

         14  Mr. Oates. I appreciate it.

         15                 MR. OATES: Thank you very much.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you for

         17  your testimony.

         18                 MR. OATES: Okay.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: And next we have

         20  the good folks from 1st Rochdale. To be followed by

         21  Gail Suchman, New York Lawyers for the Public

         22  Interest.

         23                 First, my apologies, I snuck somebody

         24  else in there. You guys are good sports about it,

         25  you're real patient. I deeply appreciate it.
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          2                 MR. THOMPSON:: Certainly.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you for

          4  accommodating me. Thank you for accommodating us.

          5  I'm grateful to you. I owe you one.

          6                 That being said, we're going to put

          7  you under oath anyway.

          8                 MR. THOMPSON: Very good.

          9                 MS. DeCOSTANZO: Can you raise your

         10  right hand, please?

         11                 In the testimony that you are about

         12  to give, do you swear or affirm to tell the truth,

         13  the whole truth and nothing but the truth?

         14                 MR. THOMPSON: I do.

         15                 MR. WORTHAM: Yes, I do.

         16                 MS. DeCOSTANZO: Thank you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you very

         18  much. Thanks for being here. Thanks for being

         19  patient. We appreciate it.

         20                 Look at this document that you've

         21  presented here. I'd be very grateful if you'd state

         22  your names for the record, of course, and proceed

         23  with your good testimony.

         24                 MR. WORTHAM: I'm Greg Wortham, I'm

         25  the Chief Operating Officer, 1st Rochdale, and
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          2  Thomas Thompson will be given us a brief summary of

          3  our written testimony.

          4                 MR. THOMPSON: Thank you. And we

          5  appreciate you sticking around as well.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Sure. You get.

          7                 MR. THOMPSON: Thank you very much.

          8                 My name is Thomas Thompson. I am the

          9  Vice President of Sustainable Energy for the 1st

         10  Rochdale Cooperative Group, Limited. 1st Rochdale

         11  appreciates the opportunity to appear before you

         12  today and we look forward to working with the City

         13  Council to identify and implement bold, yet proven,

         14  energy initiatives that will benefit New York

         15  families and businesses this summer, as well as for

         16  decades to come.

         17                 We have written portions of our

         18  testimony. Today my testimony is going to consist of

         19  two parts. A brief summary of who 1st Rochdale is,

         20  and then a summary of our position, vis-a-vis Intro.

         21  158.

         22                 I also want to point out that in the

         23  back of the room we are joined by 1st Rochdale's

         24  Energy Efficiency Program Manager, Ms. Norma

         25  Dunkleberger.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Norma.

          3                 MS. DUNKLEBERGER: Hi.

          4                 MR. THOMPSON: 1st Rochdale is a

          5  retail electricty provider and energy services

          6  company created and owned by New York City

          7  consumers.

          8                 1st Rochdale is the only ESCO in New

          9  York City's competitive electric marketplace whose

         10  mission is to help our customers lower their total

         11  energy bills.

         12                 We are a member of the Touchstone

         13  Energy, an alliance of more than 550 energy

         14  cooperatives in almost 40 states serving millions of

         15  families and businesses and industries across the

         16  United States each and every day.

         17                 Through our subsidiary, 1st Rochdale

         18  is an all energy company. In addition to being an

         19  electricity service provider we have a subsidiary

         20  known as "Twin Pines Fuels," with a terminal in the

         21  Bronx. We market petroleum products to municipal,

         22  institutional, commercial and multifamily

         23  residential customers from Virginia to New England.

         24  Through our subsidiary Gotham Power Company, we

         25  evaluate sites for development of decentralized
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          2  electric-generating facilities within New York City,

          3  and through our Green Apple energy efficiency and

          4  renewable energy project, which I'm responsible for,

          5  1st Rochdale is proactively working with New York

          6  families and businesses to implement practical

          7  energy solutions that reduce energy bills, and air

          8  pollution, while creating jobs, enhancing economic

          9  growth and improving our quality of life.

         10                 Through the Green Apple Program, 1st

         11  Rochdale builds on decades of cooperative housing

         12  experience in achieving real and substantial energy

         13  savings and their attendant environmental benefits

         14  in our densely populated urban environment.

         15                 For example, just a few blocks east

         16  of here, East River Housing Co-op implemented

         17  submetering over a decade ago. The energy savings

         18  associated with that move have allowed the co-op to

         19  defer maintenance increases on the cooperators for

         20  the past 15 years.

         21                 While energy issues that affect New

         22  York City are not completely controlled by the City,

         23  there are policy and programmatic options available

         24  to New York City that in partnership with the State

         25  of New York and the federal government will help New
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          2  York City achieve its energy savings goals.

          3                 Our testimony today is summarized as

          4  follows:

          5                 The electricity crisis we face in New

          6  York City is multifaceted and complex, but as our

          7  previous speakers have said, it's driven by two main

          8  factors, the first one is the age of the

          9  distribution system, the wires that carry

         10  electricity into the buildings, and the second one,

         11  as reported by Mayor Bloomberg in today's New York

         12  Times, is the desperate need for new power plants in

         13  the City to replace the aging, dirtier plants, as

         14  well as to meet the City's growing appetite for

         15  reliable or affordable power.

         16                 Through a comprehensive balanced

         17  energy policy that levels the playing field by

         18  focusing on both new power supply and improved

         19  energy efficiency, 1st Rochdale believes we can meet

         20  the City's need for clean, reliable and affordable

         21  energy, and reduce our vulnerability to both

         22  accidental or intentional disruption to our vital

         23  energy infrastructure.

         24                 With respect to energy efficiency and

         25  conservation, these are real resources for meeting
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          2  power needs cost effectively in a city, reducing

          3  usage as well as demand, lowering customer bills,

          4  cleaning the air and revitalizing the economy.

          5                 It is generally accepted in the

          6  industry that at a minimum 1,000 megawatts or ten

          7  percent of New York City's load, can be achieved

          8  through efficiency and conservation programs.

          9                 More specifically, with respect to

         10  Intro. 158, 1st Rochdale believes that reducing

         11  energy use in New York City municipal buildings by

         12  25 percent is achievable through three basic

         13  strategies:

         14                 The first is to make existing

         15  building system technologies work better in City

         16  facilities with energy management systems and

         17  improved operations.

         18                 The second one is to upgrade existing

         19  technologies with new Energy Star technologies,

         20  especially in the area of lighting and office

         21  equipment. And the third one is through more

         22  comprehensive upgrades of building systems,

         23  including windows, air cooling systems and heating

         24  systems.

         25                 1st Rochdale does have real
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          2  experience in delivering these energy savings to

          3  consumers in all neighborhoods in the New York City

          4  area, saving millions of dollars over the years for

          5  customers, while reducing stress on the grid.

          6                 There's also a new concept available

          7  today known as distributed generation. 1st Rochdale

          8  believes that distributed generation technologies,

          9  especially solar electric or photovoltaic systems,

         10  as well as microturbines that are used in a combined

         11  heat and power application, offer real benefits to

         12  reliability, affordability and cleaner air.

         13                 By definition, distributed generation

         14  produces power at or near the point of use, reducing

         15  stress on our transmission and distribution system.

         16                 And a couple of just anecdotal points

         17  to that, with respect to the microturbine

         18  technology, this technology can be designed to

         19  operate safely during a blackout or a voltage

         20  reduction, allowing buildings to dedicate the power

         21  output to critical loads, such as elevators or

         22  emergency lighting, again, during peak periods.

         23                 And with respect to solar power,

         24  although it is true that solar has a reputation for

         25  being more expensive, the costs have dropped
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          2  dramatically over the last two to three decades, and

          3  more recently research has shown that solar

          4  electricity in many parts of the United States,

          5  including the Northeast seaboard, can be used to

          6  meet reliability needs.

          7                 What researchers found is that the

          8  sun shines the brightest on those days when New York

          9  City's demand for electricity is greatest.

         10                 In fact, this research, which is done

         11  in the State of New York, up at the SUNY Atmospheric

         12  Science Research Center in Albany, has shown that a

         13  strategically placed network of photovoltaic panels

         14  could have prevented virtually every major blackout

         15  in US cities over the past ten years, including the

         16  1999 blackout in Washington Heights and Inwood.

         17                 The key issue, of course, is

         18  financing. We want to direct the Council's attention

         19  to the SanFrancisco Solar Bond Act, as a model for

         20  financing both efficiency and clean generating

         21  technologies in municipal facilities.

         22                 On November 6th of last year, San

         23  Francisco voters overwhelmingly approved a landmark

         24  $100 million bond initiative that pays for solar

         25  panels, energy efficiency, and wind turbines for
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          2  public facilities.

          3                 The measure pays for itself entirely

          4  from the savings at no cost to taxpayers.

          5                 With this model, San Francisco

          6  pioneered a path for funding the nation's transition

          7  to a renewable energy strategy. The mechanics are

          8  simple. The bond pays for the solar panel, the wind

          9  turbines and the efficiency measures for public

         10  buildings. Money that would have been gone to buy

         11  electricity from the power plants instead is now

         12  going to pay down the bonds.

         13                 1st Rochdale encourages the City of

         14  New York to consider this initiative as it develops

         15  its financing strategies.

         16                 In summary, through a coordinated

         17  strategy to proactively deploy energy efficiency and

         18  clean distributed generation, energy consumption in

         19  City facilities can be reduced by 25 percent or

         20  more.

         21                 Further, through appropriate

         22  revisions to the Article 10 power plant permitting

         23  law, and by addressing the financing gap that new

         24  power plants face, the development of dispersed

         25  generating plants in New York City neighborhoods
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          2  will improve electric liability, reduce bills, and

          3  help to improve the air quality of the City.

          4                 1st Rochdale believes this strategy

          5  positions New York City as a global leader in a

          6  development of sustainable energy policies and

          7  practices that create good jobs, reduce the threat

          8  of terrorism and strengthen the economy while

          9  improving our air quality and energy affordability.

         10                 Thank you for your time.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you very

         12  much. Thank you for this.  I've got to take you

         13  through a couple of points of your testimony because

         14  you really focus on some things that I like and I

         15  want to talk to you about.

         16                 First, this San Francisco Bond Act

         17  thing?

         18                 MR. THOMPSON: Yes.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Yes, I don't

         20  want to -- I would like, after you step down off the

         21  witness table, to -- I guess you don't have it with

         22  you here today, but Counsel to the Committee is

         23  Donna DeCostanzo and I'm going to have her get in

         24  contact with you, as well as the San Francisco

         25  people to see if this could be any kind of, you
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          2  know, paradigm or template for New York City that

          3  makes any sense here.

          4                 Is anybody talking this up? I mean,

          5  does this get discussed at conferences and things

          6  that, you know, you all go to, or whatever, that

          7  this kind of thing could get replicated in Houston

          8  or New York City or South Succatash?

          9                 People just think that San Francisco

         10  is just being San Francisco, and --

         11                 MR. THOMPSON: The California

         12  experiment.

         13                 No, actually, the things that drove

         14  the issue at the neighborhood level in San Francisco

         15  are very similar to the factors that we're facing

         16  here in New York City.

         17                 In essence, people wanted to feel

         18  that they had more control over how energy dollars

         19  were being spent. There was a considerable amount of

         20  public dialogue in advance of the placement of the

         21  initiative on a referendum in the November ballot,

         22  and it's been hailed as a ground-breaking event, and

         23  the fact that it was a voter-approved initiative is

         24  really seen as a positive outcome.

         25                 Next Wednesday evening, 1st
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          2  Rochdale's members of a group called the "New York

          3  State Environmental Business Association," and there

          4  is a meeting in Midtown a week from tomorrow evening

          5  that's designed to pull the players together and

          6  determine whether or not this can be put into place

          7  in New York City.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay. I'd like

          9  to find out about that.

         10                 MR. THOMPSON: I can forward you the

         11  information.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: About that

         13  meeting. Sure, I'd like to find out.

         14                 MR. THOMPSON: Absolutely.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Now, this

         16  meeting a week from next week, is this going to be

         17  on this initiative, or is this sort of like one of

         18  the regular meetings of the environmental business?

         19                 MR. THOMPSON: Specifically on this

         20  initiative.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Right. But this

         22  association, which is the Environmental Business

         23  Association, am I saying that right?

         24                 MR. THOMPSON: That's correct.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: And you folks
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          2  are all members of that, right?

          3                 MR. THOMPSON: That's correct.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay. We should

          5  talk afterwards about that.

          6                 MR. THOMPSON: Absolutely.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: I want to find

          8  out about the association, and the extent to which

          9  I'm always looking for entities and organizations

         10  that might have some value added to the work of this

         11  Committee.

         12                 MR. THOMPSON: There is a website

         13  available that actually has draft legislation

         14  language that could be used in any city in the

         15  country, including New York City, and the site is

         16  votesolar.com.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Votesolar.com.

         18                 MR. THOMPSON: Votesolar.com.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Which is a

         20  website for the --

         21                 MR. THOMPSON: San Francisco.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: The San

         23  Francisco thing, and not for the environmental

         24  business association. That's a separate --

         25                 MR. THOMPSON: That's correct.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Wow, that's

          3  great.

          4                 And it's your contention in the

          5  testimony that if we had some sort of photo voltaic

          6  array in place, then that would be enough of a

          7  buffer to protect against outages and brownouts and

          8  problems. What kind of capacity are we talking

          9  about? Some sort of significant size, array of

         10  photovoltaic cells, what kind of capacity would that

         11  produce?

         12                 MR. THOMPSON: In order for solar to

         13  be deployed as a resource to prevent that type of an

         14  event, there would certainly have to be close

         15  coordination with the entities that are responsible

         16  for the transmission delivery of power in the City.

         17  So, obviously Con Ed would be a major player there.

         18  And working with Con Edison to identify those areas

         19  of the distribution system that are in greatest need

         20  for investment repair and therefore might benefit

         21  the most by having a system such as a solar system

         22  which can produce power there, rather than having to

         23  transport it over the wires.

         24                 1st Rochdale has a ten-year goal of

         25  installing solar panels on ten percent of the
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          2  cooperatively-owned rooftops in the City.

          3                 Now, very quickly, there are 16,000

          4  cooperatively-owned buildings, if we were to get a

          5  minimum of a ten kilowatt system on ten percent of

          6  those buildings, in the next ten years we'd have 16

          7  megawatts. Which is about two percent of the growth

          8  projection between now and then.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Wow, that's

         10  pretty significant. Aim high, right?

         11                 MR. THOMPSON: That's correct.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: That's a good

         13  strategy.

         14                 You also talked a little about the

         15  concept of distributed generation and microturbines

         16  that I guess fit into that scenario; would you walk

         17  me through that again so I can get a better sense of

         18  what that's about?

         19                 MR. THOMPSON: Absolutely. The idea of

         20  distributed generation --

         21                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: I'm listening

         22  when you talk, see?

         23                 MR. THOMPSON: All right. As late as

         24  it is. Thank you.

         25                 The idea behind distributed
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          2  generation is that you generate the power at the

          3  point where it's consumed. That, by definition, will

          4  reduce the stress on both the transmission and the

          5  distribution network, the transition network of

          6  carrying the bulk power, and then the distribution

          7  system carrying power into individual buildings.

          8                 There are a variety of technologies

          9  that fall into the category of distributed

         10  generation technologies. We mentioned photovoltaics.

         11  They certainly are one. They all have varying time

         12  horizons with respect to their commercial viability.

         13  Solar, although it tends to be more expensive, can

         14  provide high value needs, and technically is

         15  commercially available today off-the-shelf. So by

         16  that definition, it belongs in the near-term

         17  category.

         18                 Microturbines, which is what you're

         19  asking about are another example of a technology

         20  that is commercially available today. We are working

         21  with one company in particular, Capstone

         22  Technologies, but there are three or four companies

         23  that are now making the product that can be

         24  purchased.

         25                 And the ideal way to use that
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          2  technology is in what's called a combined heat and

          3  power fashion. Very similar to the combined cycle

          4  approach that was discussed earlier with large

          5  central station generating plants where you

          6  basically capture the waste heat. To burn a fuel to

          7  generate electricity, there's waste heat that's a

          8  by-product of that process, and that waste heat can

          9  be captured, the optimal application is to use that

         10  waste heat to drive an absorption chiller of some

         11  type, which can actually use heat to provide cool

         12  air. Taking electric load off of the grid from air

         13  conditioning.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: That's exciting.

         15  That sounds good.

         16                 And with regard to the -- has 1st

         17  Rochdale ever had to coordinate with the City with

         18  regard to, you know, energy policy of any kind or

         19  whatever? What I'm looking for is kind of a

         20  justification for sort of like a place where folks

         21  like yourselves could coordinate with the City on

         22  all the energy issues that might be important to you

         23  and to the people that you represent, and I'm

         24  wondering about how it works for you thus far in

         25  your dealings with the City and whether or not you
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          2  believe that the energy office provided for in

          3  Intro. 158 might facilitate or help people in your

          4  situation?

          5                 MR. WORTHAM: I think we definitely

          6  agree that an energy policy office, a centralized

          7  office makes a lot of sense, similar to what Ashook

          8  was saying.

          9                 I mean we worked with Rich Miller in

         10  the Economic Development Corporation on power plant

         11  development, Tom's group works with certain

         12  agencies, and, again, private groups like the

         13  Environmental Business Association for Energy

         14  Efficiency, maybe if the MTA wants to do something,

         15  work with the MTA, and you just have to know 26 or

         16  2,600 places to go try and coordinate.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Sure.

         18                 MR. WORTHAM: And, obviously, if the

         19  City itself offers out a coordination mechanism on

         20  its side, that makes it a lot simpler for everyone

         21  to get to, the interconnected issues, the

         22  environmental issues, the neighborhood issues, and

         23  we work a lot of it out on our own side, but it's

         24  obviously a lot simpler if the City brings to the

         25  table its own comprehensive set of concerns.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: That's great.

          3  That's great.

          4                 So, thanks for being here.

          5                 MR. THOMPSON: Thanks very much.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: And so now I'll

          7  have an opportunity to work, you know, much more

          8  closely together on this issue and on the San

          9  Francisco thing, and on all these items. So, I want

         10  you to make sure you have at a minimum -- I've got

         11  your information here, right? I've got your

         12  information here?

         13                 MR. WORTHAM: And we can give you a

         14  card, too.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Yes, give me

         16  your cards and we'll be in touch because I

         17  definitely want to do something on the San Francisco

         18  thing.

         19                 MR. WORTHAM: Very good.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: And I greatly

         21  appreciate your being here. Thank you.

         22                 MR. WORTHAM: Thank you.

         23                 MR. THOMPSON: Thank you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Just come

         25  forward and give that to me.
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          2                 Okay, I have a panel. I have three on

          3  the next panel. We have Gail Suchman, a good friend,

          4  from the New York Lawyers for the Public Interest;

          5  Jason Babbie, from NYPIRG, and Adam Perlmutter, from

          6  the Greenpoint Waterfront Association.

          7                 MS. SUCHMAN: Good afternoon,

          8  Chairman.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Yes. Thank you

         10  all very much for your patience. It's been a long

         11  day and we appreciate you being so patient.

         12                 The Counsel is actually developing

         13  some sort of patience awards.  Right in the other

         14  room they're getting those together, and we should

         15  be able to have those for you by the time you finish

         16  with your testimony, so I appreciate that.

         17                 Donna is going to do some swearing,

         18  and then we'll get on with the show.

         19                 MS. DeCOSTANZA: Please raise your

         20  right hand.

         21                 In the testimony that you're about to

         22  give, do you swear or affirm to tell the truth, the

         23  whole truth and nothing but the truth?

         24                 MS. SUCHMAN: I do.

         25                 MR. BABBIE: Yes.
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          2                 MR. PERLMUTTER: I do.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you all

          4  very much. And we'll start with Gail and go this

          5  way. State your name for the record.

          6                 MS. SUCHMAN: Thank you. I'm Gale

          7  Suchman, senior Environmental Counsel with New York

          8  Lawyers for the Public Interest.

          9                 And Chairman Gennaro, you might be

         10  eligible for that patience award, as well.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Ah shucks.

         12                 MS. SUCHMAN: I want to thank the

         13  Committee for inviting us here to talk about this

         14  really important issue of energy policy office and

         15  also issues with respect to energy facilities

         16  siting.

         17                 As you know, New York Lawyers for the

         18  Public Interest is a non-profit law firm that

         19  represents low-income communities of communities of

         20  color in a variety of environmental issues, and

         21  we've represented communities primarily in the

         22  energy facility siting area.

         23                 I'm also a technical advisor to CURE,

         24  which is Communities United to Responsible Energy,

         25  which is a coalition of community-based
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          2  organizations working for sound energy policy.

          3                 I have some written testimony, and I

          4  won't really go over that, because I know we're

          5  short on time. I'd just like to make a few points

          6  and then I'll be happy to answer any questions.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Sure. Sure, go

          8  ahead.

          9                 MS. SUCHMAN: The development of a

         10  comprehensive energy policy which is economically

         11  sound, environmentally sustainable, and equitable,

         12  is critical for the City.

         13                 The promise of restructuring, the

         14  theory of restructuring was that we would have all

         15  these wonderful new energy efficient clean power

         16  plants built and all the dirty ones would shut down,

         17  that certainly hasn't happened in the past, and

         18  there doesn't seem to be any prospect of that in the

         19  near future, and it, quite frankly, it may never

         20  happen. And, so, what we know, what we do know, is

         21  that any increase in energy demand, without energy

         22  conservation, or smart demand side management,

         23  results in yet another power plant being built in a

         24  poor, overburdened neighborhood. That's just the

         25  reality of what's been happening in New York and
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          2  will continue to happen unless we do something.

          3                 And Intro. 158 actually goes a long

          4  way in trying to help that situation, its emphasis

          5  on energy conservation, alternative energy

          6  development, and energy efficient procurement for

          7  the City, you know, provides at least a promise to

          8  the future.

          9                 Where that energy policy office is

         10  housed is not addressed in my written testimony,

         11  because, quite frankly, when I looked at it at first

         12  glance, the DEP, housing it in the DEP made a lot of

         13  sense.

         14                 What it does is it changes the

         15  emphasis on how the problem will be viewed.

         16                 I, too, along with many other

         17  speakers, have tremendous respect for Rich Miller

         18  and what he does in the Economic Development

         19  Corporation. It's a very difficult task. He has a

         20  tremendous understanding of how the markets work.

         21  But they have a mission, they have a specific

         22  mission, and it's a different mission than some

         23  other of the agencies, and although --

         24                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: What's their

         25  deal? Tell me what the deal is with that, you know,
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          2  their mission.

          3                 MS. SUCHMAN: Well, their mission is

          4  economic development, and while I would argue that

          5  economic development policy needs to look at the

          6  externalities in the social cost associated with

          7  degradation in the environment, public health, and

          8  the quality of life, it doesn't always come out that

          9  way in a valuation of what's economically important

         10  for the City, you know, the next short-term move

         11  that the City should make.

         12                 That's not saying they don't make

         13  really important decisions - they do, and they're

         14  critical for the vitality of the City, but bringing

         15  the environmental public health people involved into

         16  the equation at least makes sure that all the -- it

         17  will be viewed broadly, and all of the competing

         18  issues will have their day in court. So that there

         19  will be a balance between economic development and

         20  protection of public health.

         21                 Now, maybe it does make a lot of

         22  sense to bring it out of DEP than make it an

         23  umbrella agency, I have no problem with that, as

         24  long as there is the right kind of expertise in that

         25  office, and an assurance that these issues will be
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          2  viewed broadly and fairly.

          3                 It could be under a number of deputy

          4  mayors, it could be Deputy Mayor Shaw, Doctoroff, it

          5  doesn't really matter, as long as it has the right

          6  structure and the right mission set forth in

          7  legislation, and I think 158 really does that.

          8                 I have a few suggestions for, very

          9  brief suggestions for adding to that mission of any

         10  energy policy office.

         11                 I think it needs to be specifically

         12  clear that an energy policy office evaluate the

         13  criteria for facility siting, transmission

         14  deficiencies and the environmental justice and

         15  public health implications of setting an energy

         16  policy, and repowering, that should encompass

         17  repowering as well.

         18                 So, it should really look at the

         19  ramifications of the policy decisions that we make.

         20                 It should also be, it should also

         21  develop a strategy to encourage green building

         22  design and energy efficiency and work with, not only

         23  the Department of Administrative Services for City

         24  facilities, but also work with the Buildings

         25  Department on the Building Code.
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          2                 The State recently revised their

          3  building code to include a new energy conservation

          4  construction code that was filed, that was made

          5  final on July 3rd, and I think there still could be

          6  much more done in the Buildings Department on a City

          7  level.

          8                 There also should be an evaluation of

          9  whether there needs to be a requirement for what I'm

         10  calling a comprehensive energy impact study.

         11                 The CEQR Technical Manual, the City

         12  Environmental Quality Review Manual, does give lip

         13  service to energy consumption, but it's not taken

         14  very seriously.

         15                 There are lots of buildings that in

         16  this City build as of right and never have to look

         17  at anything or do any environmental review.

         18                 You know, for example, there should

         19  be no new 90 story buildings on First Avenue,

         20  casting a shadow over the UN, that are not built to

         21  various stringent design standards, and that will

         22  have, are built with the feeling that they have the

         23  right to just plug in every electrical compliance

         24  they have, and these are very high-end apartments

         25  that people expect energy.
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          2                 But they don't discuss what the

          3  ramifications are in the South Bronx because of the

          4  excess use of power.

          5                 It will also become critical if and

          6  when Indian Point ever closes, because a certain

          7  percentage of Indian Point does feed often, on a

          8  daily basis feed the power grid in New York City.

          9                 The last is with the procurement

         10  practices. Not only with respect to energy

         11  efficiency appliances and lighting, but also with

         12  the procurement of energy itself.

         13                 I do think that there is flexibility

         14  in the contract negotiations with NYPA to make sure

         15  that there is at least, there is an encouragement

         16  for development of renewable sources, such as wind

         17  and solar. It doesn't have to be in Manhattan. It

         18  could be even outside of Manhattan and still have an

         19  effect outside of the City and have an effect on the

         20  energy supply and demand situation in New York City.

         21                 I'm glad that you mentioned that

         22  article in the New York Times on July 12th. It also

         23  says in that article that one of the reasons why

         24  we're not doing so well this summer is because, and

         25  this is a quote, "the low participation in energy
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          2  conservation programs."

          3                 And there was, I don't think that's a

          4  direct quote from Con Ed, but the fact that in the

          5  second paragraph there was a recognition that nobody

          6  is participating in these programs, sort of lends

          7  credence to development of an agency or an office

          8  that would have the policy to encourage those

          9  activities, because why is it happening? I mean,

         10  it's really all of our faults, and we really need to

         11  address it soon.

         12                 And we know energy conservation

         13  works, because it worked in California, I mean big

         14  time. It was a vivid demonstration of how well it

         15  works, and, you know, for that reason I think you

         16  should move forward with 158, and if it needs to be

         17  adjusted on where this office needs to be housed,

         18  then so be it.

         19                 I have a few comments on Article 10,

         20  but if you'd like to ask me some questions, if there

         21  are any questions on the energy policy office.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: What we'll do is

         23  we'll kind of go through the panel and if I have any

         24  questions --

         25                 MS. SUCHMAN: Okay.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            188

          1  COMMITTEE ON ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

          2                 With respect to Article 10, I lay out

          3  the issues that are deficient in Article 10 very

          4  specifically in my testimony, and I won't go through

          5  those, but I do think that there is a role that the

          6  City Council can play. There is now behind the

          7  scenes negotiations between the Governor and the

          8  Chairman of the Energy Committee of the Assembly, on

          9  the Assembly Bill and also the leadership of the

         10  Assembly and the Senate, and there will be most

         11  likely an Article 10 reform bill that comes out. And

         12  there was lots -- I think it's perfectly appropriate

         13  for the City Council to weigh in on that, to give

         14  the Governor and the leadership the perspective of

         15  the City, in terms of environmental justice,

         16  cumulative impacts.

         17                 And you asked the question a while

         18  back, I can't remember which person you asked it of,

         19  but how can the City have more of a say in what goes

         20  on in the siting, particularly under Article 10, and

         21  one of the recommendations that we make is to change

         22  the make-up of the board, and to have more local

         23  representation, and that will give at least a little

         24  bit more power to local communities in the

         25  municipalities to have a say in what happens in
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          2  their own communities.

          3                 And I think that that might actually

          4  go a long way in helping the City.

          5                 So, with that, I'll just turn it over

          6  to my colleagues, and I'll answer any questions

          7  later on.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you. Thank

          9  you, again.

         10                 Please state your name for the

         11  record.

         12                 MR. BABBIE: Good afternoon. My name

         13  is Jason Babbie. I'm an Environmental Policy Analyst

         14  for the New York Public Interest Research Group,

         15  NYPIRG, which I'm sure as you are aware is an

         16  environmental protection consumer rights and social

         17  justice organization with offices throughout the

         18  City and the State. I also sit as an advisor to CURE

         19  with Gail.

         20                 And I would like to thank you,

         21  Chairman, and the Committee for holding this

         22  hearing, because hopefully the information today

         23  that you received will help you in putting together

         24  a comprehensive energy policy and plan for New York

         25  City, as well as influencing the decisions that are
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          2  going to be made in Albany, and particularly on the

          3  Article 10 process, because obviously we will be

          4  greatly affected here in the City over what is

          5  decided up the Hudson River.

          6                 I also would like to commend yourself

          7  and the Committee for not swallowing the bait

          8  so-to-speak, as we've heard so many different times

          9  that the problems we've been experiencing this

         10  summer with the blackouts and the brownouts being an

         11  immediate need to simply build new power plants, and

         12  to increase generation. That's not the way that we

         13  should be going, and, you know, what is in Intro.

         14  158 is exactly the manner where we should be moving

         15  towards.

         16                 In fact, if we simply build more

         17  power plants without doing maintenance and upgrading

         18  of the transmission and distribution system, we'll

         19  just see more and more problems, because the system

         20  will continue to break down.

         21                 I guess I'm going to do the exact

         22  opposite of what Gail did, I'm going to start off

         23  with a little bit into talking about some of the

         24  major overarching problems of Article 10, and then

         25  move into 158 and energy conservation and the need
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          2  in New York City.

          3                 As I'm sure you're very well aware,

          4  power plants are New York's largest source of

          5  industrial air pollution. The main sources of

          6  pollution that causes ozone smog, soot, mercury

          7  poisoning and global warming.

          8                 In fact, according to a study that's

          9  used by the same consulting group that the USEPA

         10  uses, particulate matter from existing power plants

         11  causes over 2,200 premature deaths, 1,500

         12  hospitalizations, and 46,200 asthma attacks every

         13  year in the New York City metropolitan area.

         14                 And, you know, that's because they

         15  have grossly inadequate pollution control

         16  limitations on them. Existing facilities are allowed

         17  to pollute four to ten times what a modern facility

         18  would have to do, which also creates an economic

         19  disparity, and the subsidy for these old power

         20  plants which were built in mid-century using old

         21  technology to continue operating at lower -- with

         22  lower costs, but with obviously higher costs to our

         23  health.

         24                 There are a number of problems that

         25  are addressed in the Article 10 process, which means
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          2  building more powerplants in New York City without

          3  addressing the existing facilities.

          4                 Public participation is obviously a

          5  huge one. I think the fact that community groups

          6  have not been able to use legal representation, or

          7  have intervener funds for legal representation has

          8  seriously hindered them, you know, through the work

          9  of groups like New York Lawyers for the Public

         10  Interest and NYPIRG, and we've been able to try and

         11  help on some of them, but obviously it's a very

         12  legalistic process.

         13                 It's vital that there's a cumulative

         14  impact analysis, particularly if we start using

         15  particulate matter PM 2.5 or smaller, and there's an

         16  environmental justice analysis. We, of course, are

         17  seeing major clustering in the City and in other

         18  parts of the State which is not recognized at all by

         19  the siting board.

         20                 And there needs to be modern emission

         21  standards for the existing power plants, we need to

         22  lower the threshold in which Article 10 is triggered

         23  because we're going to see more and more I think of

         24  these mini turbines going up throughout New York

         25  City, which actually put out more pollution per
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          2  kilowatt, per kilowatt that's generated and that's

          3  creating local problems.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Are you saying

          5  that these small facilities, they sneak under the

          6  threshold amount of the Article 10?

          7                 MR. BABBIE: Correct.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay.

          9                 What is that threshold?

         10                 MR. BABBIE: It's an 80 megawatt

         11  output.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: And these little

         13  units, how much are they?

         14                 MR. BABBIE: They vary in size. A lot

         15  of them are like 47 megawatts, but they've at

         16  different times of course put two together and to up

         17  it to 79.9, which still allows them under the

         18  current definition to slide under.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Oh, I see.

         20                 MR. BABBIE: Because they are agreeing

         21  to operate a lower capacity.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: So sneaky.

         23                 MR. BABBIE: Yes.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Sorry. Continue.

         25                 MR. BABBIE: Sure.
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          2                 Along the lines of repowering -- well

          3  I guess sort of taking a step back.  NYPIRG has sort

          4  of come up -- we have sort of a manner in which we

          5  think the state should be handling the need for

          6  growing power. Conservation and efficiency should

          7  always be the first step. It has multiple benefits.

          8                 First of all, you know, by lowering

          9  your electricity usage, you're also lowering the

         10  utility bill. So, it obviously helps consumers, and

         11  ratepayers. It also, by needing less electricity, it

         12  also means less pollution, so that means improvement

         13  of public health, but also, of course, improves

         14  system reliability.

         15                 So, that's why we are supportive of

         16  158, and think that energy efficiency is the first

         17  step.

         18                 The second step should be repowering

         19  of our existing facilities. As I alluded to earlier,

         20  these are old, dirty clunkers that need to be

         21  modernized, and that's why it should always be the

         22  next step, because it's going to decrease the

         23  emissions, while substantially increasing the amount

         24  of electricity provided to the grid.

         25                 One example of a really -- of an
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          2  interesting repowering project is just South of

          3  Albany in a place called "Bethlehem," and it's an

          4  old oil plant which was approved through the siting

          5  process to build, actually they're building another

          6  power plant right next door on the same property,

          7  because they have service contracts, they're not

          8  allowed to stop the production of electricity while

          9  they're building this new power plant. But when they

         10  build this new power plant, they're literally

         11  knocking the old one down, so there's no chance of

         12  it starting back up again.

         13                 In that project, there will be a 98

         14  percent decrease in air emissions, a 99 percent

         15  decrease in the water intake they're using, and it's

         16  going from a 400 megawatt facility to a 720 megawatt

         17  facility, so substantial increases in power as well.

         18  It's, you know, obviously a win/win, it's something

         19  the community very much wanted, and that's -- if

         20  folks are concerned or if providers are concerned

         21  with making sure they have electricity to keep

         22  providing to the grid, that's one way that it could

         23  be done, because that's one of the ways it's being

         24  done upstate.

         25                 Sort of lastly, and specifically, on
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          2  Intro. 158. I think obviously it's a very good

          3  thing. One of the reasons why New York State and New

          4  York City is in the state that it's in is because

          5  Governor Pataki eliminated the Office of Energy.

          6  That was one of the first things he did upon coming

          7  into the office. Actually one of the things he

          8  campaigned on in 1992, because he thought it was

          9  wasteful.

         10                 I think we've seen some of the

         11  detrimental impacts when you don't do proper

         12  planning, so, obviously having a planning office is

         13  good. I think putting it under DEP, it does change

         14  its emphasis, it makes it look at things very

         15  differently, and given the fact that power plants

         16  are a major source of air pollution, it makes a lot

         17  of sense that we would want to decrease the air

         18  pollution.

         19                 I think there are a couple of

         20  specifics I would like to try and see included in

         21  this office, one of which is updating energy

         22  standards for buildings in the City. Another is

         23  doing different incentive programs with appliances.

         24  Particularly for landlords I think that's a unique

         25  problem for New York City, because, you know, often
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          2  the tenant does not own the refrigerator which is

          3  the largest consumer of electricity, it's the

          4  landlord, and I think there are a number of other

          5  programs like that. But I think that when moving

          6  forward with energy efficiency programs, it should

          7  largely be done in the context of how can we help

          8  consumers, how can we help ratepayers lower their

          9  bills in New York State? I think that would be a

         10  great added bonus.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: And these items

         12  are all in your statement, correct?

         13                 MR. BABBIE: Yes. And with that, I'll

         14  turn it over.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay, thank you

         16  very much.

         17                 Mr. Perlmutter, right?

         18                 MR. PERLMUTTER: Yes, sir.

         19                 Good afternoon, Mr. Chairman.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Good afternoon.

         21                 MR. PERLMUTTER: Mr. Chairman, my name

         22  is Adam Perlmutter.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: You come highly

         24  recommended by Council Member Yassky.

         25                 MR. PERLMUTTER: Thank you. He's a
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          2  good man.

          3                 My name is Adam Perlmutter, I'm a

          4  resident of Greenpoint, Brooklyn. I'm a member of

          5  Brooklyn Community Board 1, and I'm also on the

          6  board of Greenpoint Water Association for Parks and

          7  Planning.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: So, you and

          9  David have got lots to talk about, huh?

         10                 MR. PERLMUTTER: We have lots to talk

         11  about.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay.

         13                 MR. PERLMUTTER: The Greenpoint

         14  Waterfront Association is a not-for-profit

         15  corporation representing over 41 religious

         16  institutions, community organizations and advocacy

         17  groups dedicated to revitalizations in North

         18  Brooklyn Waterfront.

         19                 I want to thank you for the

         20  opportunity to speak this afternoon on the issue of

         21  New York City energy policy, a topic of obviously

         22  vital concern to both long-term planning and

         23  economic development of New York City.

         24                 As we sit here today, New York is at

         25  a crossroads in energy policy. While we currently

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            199

          1  COMMITTEE ON ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

          2  have enough generating capacity to meet current

          3  demand, forecasts by the New York Independent

          4  Service Operator and the New York Building Congress,

          5  even after 9/11, estimate that we will need an

          6  additional 2,000 to 3,000 new megawatts of

          7  generating capacity over the next five years to

          8  ensure price stability, supply stability and meet

          9  the goal of making New York City the most efficient,

         10  competitive market in the United States, a goal that

         11  we should all certainly strive to achieve if we are

         12  to ensure that New York City remains economically

         13  competitive, especially after 9/11.

         14                 With that said, we need to decide,

         15  however, how to get from point A, today, to point B

         16  in the future.

         17                 How do we go from an

         18  energy-generating infrastructure that is on the

         19  average 20 years old, to modern, new, efficient

         20  clean plants? And how do we go through this process

         21  without jeopardizing other important opportunities

         22  that will also foster positive growth and economic

         23  development for New York City, especially as we look

         24  to build new generating capacity?

         25                 The contrast of these two questions

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            200

          1  COMMITTEE ON ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

          2  is probably no more clearly seen than in my

          3  community in Greenpoint, Brooklyn.

          4                 Greenpoint, and its neighbor to the

          5  south, Williamsburg, sit on the scenic section of

          6  the East River, across from the Manhattan skyline.

          7                 After a half century of declining the

          8  maritime-based industry, the area has been

          9  undergoing a truly exciting waterfront

         10  revitalization. That process has included the

         11  passage of our award winning 197-a plans by this

         12  Council this past January, Governor Pataki securing

         13  funds to convert the former Eastern District

         14  Terminal into a waterfront park in connection with

         15  New York University, the commitment of additional

         16  funds by the Governor, EDC and the City to purchase

         17  more waterfront open space, and to develop an

         18  esplanade and pocket parks, and plans by the Olympic

         19  Organizing Committee to use our waterfront for two

         20  competition venues in 2012.

         21                 Add to the mix that several

         22  residential developers are poised to commit massive

         23  resources to construct residential open space,

         24  included much needed affordable housing, and you

         25  have what I believe to be the most exciting emerging
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          2  waterfront community in New York City.

          3                 But life isn't all that beautiful in

          4  Greenpoint, Williamsburg. There are areas also being

          5  eyed by a company called Transgas Energy Systems,

          6  which warrants to construct an 1,100 megawatt power

          7  plant with 328 foot smoke stacks in the middle of

          8  all of these waterfront projects.

          9                 In short, we are presented with two

         10  competing visions of the waterfront for our area

         11  with New York City energy policy swinging in the

         12  balance.

         13                 On the one hand, we have a vision

         14  that promises to make our area a jewel for Olympic

         15  competition, and provide economic opportunity, jobs,

         16  desperately-needed housing and magnificent open

         17  space.

         18                 On the other hand, a powerplant built

         19  in the name of expediency that will foreclose the

         20  possibility of a public quality waterfront, and may

         21  jeopardize our ability to become host in 2012 to the

         22  Olympic games as we lose two more venues to build a

         23  power plant.

         24                 And I raise that point because last

         25  year the New York Power Authority constructed a
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          2  facility in Long Island City which happened to be

          3  directly on the site of one of the venues that was

          4  being proposed by the Olympic Organizing Committee

          5  for indoor volleyball and other competition.

          6                 These are very serious questions and

          7  very serious choices, and the central question is,

          8  how does the City balance its need for new energy

          9  with its desire to create real viable and

         10  sustainable economic development, including the much

         11  needed revitalization of our waterfront areas.

         12                 That's the central question, so what

         13  I'm here to tell you is that there are real answers

         14  today to meet those two competing interests, but in

         15  order to understand those answers, I think it's

         16  important that we get past the hype of energy

         17  planning.

         18                 What's the hype? The hype is that New

         19  York City is currently experiencing a crisis in

         20  approving new power plants. That simply isn't the

         21  case. Indeed, one need only look at the Article 10

         22  process, which is much maligned and fairly so, as

         23  well as the NYPA mini plants and other approved

         24  facilities, to see that we currently have 1,969

         25  megawatts of new power that has either been
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          2  installed already, and when I refer to that, to the

          3  NYPA facilities, which are 440 megawatts, or have

          4  been certified and can be constructed today as of

          5  right if the market will finance these projects.

          6                 That's 1,969 megawatts that we can do

          7  today, but the market won't finance them.

          8                 In addition, we also have an

          9  additional 1,062 megawatts in the Article 10 queue

         10  alone for New York City with filed applications that

         11  are likely to be approved in the relatively near

         12  future.

         13                 So, while people have been crying

         14  that the sky is falling because we need to build

         15  more power plants, it is important to take a step

         16  back, look at the numbers and understand that there

         17  is more than enough new energy projects that have

         18  been approved or on the verge of being approved to

         19  the state process, even without the Transgas project

         20  that I referred to to meet both the ISO and the

         21  Building Congress goal of adding 3,000 new megawatts

         22  to make us the most competitive and efficient energy

         23  market in the country.

         24                 That said, last Sunday's fire --

         25  Saturday's fire does shed light on very serious
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          2  energy problems that we need to address and address

          3  immediately, or we will have a crisis that all the

          4  new power plant construction in the world will not

          5  solve. And that's why the bill that you're proposing

          6  is so important.

          7                 And what I want to say to you is

          8  that, we need to put it in a context. And the

          9  context is that there are basically three Rs to

         10  energy planning in New York City. In the three Rs,

         11  like we have for education, in energy planning are:

         12  reduce, rebuild and repower.

         13                 And I would encourage any bill that

         14  goes froward from this Council to focus on those

         15  issues and to focus the City's attention on those

         16  issues. Because one of the things, while Mr. Miller

         17  does a fantastic job, it's important to understand

         18  that he works for EDC, which is not technically part

         19  of the City's government. It's a quasi government,

         20  not-for-profit corporation. And the City really does

         21  not have anybody at the helm of energy policy within

         22  the City technically. We have Mr. Miller. And it's

         23  very important, if we're going to be serious about

         24  energy planning, to have that done.

         25                 Let me just briefly say, reduction,
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          2  reduce, that's conservation. And I have to say that

          3  I was very shocked this morning to read in the New

          4  York Times that Con Edison is telling people they

          5  need to conserve energy in the immediate time frame

          6  because of what happened on 14th Street. The message

          7  that that sends is reduce, you know, conserve this

          8  week, but next week you don't have to conserve

          9  anymore. That's the wrong message for Con Ed to be

         10  sending.

         11                 In addition, there are many things

         12  that you've heard about today that are great ideas

         13  for reducing the amount of demand, and we really

         14  have to get serious about them.

         15                 One simple idea was suggested by

         16  Council Member Yassky, which is that all of the

         17  office buildings in New York City should use motion

         18  detectors in their stairwells for their lights.

         19                 Today, thousands upon thousands upon

         20  thousands of lights burn 24 hours a day at peak

         21  times and at off-peak times, and they're just always

         22  on. There's no reason why those buildings can't be

         23  converted over to motion detectors to remove that

         24  type of use from the grid.

         25                 Rebuilding. Keep in mind, I always
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          2  think about what Bill Clinton said in 1992 about

          3  it's the economy stupid? Well, in our lives it's the

          4  transmission grid stupid. You know, every major

          5  problem that we've had with blackouts in New York

          6  City, from what happened this weekend, to the

          7  Brooklyn subways going down last week, to the

          8  Washington Heights blackout, to the great blackout

          9  of 1977, all have to do with transmission problems,

         10  not energy supply.

         11                 The transmission grid is out of date.

         12  It does not have the redundancy that we need, and we

         13  need to have the City focus on making sure that our

         14  transmission grid will meet our needs.

         15                 To add to that, and a very exciting

         16  possibility is, bringing in more transmission cables

         17  into the City.

         18                 The PSE&G program to the West Side

         19  that you heard about earlier today from New Jersey,

         20  that's 1,200 megawatts of energy. There's also a

         21  project called Project Neptune, which proposes to

         22  bring 600 megawatts down from Canada to hook into

         23  the Brooklyn Navy Yard. So, right there, in addition

         24  to all the power projects that I talked about

         25  before, we have an additional 1,800 megawatts of
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          2  energy that can come into the City.

          3                 The truth is that there is more than

          4  enough capacity, either approved or being planned

          5  for, we need the market to finance it, but we also

          6  need to be sure that we don't panic and just start

          7  willy-nilly approving power plants around the City

          8  that will impact areas that offer a viable economic

          9  future and real opportunities for the economic

         10  development of New York City, such as in my

         11  community.

         12                 Finally, the last point is to

         13  repower.

         14                 There are old facilities around this

         15  City, and the City should look first to repowering

         16  existing facilities before it moves on to increase

         17  the power plant footprint around the City.

         18                 Increasing the power plant footprint

         19  around the City adversely affects any community that

         20  those facilities go into. Those can either be

         21  communities of color, overburdened communities, or

         22  communities such as mine that offer real opportunity

         23  for economic development and growth in this City,

         24  and we need to strike a balance. And given the

         25  amount of projects that have been approved, given
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          2  the transmission projects that are on the table, any

          3  future power plant construction in this City, aside

          4  from what's already approved, or what's already

          5  filed, and completed applications being considered

          6  by the Public Service Commission or these

          7  transmission projects should only, and strictly only

          8  go to existing facilities as repowering projects.

          9                 I want to thank you very much for

         10  allowing me here today.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you. Thank

         12  you all very much. I appreciate it.

         13                 I have one question, I guess for all

         14  of you, and it has to do with the Article 10, that's

         15  been bounced around a lot today.

         16                 There are a couple of different state

         17  legislative initiatives that are bouncing around,

         18  like with regard to the amendment of Article 10; do

         19  you have any particular preference for any of the

         20  efforts that have been put forward by the State

         21  Legislators, which are the competitive visions of

         22  like a revamped Article 10 do you most support of

         23  those that are kind of like on the table? Anybody?

         24                 MS. SUCHMAN: Well, one of the bills

         25  is drafted by NYPIRG, so that of course has

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            209

          1  COMMITTEE ON ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

          2  everything in the world that you would want in

          3  Article 10. You know, whether we're going to achieve

          4  that --

          5                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Who is carrying

          6  that bill now? Did somebody introduce that?

          7                 MS. SUCHMAN: Someone in Tonko

          8  actually introduced all of the bills, with the

          9  exception of the Governor's bill, which I think was

         10  Senator Wright. But there are four major bills, and

         11  he actually put in the, he agreed to put in the

         12  independent power producers bill, which has, in our

         13  opinion, nothing good in it, but it doesn't seem to

         14  be moving anywhere so that's gratifying.

         15                 And the new bill that just was passed

         16  by the Assembly, that Chairman Tonko directly

         17  drafted, has a lot -- it addresses a lot of the

         18  issues that we're concerned with. It obviously is

         19  not perfect, but it does address issues of

         20  Environmental Justice cumulative impact PM 2.5, it

         21  does increase intervenor funds.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Powering, subway

         23  repowering, does it do that?

         24                 MS. SUCHMAN: Yes, it does include

         25  repowering, and I think it's actually going -- the
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          2  Governor's bill included an attempt at repowering as

          3  well, which was surprising to us that the Governor

          4  did try to give some attention to repowering, except

          5  that the drafting itself was not good enough. I

          6  mean, it actually made some mistakes. I think that

          7  people are trying to work on that.

          8                 MR. PERLMUTTER: I think it's

          9  important to keep in mind that while Article 10 has

         10  very serious flaws, and it does -- I've been working

         11  with Article 10 now for over two years. It's a

         12  statute that intentionally cuts communities out of

         13  the planning process, it's one that tries to take

         14  away the ability to have legal representation, it's

         15  one that tries to ignore issues of environmental

         16  justice and environmental justice analysis. The

         17  powers that be have been fighting tooth and nail to

         18  not have any PM 2.5 emission analysis. But I think

         19  that the problem that we have, aside from Article

         20  10, is, in fact, much larger than Article 10.

         21                 We went into deregulation, thinking

         22  that if we sited many power plants in and around

         23  this state, that the market would follow, and we

         24  would have a new fleet of power plants. The problem

         25  is that having gone through this flawed Article 10
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          2  process, and having approved many plants that I just

          3  spoke about, the market is not following. The

          4  financing is not coming.

          5                 So, we have plants out there that can

          6  be built, but they're not being built, and that is

          7  the problem for New York City and for New York

          8  State.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Yes.

         10                 MR. BABBIE: Of course we're partial

         11  to the bill we've drafted.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: I bet.

         13                 MR. BABBIE: However, I just wanted to

         14  say, like in that drafting process, NYPIRG worked

         15  with New York Lawyers for the Public Interest and a

         16  number of different community groups throughout New

         17  York City and New York State, to see what obstacles

         18  they had, and how to best overcome it. I think a lot

         19  of the process things were picked up and with the

         20  Assembly has since passed 11755, and it does a lot

         21  to improve the process. The one thing that it didn't

         22  include in that bill, but it has as part of a

         23  process, which is emissions controls for existing

         24  power plants, and, you know, we'd like to see

         25  something as close to 11755 as possible.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Great. Great.

          3                 Well, thank you all very much. I

          4  appreciate it. Thank you.

          5                 And, okay, Michael Bobker and Rhona

          6  Saffer, Richard Baer, and it looks like William

          7  Zoha. You'll have to forgive me, I need a 45-second

          8  break and I'll be right back. I just have to see

          9  somebody outside. I'll be right back.

         10                 (Recess taken.)

         11                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay, Donna is

         12  not here, I'm not an attorney but you get the final

         13  panel witness Oath exemption. That's it. I trust you

         14  implicitly.

         15                 Thank you very much for being here,

         16  and in whatever order you wish to proceed. Are you

         17  together? Do you represent different entities?

         18  Please speak directly into the microphone.

         19                 In order for the microphone to be on,

         20  the light has to be off.

         21                 MS. SAFFER: Okay, it's on.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Speak right into

         23  it so I can hear you.

         24                 MS. SAFFER: Okay. Thank you, Mr.

         25  Chair.
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          2                 My name is Rhona Saffer, and I'm with

          3  the Association for Energy Affordability.

          4                 On behalf of our community-based

          5  Board of Directors, and our Executive Director David

          6  Hepanstal, who is regretfully out of town, we

          7  applaud you for holding these hearings --

          8                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you.

          9                 MS. SAFFER:-- On energy policy in our

         10  city. It's most timely.

         11                 We hope that productive actions will

         12  come out of these discussions and offer our support

         13  towards this end.

         14                 By way of background, AEA is a

         15  not-for-profit energy services provider that

         16  supports and develops energy efficiency and energy

         17  management in lower communities throughout New York

         18  City.

         19                 We're able to speak from extensive

         20  firsthand knowledge of how energy efficiency in

         21  conservation programs have been and can be

         22  implemented for and with the City's neediest

         23  populations.

         24                 AEA works with a network of 20

         25  community-based agencies that implement federally
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          2  funded weatherization programs under the New York

          3  State Division of Housing and Community Renewal

          4  Auspices. Some 10,000 homes and apartments receive

          5  services annually in the Downstate area from this

          6  program.

          7                 AEA has special technical expertise

          8  and national recognition in multifamily building

          9  operations and energy retrofitting. AEA has

         10  participated in numerous energy policy forums,

         11  including at the state level representing low-income

         12  in PSC energy deregulation proceedings, the SPC

         13  Advisory Committee and the ISO Advisory Committee.

         14                 Technical and policy knowledge is

         15  used for training and education of community-based

         16  leaders and program operators, and a training

         17  program is presently being developed in the South

         18  Bronx.

         19                 Through program design,

         20  implementation and management, AEA has detailed

         21  working knowledge of state energy programs, utility

         22  low-income programs, and past City energy and water

         23  conservation programs. AEA is an active local

         24  partner of NYSERDA.

         25                 Regarding creating a New York City
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          2  office for energy policy. For more than a decade,

          3  New York City has not had such an office, and

          4  therefore has lacked a mechanism for articulating

          5  policy on this subject. The City has been

          6  represented in policy arenas on a more or less ad

          7  hoc basis, and no one has had the mandate to assess

          8  and address issues comprehensively or

          9  authoritatively on behalf of the City.

         10                 In the current environment, this is

         11  an undesirable situation.

         12                 As we will argue in addressing the

         13  Council's second question, meeting the City's energy

         14  requirement is indeed becoming a critical and thorny

         15  issue.

         16                 The City needs to be able to

         17  articulate a vision and implement policies that will

         18  protect our population from undue energy shocks.

         19                 Since energy is quite inelastic in

         20  the short run, the poor, those on fixed incomes and

         21  the working class are disproportionately burdened by

         22  rising energy costs. The same population, however,

         23  also bears disproportionate environmental and health

         24  burdens in the location of power plants. New York

         25  City, therefore, needs a strong policy voice that
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          2  will obtain the maximum amount of cost effective

          3  efficiency resources, and will supply the balance of

          4  our needs in ways that are environmentally just.

          5                 Consistent with the draft

          6  legislation, we seek the proposed office as having

          7  an important advocacy role to make sure that such

          8  appropriate energy development happens:

          9                 - ensuring the full benefits and fair

         10  share of current system benefit charge funds are

         11  allocated from all New York State ratepayers under

         12  the auspices of the New York State Department of

         13  Public Services and administered through programs

         14  designed by NYSERDA.

         15                 - developing the City's own education

         16  and program marketing initiatives, complimentary and

         17  in parallel with NYSERDA's public awareness programs

         18  to ensure that government, businesses, building

         19  owners and managers and residents of the City take

         20  full advantage of SBC funded and other energy

         21  efficiency and energy management opportunities.

         22                 - finding ways of making energy

         23  efficiency a cost-effective part of actions by

         24  public and private parties in all aspects of the

         25  City's operations, such as requiring New York State
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          2  Energy Code as part of New York City Code

          3  compliance, making standards, such as Energy Star

          4  appliances mandatory in publicly supported projects,

          5  which was discussed earlier, using existing programs

          6  that incentivize performance beyond code, requiring

          7  projects receiving public City support to

          8  participate in SBC programs.

          9                 - considering the varied needs and

         10  views of the multiple interested parties -

         11  communities, consumer groups, utilities, and energy

         12  service providers - so that the City can speak with

         13  a single voice on energy issues, legislation, agency

         14  procedures and regulatory matters.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you. Thank

         16  you very much.

         17                 MR. BOBKER: Mr. Chairman, you asked

         18  two questions, so we have two answers.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Oh, sure. And,

         20  again, if you could speak right into the microphone,

         21  like I'm doing, it would be better.

         22                 MR. BOBKER: Yes. My name is Michael

         23  Bobker, and I'm AEA's Director of Strategic

         24  Planning, and also the Vice President of the New

         25  York Chapter of the Association of Energy Engineers.
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          2                 I've watched cycles of energy crisis

          3  come and go for over 20 years now, since beginning

          4  my career with solar energy projects in the South

          5  Bronx in the late 1970s.

          6                 Most recently, like many of us, I've

          7  watched electricity in California, in relation to

          8  the Council's second question, one might say that

          9  California, lulled by success of the conservation

         10  strategy in the '90s, didn't build new plants and

         11  became over-reliant on private, out-of-state

         12  resources that turned out to be less than reliable.

         13                 Regarding the role of conservation,

         14  and assuring adequate electric supplies for New York

         15  City, let's look at some numbers.

         16                 As we've already heard, the New York

         17  ISO estimates 2,000 to 3,000 megawatts of additional

         18  in-city generating capacity to be required by 2005,

         19  to keep up with projected economic growth, and load

         20  growth and maintain adequate in-city reserve margins

         21  under peak load conditions.

         22                 In New York's deregulated market,

         23  once reserved margins start to deteriorate and peak

         24  demand presses up against available supply, prices

         25  soar. We were spared this experience last year by a
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          2  relatively cool summer, and even more importantly,

          3  natural gas prices that were at historic lows.

          4                 This summer may be different, and I

          5  encourage Council members to examine and track your

          6  own Con Ed bills over the next several months and

          7  then consider scenarios out several years into the

          8  future.

          9                 Conservation should be considered, as

         10  we've heard, as a source of electrical capacity

         11  equivalent, precisely equivalent to new plant

         12  construction. But what is the New York City

         13  potential for this resource? We come up with a

         14  similar answer to what other analysts have looked

         15  at.

         16                 Con Edison data for 1999 shows a peak

         17  demand of just under 12,000 megawatts, which

         18  includes Westchester, at a generally technically

         19  feasible and cost effective average savings or

         20  efficiency improvement of 25 percent on peak across

         21  25 percent of the customer base of 3 million

         22  accounts, 2.6 million of which are residential. We

         23  arrive at a reasonable rough estimate of 750

         24  megawatts possible from conservation. A little lower

         25  than the 1,000 megawatts that we've heard, but same
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          2  order of magnitude.

          3                 Conservation then should be

          4  considered necessary, but not sufficient.

          5  Distributed generation and on-site cogeneration are

          6  mechanisms that can contribute further portions.

          7                 Some existing plants will be

          8  repowered and expanded, but almost without doubt,

          9  new plants will also have to be built. At an overall

         10  average installed cost of $1,000 to $1,500 per kw,

         11  roughly 3 billion will be necessary for a mix of

         12  sources, including conservation, and create adequate

         13  electrical capacity for the future.

         14                 This does not include new gas

         15  transportation pipelines that are generally

         16  considered essential for new generation.

         17                 At present, neither the City nor, so

         18  far as we know, anyone else, has a plan to ensure

         19  that such capital is raised and deployed. Financing

         20  mechanisms are unclear, and financial markets, as

         21  we've heard about repeatedly, financial markets are

         22  not looking kindly at power sector investments.

         23                 None of the projects that have

         24  received state Title 10 siting approvals in the last

         25  six months has moved ahead towards full financing
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          2  and construction.

          3                 Such delays today will likely result

          4  in energy price shocks five years in the future.

          5                 Especially in this environment,

          6  conservation has several important features, such

          7  as:

          8                 - it's not constrained by siting,

          9  emissions and fuel supply issues.

         10                 - it allows for faster development.

         11                 - it uses smaller incremental sources

         12  of capital.

         13                 - it has an established public source

         14  of matching funds through NYSERDA's SBC programs.

         15                 - it's a natural hedge against energy

         16  price risk.

         17                 - and it has positive externalities,

         18  which is to say that under deregulation peak

         19  reductions reduce prices for all customers. Not just

         20  for the project itself.

         21                 Peak demand stresses on the electric

         22  system are often most directly related in people's

         23  minds to air conditioning loads of Midtown Manhattan

         24  businesses and commercial properties. But commercial

         25  loads are also distributed throughout the City in
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          2  numerous neighborhood business districts that are

          3  vital to the City's overall well-being.

          4                 In apartment buildings, public area

          5  energy expenses are significantly related to housing

          6  affordability and rent stability.

          7                 Poorly controlled room unit air

          8  conditioners, probably several million of them, and

          9  obsolete, energy inefficient refrigerators, add

         10  significant loads.

         11                 The peak pricing so heavily

         12  influenced by Midtown is shared across the entire

         13  City. But unlike Midtown commerce, energy costs

         14  cannot be so readily passed on in our neighborhoods.

         15  The life and vitality of outlying communities is

         16  much more adversely impacted.

         17                 The City's outlying neighborhoods are

         18  not as well financed nor as well served by

         19  professional architects and engineers, and thus are

         20  in need of special public policy attention in order

         21  to be reached for conservation action.

         22                 As we have argued, efficiency alone

         23  is unlikely to be sufficient to address the City's

         24  energy needs. There will have to be dialogue and

         25  policy about the construction of new plants.
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          2                 Because disproportionately "energy

          3  burdened" low-income communities and households will

          4  be most harmed by energy price shocks, communities

          5  and community leaders must deal seriously and

          6  realistically with the City's energy needs.

          7                 For their part, government must

          8  fairly consider issues of environmental justice and

          9  community health and epidemiology.

         10                 AEA is prepared to support this

         11  process through its network of relationships and

         12  recognition and credibility as an energy service

         13  provider in neighborhoods, with actions such as:

         14                 - outreach to and education of

         15  community leadership;

         16                 - bringing an existing network of

         17  community relationships and locally recognized

         18  leadership around housing and energy to a broad

         19  public participation process;

         20                 - creating dialogue around energy

         21  needs, siting issues and community participation;

         22                 - developing creative proposals that

         23  can make new infrastructure facilities community

         24  amenities rather than burdens.

         25                 We hope the City Council can help
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          2  move the City and all its communities together

          3  towards a stable and healthy energy future, and we

          4  thank you for the opportunity to make this

          5  statement.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you. Thank

          7  you. So, you know, God knows we're trying. We got

          8  some agencies to show up, how do you like that? No

          9  small potatoes. And it seems that one theme that has

         10  sort of run through the hearing is that this

         11  gentleman, Mr. Miller, on behalf of EDC, people seem

         12  to think he's competent and he's doing a good job,

         13  he's trying, I guess that's your sense as well. I

         14  just think that this whole effort has got to be

         15  bigger than him, so-to-speak. And, you know, it

         16  needs to have, I guess, a focus beyond that which he

         17  and his immediate circle would put on it, getting

         18  into the issues of no justice and so on and

         19  whatever, which other people have sort of brought

         20  out, which is why we want to see if we can, you

         21  know, create something here that could be a

         22  springboard for all of the things that we want.

         23                 I just lost my train of thought for a

         24  second there, but --

         25                 MS. SAFFER: I think that one of the
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          2  points that --

          3                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: I was going to

          4  follow up with something, but go ahead. Go ahead.

          5                 MS. SAFFER: Well, just picking up on

          6  what you were saying now, it's our position that

          7  while he's done an admirable job, he's still not

          8  able to speak in a unified voice for the City, and

          9  our sense of having a State energy office is that

         10  will bring the coordination --

         11                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: City energy

         12  office you mean, right?

         13                 MS. SAFFER: City energy office, I'm

         14  sorry. That will bring the coordination that's

         15  needed to really have one authoritative voice,

         16  rather than someone who can't speak for the City.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Right. And also

         18  is sort of, you know, somewhat outside the, you

         19  know, tent of City government to begin with, which

         20  is really what EDC is sort of half in, half outside

         21  the tent. And there was another point I was going to

         22  ask you folks.

         23                 With regard to Article 10, I guess

         24  you feel as we do, that Article 10 does not serve

         25  well local communities or the City at large, do you

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            226

          1  COMMITTEE ON ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

          2  agree with the previous panel on bills that are out

          3  there on Article 10 and Article 10's need to be

          4  revamped substantively?

          5                 MR. BOBKER: It certainly appears that

          6  regardless what we think, Article 10 will be

          7  modified in some way. Our concern is that there be a

          8  public participation process. Whatever the governing

          9  legislation, we want to support the development of

         10  that participation process.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Certainly. And

         12  we want you part of that process, as well.

         13                 Now, do we have all of your

         14  information so that we can keep regular contact with

         15  you? Also, do you have a copy of your statement that

         16  we could have?

         17                 MS. SAFFER: Yes.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay, we have it

         19  here? Oh, we do. Okay.

         20                 It's right here. If it was a snake,

         21  I'd be dead right now.

         22                 MS. SAFFER: Donna represented your

         23  office at the Low-Income Forum on Energy that we

         24  organized a few months ago.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Oh, I see. Okay,
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          2  terrific. So, we've got all the lines of

          3  communication. So, no problem with those lines,

          4  right? Those lines are okay.

          5                 Oh, yes, and for the record, for the

          6  record now, the Committee did receive testimony from

          7  NYSERDA, and from the American Lung Association, the

          8  East River Environmental Coalition, and the New York

          9  State Department of Public Service, I guess, as well

         10  as DEP, but I think we mentioned that earlier, New

         11  York City DEP.

         12                 So, thank you all very much, I

         13  appreciate it. I look forward to an ongoing

         14  cooperative relationship with you folks.

         15                 And that being said, and no one else

         16  wishes to be heard, the meeting is adjourned.

         17                 (Hearing concluded at 5:20 p.m.)

         18                 (The following written testimony was

         19  read into the record.)

         20

         21  Written Testimony Of:

         22  Christopher O. Ward

         23  Commissioner

         24  NYC Department of Environmental Protection

         25
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          2  Hon. James Gennaro

          3  Chair

          4  Committee on Environmental Protection

          5  The Council of the City of New York

          6  New York, NY 10007

          7  By fax

          8

          9  Dear Chairman Gennaro:

         10

         11                 I am writing to convey my comments on

         12  Intro. 158, scheduled for a hearing before the

         13  Committee on Environmental Protection on July 23,

         14  2002. Energy policy is a very important matter for

         15  New York City and Intro. 158 offers one possible

         16  model for creating and carrying out energy policy

         17  for New York City. I appreciate Speaker Miller's

         18  interest in this issue and commend Speaker Miller

         19  and you for initiating a dialogue on energy policy

         20  at the municipal level.

         21                 Intro. 158 amends section 1403 of the

         22  New York City Charter. That section establishes DEP

         23  and sets forth its responsibilities and the powers

         24  and duties of its commissioner.

         25                 In 1990, section 1403 was amended to
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          2  add subdivision (g), which created new

          3  responsibilities for the DEP commissioner in the

          4  area of energy policy.

          5                 At approximately the same time, an

          6  amendment to the Charter also created a new mayoral

          7  agency, the Department of Energy and

          8  Telecommunications, which also had policy-making

          9  responsibilities in the area of energy.

         10                 As a result of subsequent Charter

         11  amendments, the Department of Telecommunications and

         12  Energy (DTE) ceased to exist. Its responsibilities

         13  were assigned to the Department of Information

         14  Technology and Telecommunications, with one

         15  pertinent exception. DET's role in the area of

         16  energy policy was assigned to the Economic

         17  Development Corporation.

         18                 Intro. 158 amends subdivision (g) to

         19  greatly expand DEP's role in energy policy by

         20  mandating the establishment of an energy policy

         21  office. Prominent among the responsibilities of that

         22  office is creating an energy policy for New York

         23  City that will lead to a 25 percent reduction in

         24  consumption by 2006, using 2002 as a baseline.

         25                 One problem with consolidating energy
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          2  policy making within a single agency is that other

          3  agencies, such as the EDC and the Department of

          4  Citywide Administrative Services, among others, play

          5  a very substantial role in the City's decisions on

          6  issues relating to meeting our energy needs.

          7                 In amending the Charter to assign

          8  energy policy to a single agency, Intro. 158

          9  provides no explicit recognition or role for the

         10  other municipal agencies that should be involved in

         11  energy policy.

         12                 DEP looks forward to working with the

         13  Mayor's Office to formulate a comprehensive energy

         14  plan that will address the City's need with respect

         15  to energy policy.

         16                 I am confident that this policy will

         17  be successful in addressing the City's response to

         18  various energy infrastructure proposals, and to the

         19  challenges of improving energy efficiency and

         20  preserving competitive energy prices.

         21                 Very truly yours, Christopher Ward.

         22                 (Hearing concluded at 5:20 p.m.)

         23

         24

         25

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            231

          1

          2              CERTIFICATION

          3

          4

          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8
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